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GLADSTONE COMMERCIAL

Who We AreS
We are public real estate investment company traded on NASDAQ Our

cornrnoii stock tiades under the mbol GoOD Our two classes of preerred

stock ftadc under the symbols GOODP and G0000 respectiveh

/\rc py monthly chstributions to our stockholders

What We Io
As real estate irivectmeut trust or REfI we seek to invest in and own net-

leased industrial and comniercia real estate property and to selectively make

long-teirn industi and commercial mortgage loans As of December 31

2010 we owned 65 ploperties totaling approximately 6.8 million square feet

located in 21 states These properties consist primarily of office waiehouse

industrial commercial medical and manutactu ing facilitiec

Our principal in\ estnient objectives are to generate cash from rents and interest

pa nicnts so that we can make monthly distributions to our stockholdets

Our primary strategy to achieve our investment objectives is to invest in and

own diversitied portfolio of leased industrial and commercial real estate

that we beliese \\ill produce stable cash payments to us and increase in value

ovei time We expect to sell some 01 our real estate assets from time to time

when we deterrnite that doing so would be advantageous We also expect to

occasionally make mortgage loans secured by income-producing Lommercial

or industrial real ostate hich may have some form of equity participation

Oul Adviser
We are managed by Gladstone Management Corporation our Adviser whose

principal office is located at 1521 Westbranch Drive McLean Virginia 22102

suburb of\\ashngton TC Our Ad iser also has oftices in New York New

York chicago Illinois Dallas Texas and Atlanta Georgia

PICTI KLO tHF COVER

Tiw United Statec Capitol Plwtogrnpliel by knizth/ Sanks



11 II IL 01 II

lot ii

ft
OftL

Ill 70 IL

Itlo Lii LI

Iii 01110 rOlL Ii ii ol ii

ILO od
041

ition

021 ti 61 il LIL ILd tok

11 Ii hot LU Ii Ii
iLk

\Lt LI 11 oil to ciii LII dci

34ft

4L1

ft fl71
h91 4ft

74 _104

411 IPP 1124

ft lli2iIi

II tLL 4L LI 11011 IlL

Ii 1111 01 ill OpLd ol do dt

it 11
II

IL III ft

IL Id
140

III

IL 11101 IL

Ii Ii di d1 11

ft 4oft II It

_i 41

ft 101 ir II LI

IlL
ft

IL dii Iii Ii

Ii Ii Pod1 10

111 IL IlL OiL OL 10 11 ILl

ftc IL 6LIO 0iIItI LL

Ii

1101 OIl II II 01 IL

III

lo toLl IL III Ii

Ii
it LI_i

ft 67114 li 11
ft _ift 1o4

ft P4 it II ft 111_il

41

ft 4114

i2114H

ftI

IIiOH

111 ft ft

41111 04 1fti ftL ft

ift li ii 41

HIll Ii dO oft

11 OIPOI 11

ft iti0

hI
68 46

oPt 11
ft 16 ft II 11 111 lift

.1 Li 11 II 111 oh LI ill

011 IL LII iIiL 1Iit 11 iit iii LI

di Iii LU LI III 11

Lc ii ii it 11 ot IL It

14

ft ill

ft

I4

IL

4H ft

ft

4410

ui1

111 olO111 pi\4\4I RIP II



This ea.r was year ot change We transitioned. from dc.fe.n.ding our porttol.io tro.m the reces

s.ioit.o sc.eki.ng new acquisit.io.ns We arct pic.ased wi.th our overal.l results t.his year a.nd. see

much be tter future Wi were able to wec.ther the recession m.d have postio.ned ourse.lves .for

During the rst half or the ear we were on hold and in

ne second half of the near we saw improvements in the

arketp.ace aswe closed n.ew $50 i.ion hoe of credit

raised common equits and made an acquisition for the first

time in over two ears rse continued to tocus on maintain-

ing ou.r portfoho and \.vrrklng witn our existn.sg te.nants to

extend the few leases that are scheduled to mature in 2012

V\7e have no iea.ses mc.tu
rin.g

in 2ftl /..t year ind li of on

existIng ten nts continued to pay agreed and our porO

folio was 97% leased We are e.xci ted ahout the fri tore mcl

believe 21111 will he an active year for us

Our 20.11 Funds from Operatiniss or FF0 was approx-

matel $14 million or $1.04 per share which was .1%

increase over the prior near Our results reflect additional

nc.om.e of $3.3 nsil lion which we received in con nection

ivith the early repayment in Jul of our only mortgage loan

asset partially offset hy the write off of $1.0 is
ill ion in fees

related to the lermnation of oi.ir private otfering ot unreg

istered senior com mon trck and the lost renta reve ne

from two tena nts who vacated their properoes clu
ring

the

year We also saw an increase our property operating

expenses
due to these vacant properties and in our due dii-

igence expenses as we were required under new account-

ing guidance to expense costs related to is acquisition of

new property in December 2011 rather than capitalize

these costs as we had in years past

Onir ahilit to continue to grow our porttolio remains

highly dependent on obtaining Iriw- cost mortgages for any

isers propertiel we
accl

iii re The market for long- term rnort

gages has been limited as the collateralized mortgage

hacked securities or CMOS market continnies to he very

limited With the dec inc of the CMOS m.arke ma.nv banks

are not lending on industrial and cons mercial real estate

as they are ni.s longer able to sell these loans to the CMOS

market and are not rvilling or able to hold these loans In

addition nui ny banks Is ave sign fica.ntiy cu.rta ded th.ei

general lending practices as the are having difficultv

valuing the underlying real estate in tlsis market We sre

however hegiisisiisg to see banks and other lenders tlsat

are willing to issue mortgages with terms up to ten years

albeit isn less favorable terms than were previously avail

able Consequently we plan to tocus on nishsg tlsese mort

gages to finance our real estate activities nustil the CMOS

nsarket returns

Ilse property we acqni red is December 2111 lvii

.187121 squaw foot office/industrial hnnidnsg located ms

Oi son Cit Ion puinls wd hr
piispni Is tor sppiox

match $12.3 nsillion including related acquisition expensea

and fu isded it th rougls comhi is tion of borrow isgs frisiss

our line of credit aiscl tlse assnnssptiois of approxiissatelv

11.8 iss ill mis of issortgage debt isis tlse property

Oi.ir csnsissois stock
Isrille

rebouisded sigisificantln during

tis wond Is lt or 2010 ihinh illownd is In is qnnt\

TO OUR STCCK 101 DERS
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Te curre.ntiy own three types of commc.rciai

ai.ci industrial rea.i esta.te

Real estate leased to te outs

nit/i small and nudiuni sized

unruled bncirussec as ne/l

as laTher salad businesses in

saute instances thur tarpet

market cain pan
ies are nom

maih tao small to have

ratings snnilar ta laper

public companies

Real estate ace Ii pied in1

conipanies con trailed bp

buiout fin ic/s Wi are veip

Idnuliar with the lane raged

hnyant business and are

coin fortable owu
ig

these

real estate pm pert ies

occupied by site/i tenon ts

Real estate purchased from

and leased back to businesses

that are seeking to raise

capital 110 in the sale of their

real estate so that theui can

invest the proceeds of flit

stile of their real estate into

their busn iess

PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT COMPARlSON
The totowing qraph shows the total stockholder return Ofl an investment of $tOO in cash on December 3t 2005 for our

common stock the Standard arid Poors 500 Index the SR 000 and the N/SPElT Compobte Index the NAREIT

Index At values assume reinvestment of the fut amount of at disthhutions

Comparison Cumulative Total Return on Investment

in dojnys

01 61 ii in

y15

SR 5010 IS II

ill nI

nnIli Sunn 11111 IiOnIi5I I1I0
ii ii hi HI inn in

0tH II Ii

175

p.4 // CILADSTONi



c/

4m
rIuwiit4ç t\
rcpv

41

42
iIi

/4j

41

4Ii
44

14114 44
4U4411111111

1IIptp
$L

i41

Ar

irn1ap

$1

JL gç
141i

iuqer



IIYZI

Section

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION MA
WASHINGTON D.C 20549

FORM 10-K
Washington DC

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 FOR

THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010

OR
TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

COMMISSION FILE NUMBER 001-33097

GLADSTONE COMMERCIAL CORPORATION
Exact name of registrant as specfied in its charter

MARYLAND 02-0681276

State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization I.R.S Employer Iden4fIcation No
1521 WESTBRANCH DRIVE SUITE 200

MCLEAN VIRGINIA 22102

Address of principal executive office

703 287-5800

Registrants telephone number including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12b of the Act

Title of Each Class Name of exchange on which registered

Common Stock par value $0.00 per share NASDAQ Global Select Market

7.75% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock par value $0.00 per share NASDAQ Global Select Market

7.50% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock par value $0.00 per share NASDAQ Global Select Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12g of the Act None

Indicate by check if the registrant is well-known seasoned issuer as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act Yes Noll

Indicate by check if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15d of the Act Yes Noll

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant
has filed all

reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15d of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports

and has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days Yes ll NoD

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically
and posted on its corporate Web site if any every

Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T 232.405 of this chapter during

the preceding 12 months or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files Yes NoD

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein and will not

be contained to the best of registrants knowledge in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III

of this 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant
is large accelerated filer an accelerated filer non-accelerated filer or smaller

reporting company See the definitions of large accelerated filer accelerated filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2

of the Exchange Act Check one

Large Accelerated Filer Accelerated Filer Non-Accelerated Filer Smaller Reporting Company

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant
is shell company as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act Yes No IEI

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant on June 30 2010 based on the closing price on

that date of $16.34 on the NASDAQ Global Select Market was $130865524 For the purposes of calculating this amount only all

directors and executive officers of the registrant
have been deemed to be affiliates

The number of shares of the registrants Common Stock $0001 par value outstanding as of March 82011 was 9571379

Documents Incorporated by Reference Portions of the registrants Proxy Statement relating to the Registrants 2011 Annual Meeting

of Stockholders are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
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Forward-Looking Statements

Our disclosure and analysis in this Annual Report on Form 10-K or Form 10-K and the documents that are

incorporated by reference herein contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A

of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or Securities Act and Section 1E of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 as amended or Exchange Act Forward-looking statements provide our current expectations

or forecasts of future events and are not statements of historical fact These forward-looking statements

include information about possible or assumed future events including among other things discussion and

analysis of our future financial condition results of operations and funds from operations or FF0 our

strategic plans and objectives cost management occupancy and leasing rates and trends liquidity and

ability to refinance our indebtedness as it matures anticipated capital expenditures and access to capital

required to complete projects amounts of anticipated cash distributions to our stockholders in the future

and other matters Words such as anticipates expects intends plans believes seeks
estimates and variations of these words and similarexpressions are intended to identify forward-looking

statements These statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks uncertainties

and other factors some of which are beyond our control are difficult to predict and could cause actual

results to differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking statements

Statements regarding the following subjects among others are forward-looking by their nature

our business and financing strategy

our ability to implement our business plan

pending transactions

our projected operating results

our ability to obtain future financing arrangements

estimates relating to our future distributions

our understanding of our competition and our ability to compete effectively

market and industry trends

interest and insurance rates

estimates of our future operating expenses including payments to our Adviser as defined

herein under the terms of our Advisory Agreement as defined herein

projected capital expenditures and

use of the proceeds of our New Line of Credit as defined herein mortgage notes payable

and other future capital resources if any

Forward-looking statements involve inherent uncertainty and may ultimately prove to be incorrect or false

You are cautioned to not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements Except as otherwise may be

required by law we undertake no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect

changed assumptions the occurrence of unanticipated events or actual operating results Our actual results

could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as result of various

factors including but not limited to

the loss of any of our key employees such as Mr David Gladstone our Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer Mr Terry Lee Brubaker our Vice Chairman and Chief Operating Officer

or Mr George Stelljes III our President and Chief Investment Officer



general volatility of the capital markets and the market price of our common and preferred

stock

risks associated with negotiation and consummation of pending and future transactions

changes in our business strategy

the adequacy of our cash reserves and working capital

our failure to successfully integrate and operate acquired properties and operations

defaults upon or non-renewal of leases by tenants

decreased rental rates or increased vacancy rates

the degree and nature of our competition

availability terms and deployment of capital including the ability to maintain and borrow

under our New Line of Credit arrange
for long-term mortgages on our properties secure one

or more additional long-term lines of credit and raise equity capital

our ability to identif hire and retain highly-qualified personnel in the future

changes in our industry or the general economy

changes in real estate and zoning laws and increases in real property tax rates

changes in governmental regulations tax rates and similarmatters and

environmental uncertainties and risks related to natural disasters

This list of risks and uncertainties however is only summary of some of the most important factors to us

and is not intended to be exhaustive You should carefully review the risks set forth herein under the

caption Item 1A Risk Factors New factors may also emerge from time to time that could materially

and adversely affect us

Item Business

Overview

Gladstone Commercial Corporation which we refer to as we us or the Company is real estate

investment trust or REIT that was incorporated under the General Corporation Laws of the State of

Maryland on February 14 2003 primarily for the purpose of investing in and owning net leased industrial

and commercial real property and selectively making long-term industrial and commercial mortgage loans

Most of our portfolio of real estate we currently own is leased to wide cross section of tenants ranging

from small businesses to large public companies many of which are corporations that do not have publicly

rated debt We have in the past entered into and intend in the future to enter into purchase agreements for

real estate having triple net leases with terms of approximately 10 to 15 years and built in rental increases

Under triple net lease the tenant is required to pay all operating maintenance and insurance costs and

real estate taxes with respect to the leased property We currently own total of 65 properties

We conduct substantially all of our activities including the ownership of all of our properties through

Gladstone Commercial Limited Partnership Delaware limited partnership which we refer to as our

Operating Partnership We control our Operating Partnership through our ownership of GCLP Business

Trust II Massachusetts business trust which is the general partner of our Operating Partnership and of



GCLP Business Trust Massachusetts business trust which currently holds all of the limited partnership

units of our Operating Partnership We expect that our Operating Partnership may issue limited partnership

units from time to time in exchange for industrial and commercial real property Limited partners who hold

limited partnership units in our Operating Partnership will be entitled to redeem these units for cash or at

our election shares of our common stock on one-for-one basis at any time

Our Operating Partnership is also the sole member of Gladstone Commercial Lending LLC which we

refer to as Gladstone Commercial Lending Gladstone Commercial Lending is Delaware limited liability

company that was formed to hold all of our real estate mortgage loans

Our Investment Objectives and Our Strategy

Our principal investment objectives are to generate income from rental properties and to much lesser

extent mortgage loans which we use to fund our continuing operations and to pay out monthly cash

distributions to our stockholders We intend to grow the distribution to stockholders over time and to

increase the value of our common stock Our primary strategy to achieve our investment objectives is to

invest in and own diversified portfolio of leased industrial and commercial real estate that we believe will

produce stable cash flow and increase in value We expect to sell some of our real estate assets from time to

time when our Adviser determines that doing so would be advantageous to us and our stockholders We
also expect to occasionally make mortgage loans secured by income-producing commercial or industrial

real estate which loans may have some form of equity participation As of December 21 2010 we had no

investments in mortgage loans

Our strategy includes the use of leverage so that we may make more investments than would otherwise be

possible in order to maximize potential returns to stockholders We are not limited with respect to the

amount of leverage that we may use for the acquisition of any specific property We intend to use non-

recourse mortgage fmancing that will allow us to limit our loss exposure on any property to the amount of

equity invested in such property However the market for long-term mortgages has been limited as the

collateralized mortgage-backed securities or CMBS market has experienced significant disruption With

the stresses upon the CMBS market many banks are not lending on industrial and commercial real estate as

they are no longer able to sell these loans to the CMBS market and are not willing or able to keep these

loans on their balance sheets In addition many banks have significantly curtailed their general lending

practices as they are having difficulty valuing the underlying real estate in this market We are however

beginning to see banks that are willing to issue medium-term mortgages between two and five years on

substantially less favorable terms than were previously available Consequently we continue to focus on

using medium-term mortgages to finance our real estate activities until the market for long-term mortgages

returns

Investment Policies and Policies with Respect to Certain Activities

Types of Investments

Overview

We intend that substantially all of our investments will be generated from the ownership of income-

producing real property or to much lesser extent mortgage loans secured by real property We expect

that the vast majority of our investments will be structured as net leases but if net lease would have an

adverse impact on potential tenant or would otherwise be inappropriate for us we may structure our

investment as mortgage loan Investments are not restricted to geographical areas but we expect that

most of our investments in real estate will be made within the continental United States Some of our

investments may also be made through joint ventures that would permit us to own interests in large

properties without restricting the diversity of our portfolio Our stockholders are not afforded the

opportunity to evaluate the economic merits of our investments or the terms of any dispositions of

properties See Risk FactorsOur success depends on the performance of our Adviser and our Adviser



makes inadvisable investment or management decisions our operations could be materially adversely

impacted

We anticipate that we will make substantially all of our investments through our Operating Partnership and

Gladstone Commercial Lending Our Operating Partnership and Gladstone Commercial Lending may

acquire interests in real property or mortgage loans in exchange for the issuance of limited partnership

units for cash or through combination of both Units issued by our Operating Partnership generally will

be redeemable for cash or at our election shares of our common stock on one-for-one basis However

we may in the future also conduct some of our business and hold some of our interests in real properties or

mortgage loans through one or more wholly-owned subsidiaries that are not owned directly or indirectly

through our Operating Partnership

Property Acquisitions and Net Leasing

To date majority of our properties have been purchased from owners that have leased their properties to

non-affiliated tenants and while we have engaged in some transactions with tenants who have

consummated sale-leaseback transactions these transactions do not comprise the dominant portion of our

portfolio We expect that some of our sale-leaseback transactions will be in conjunction with acquisitions

recapitalizations or other corporate transactions affecting our tenants In these transactions we may act as

one of several sources of financing for these transactions by purchasing one or more properties from the

tenant and by net leasing it to the tenant or its successor in interest For discussion of the risks associated

with leasing property to leveraged tenants see Risk FactorsHighly leveraged tenants or borrowers may

be unable to pay rent or make mortgage payments which could adversely affect our cash available to make

distributions to our stockholders

In limited circumstances we have granted tenants an option to purchase the leased property and we

anticipate granting these options to select tenants in the future In these cases we generally seek to fix the

option purchase price at the greater of our purchase price for the property and the fair market value of the

property at the time the option is exercised

Our portfolio consists primarily of single-tenant commercial and industrial real property however we also

consider multi-tenant commercial and industrial properties as well as retail and medical properties

Generally we lease properties to tenants that our Adviser deems creditworthy under leases that will be full

recourse obligations of our tenants or their affiliates In most cases our leases will be triple net leases

that require the tenant to pay all the operating costs costs of maintenance insurance and real estate taxes

on the property We seek to obtain lease terms of approximately 10 to 15 years with built-in rental

increases

Investments in Mortgage Loans

Although we expect such investments to be made sparingly we may elect to structure our investment in

particular property as mortgage loan secured by the property in situations where standard net lease

transaction would have an adverse tax impact on the seller of property or would otherwise be

inappropriate for us We anticipate that most of our lending transactions will be loans secured by industrial

or commercial property Our Adviser will attempt to structure mortgage loans in manner that would

provide us with current income substantially similar to that which we could expect to receive had the

investment been structured as net lease transaction

To the extent that we invest in mortgage loans we will generally originate those loans However we may

also purchase mortgage loans from banks CMBS pools or other lenders if such transactions are consistent

with our investment objectives Our Adviser will service the mortgage loans in our portfolio by monitoring

the collection of monthly principal and interest payments on our behalf There were no mortgage loans

outstanding as of December 31 2010



Underwriting Criteria Due Diligence Process and Negotiating Lease Provisions

We consider underwriting of the real estate and the tenant for the property or the borrower in the case of

mortgage loan to be the most important aspects of making an investment Evaluating the creditworthiness

of the tenant or borrower and its ability to generate sufficient cash flow to make payments to us pursuant to

the lease or the mortgage loan is the most important aspect of our underwriting procedures In analyzing

potential acquisitions of properties and leases our Adviser reviews all aspects of the potential transaction

including tenant and real estate fundamentals to determine whether potential acquisitions and leases can be

structured to satisfy our acquisition criteria The criteria listed below provide general guideposts that our

Adviser may consider when underwriting leases and mortgage loans

Credit Evaluation Our Adviser evaluates each potential tenant for its creditworthiness considering factors

such as management experience industry position and fundamentals operating history and capital structure

prospective tenant that is deemed creditworthy does not necessarily mean that we will consider the

tenants property to be investment grade Our Adviser seeks tenants that range from small businesses

many of which do not have publicly rated debt to large public companies Our Advisers investment

professionals have substantial experience in locating and financing these types of companies By leasing

properties to these tenants we believe that we will generally be able to charge rent that is higher than the

rent charged to tenants with unleveraged balance sheets and recognized credit thereby enhancing current

return from these properties as compared with properties leased to companies whose credit potential has

already been recognized by the market Furthermore if tenants credit does improve the value of our

lease or investment will likely increase if all other factors affecting value remain unchanged In

evaluating possible investment we believe that the creditworthiness of prospective tenant is normally

more significant factor than the unleased value of the property itself While our Adviser selects tenants it

believes to be creditworthy tenants are not required to meet any minimum rating established by an

independent credit rating agency Our Advisers standards for determining whether particular tenant is

creditworthy vary in accordance with variety of factors relating to specific prospective tenants The

creditworthiness of tenant is determined on tenant by tenant and case by case basis Therefore general

standards for creditworthiness cannot be applied

Leases with Increasing Rent Our Adviser seeks to include clause in each lease that provides for annual

rent escalations over the term of the lease These increases will generally be fixed however certain leases

are tied to increases in indices such as the consumer price index

Diversification Our Adviser attempts to diversify our portfolio to avoid dependence on any one particular

tenant facility type geographic location or tenant industry By diversifying our portfolio our Adviser

intends to reduce the adverse effect on our portfolio of single under-performing investment or downturn

in any particular industry or geographic region Total rental income consisted of the following tenant

industry classifications as of December 31 2010 and December 31 2009



December3l2010 Decemlwr3l2009

Percentage of Percentage of

Industry Classification Rental lncon Rental Inconr Rental Incoor Rental lnconr

Electronics 6165788 15.0% 6164789 l4.9%

Healthcare Education Coildcare 6145415 14.9% 6145415 14.8%

Telecorritunications 5447365 13.3% 5447033 13.1%

Diversifled/Congloiturate Manufacturing 3664686 8.9% 3664686 8.8%

Qienicals Plastics Rubber 3130133 7.6% 3173514 7.6%

Machinery 2332672 5.7% 2389607 5.8%

Containers Packaging ilass 2330715 5.7% 2330246 5.6%

Beverage Food Tobacco 2188793 5.2% 2188755 5.3%

Printing Publishing 2187504 5.3% 2189033 5.3%

Buildings and Real Estate 2075103 5.0% 2025668 4.9%

Oil Gas 1282582 3.1% 1138136 2.7%

Personal Non-Durable Consunr Products 1228100 2.9% 1354721 3.3%

Autonubile 1166654 2.8% 1166654 2.8%

Personal Food Miscellaneous Services 575006 1.4% 575006 1.4%

Honu Office Furnishings 529743 1.3% 529743 1.3%

Insurance 421672 1.0% 722866 1.7%

Diversifled/Conglonurate Services 308105 0.9% 308105 0.7%

41180036 100.0% 41513977 100.0%

Property Valuation The business prospects and the financial strength of the tenant are important aspects of

the evaluation of any sale and leaseback of property or acquisition of property subject to net lease

particularly property that is specifically suited to the needs of the tenant We generally require quarterly

unaudited and annual audited financial statements of the tenant in order to continuously monitor the

financial performance of the property We evaluate the financial capability of the tenant and its ability to

perform per the terms of the lease We may also examine the available operating results of prospective

investment properties to determine whether or not projected rental levels are likely to be met We then

compute the value of the property based on historical and projected operating results In addition each

property that we propose to purchase will be appraised by an independent appraiser These appraisals may
take into consideration among other things the terms and conditions of the particular lease transaction the

quality of the tenants credit and the conditions of the credit markets at the time the lease transaction is

negotiated The appraised value may be greater than the construction cost or the replacement cost of

property and the actual sale price of property if we resell the property in the future may be greater or

less than its appraised value We generally limit our property acquisition cost or value to between $3

million and $30 million

Properties Important to Tenant Operations Our Adviser generally seeks to acquire investment properties

that are essential or important to the ongoing operations of the prospective tenant We believe that these

investment properties provide better protection in the event tenant becomes bankrupt as leases on

properties essential or important to the operations of bankrupt tenant are typically less likely to be rejected

in the bankruptcy or otherwise terminated

Lease Provisions that Enhance and Protect Value When appropriate our Adviser attempts to include

provisions in our leases that require our consent to specified tenant activity or require the tenant to satisfy

specific operating tests These provisions may include for example operational or financial covenants of

the tenant as well as indemnification of us by the tenant against environmental and other contingent

liabilities We believe that these provisions serve to protect our investments from changes in the operating

and fmancial characteristics of tenant that may impact its ability to satisfy its obligations to us or that

could reduce the value of our properties We generally also seek covenants requiring tenants to receive our

consent prior to any change in control of the tenant

Credit Enhancement Our Adviser may also seek to enhance the likelihood of tenants lease obligations

being satisfied through cross-default with other tenant obligations letter of credit or guaranty of lease

obligations from each tenants corporate parent We believe that this type of credit enhancement if

obtained provides us with additional financial security



Underwriting of the Real Estate and Due Diligence Process

In addition to underwriting the tenant or borrower we also underwrite the real estate to be acquired or

secured by one of our mortgages On our behalf our Adviser performs due diligence review with respect

to each property such as evaluating the physical condition of property zoning and site requirements to

ensure the property is in conformance with all zoning regulations as well as an environmental site

assessment in an attempt to determine potential environmental liabilities associated with property prior to

its acquisition although there can be no assurance that hazardous substances or wastes as defined by

present or future federal or state laws or regulations will not be discovered on the property after we acquire

it See Risk FactorsPotential liability for environmental matters could adversely affect our financial

condition

Our Adviser also reviews the structural soundness of the improvements on the property and may engage

structural engineer to review all aspects of the structures in order to determine the longevity of each

building on the property This review normally also includes the components of each building such as the

roof the electrical wiring the heating and air-conditioning system the plumbing parking lot and various

other aspects such as compliance with state and federal building codes

Our Adviser also physically inspects the real estate and surrounding real estate as part of determining the

value of the real estate All of our Advisers due diligence is aimed at arriving at valuation of the real

estate under the assumption that it was not rented to the tenant that we are considering As part of this

process our Adviser may consider one or more of the following items

The comparable value of similar real estate in the same general area of the prospective property In

this regard comparable property is difficult to define because each piece of real estate has its own

distinct characteristics But to the extent possible comparable property in the area that has sold or is

for sale will be used to determine if the price to be paid for the property is reasonable The question

of comparable properties sale prices is particularly relevant if property might be sold by us at

later date

The comparable real estate rental rates for similar properties in the same area of the prospective

property

Alternative property uses that may offer higher value

The cost of replacing the property if it were to be sold

The assessed value as determined by the local real estate taxing authority

In addition our Adviser supplements its valuation with real estate appraisal in connection with each

investment that we consider When appropriate our Adviser may engage experts to undertake some or all

of the due diligence efforts described above

Additional Investment Considerations

Terms of Mortgage Loans

Some of the mortgage loans that we may make purchase or otherwise acquire in the future in addition to

providing for base interest at fixed or variable rate may allow us to participate in the economic benefits

of any increase in the value of the property securing repayment of the loan as though we were an equity

owner of portion of the property In addition it is possible that participation may take other forms where

our Adviser deems participation available or otherwise appropriate provided that such participation does

not jeopardize our REIT tax status The form and extent of our participation if any will vary
with each

transaction depending on factors such as credit support provided by the borrower the interest rate on our



mortgage loans and the anticipated and actual cash flow from the underlying real property Our mortgage

loans may include first mortgage loans leasehold mortgage loans or conventional mortgage loans without

equity enhancements We have not in the past nor do we intend in the future to make or invest in sub-

prime mortgage loans

Except as described below any mortgage loan in our portfolio will generally be secured by real property

with demonstrable income-producing potential as well as security interest in personal or mixed property

connected with the real property

In the event that we make or invest in mortgage loan we will generally require mortgagees title

insurance policy or commitment as to the lien priority of mortgage or the condition of title in connection

with each mortgage loan We also may obtain an independent appraisal for underlying real property that

our Adviser may consider when determining whether or not to make or invest in particular mortgage loan

In making mortgage loans that when combined with existing loans that are on parity with or senior to our

mortgage loan exceed 85% of the appraised value of any underlying real property our Adviser considers

additional underwriting criteria such as the net worth of the borrower the borrowers credit rating if any
the anticipated cash flow of the borrower any additional collateral or other credit enhancements provided

by the borrower or its affiliates and other factors our Adviser deems appropriate Where we think it is

appropriate we may make mortgage loans that are subordinated to first mortgage on property For

example if the property is subject to an economic development loan as first mortgage at particularly

low interest rate we may make second mortgage loan on the property However we will not make

second mortgage loan on any property that we would not consider owning subject to the existing senior

financing and leasing to the tenant

From time to time we may purchase mortgage loans including loans being sold at discount from banks

and other financial institutions if the subject property otherwise satisfies our underwriting criteria

Other Investments

Under IRS REIT rules we may invest up to an aggregate of 10% of our net equity in unimproved or non-

income-producing real property and in equity interests Equity interests are defined generally to mean

stock warrants or other rights to purchase the stock of or other equity interests in tenant of property

an entity to which we lend money or parent or controlling person of borrower or tenant and we will not

acquire equity interests in any entity other than in connection with lease or mortgage loan transaction We

anticipate that equity interests will not exceed 5% of our net equity in the aggregate and we will not make

any such investment in equity interests if such investment would adversely affect our qualification as

REIT for tax purposes To the extent that we hold equity interests in tenants or borrowers we anticipate

that they will generally be restricted securities as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act Under this

rule we may be prohibited from reselling the equity securities without limitation until we have fully paid

for and held any such securities for one year The issuer of equity interests in which we invest may never

register these interests under the federal securities laws since any decision of an issuer to register its

securities may depend on any number of factors including the success of its operations

We will generally invest in unimproved or non-income-producing property only when our Adviser believes

that such property will appreciate in value or will increase the value of an adjoining or neighboring

property that we own

We might use taxable REIT subsidiaries to acquire or hold property including equity interests that may not

be deemed to be REIT-qualified assets Taxable REIT subsidiaries are taxed as ordinary corporations and

any taxes paid by such entity will reduce cash available to us for payment of distributions to our

stockholders
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Joint Ventures

In the future we may also enter into joint ventures partnerships and other mutual arrangements with real

estate developers property owners and others for the purpose of obtaining an equity interest in property

in accordance with our investment policies Joint venture investments could permit us to own interests in

large properties without unduly restricting the diversity of our portfolio We will not enter into joint

venture to make an investment that we would not otherwise be permitted to make on our own

Use of Leverage

Non-recourse Financing

Our strategy is to use long-term mortgage borrowings as financing mechanism in amounts that we believe

will maximize the return to our stockholders As discussed above in Our Investment Objectives and Our

Strategy long-term mortgages are currently unavailable to us and we will focus on medium-term

mortgages until the market returns Currently all of our long-term mortgage borrowings are structured as

non-recourse to us and we intend to structure any medium-term mortgages in the same manner with

limited exceptions that would trigger recourse to us only upon the occurrence of certain fraud misconduct

environmental or bankruptcy events The use of non-recourse financing allows us to limit our exposure to

the amount of equity invested in the properties pledged as collateral for our borrowings Non-recourse

financing generally restricts lenders claim on the assets of the borrower and as result the lender

generally may look only to the property securing the debt for satisfaction of the debt We believe that this

financing strategy to the extent available protects our other assets However we can provide no assurance

that non-recourse financing will be available on terms acceptable to us or at all and there may be

circumstances where lenders have recourse to our other assets There is no limitation on the amount we

may borrow against any single investment property

We believe that by operating on leveraged basis we will have more funds available and therefore will

make more investments than would otherwise be possible if we operated on non-leveraged basis We

believe that this creates more diversified portfolio and maximizes potential returns to our stockholders

We may refinance properties during the term of loan when we believe it is advantageous

Recourse Financing

Borrowings under our $50.0 million line of credit which is secured by those properties pledged to the

borrowing base under the line of credit are considered recourse financing which means that our lenders

have claim against our assets We intend to use our existing line of credit as warehouse line of credit

whereby we borrow on short-term basis until long-term financing can be arranged

Other Investment Policies

Working Capital Reserves

We may establish working capital reserve which we would anticipate to be sufficient to satisfy our

liquidity requirements Our liquidity could be adversely affected by unanticipated costs greater-than-

anticipated operating expenses or cash shortfalls in funding our distributions to stockholders To the extent

that the working capital reserve is insufficient to satisfy our cash requirements additional funds may be

produced from cash generated from operations or through short-term borrowings In addition subject to

limitations described in this Form 10-K we may incur indebtedness in connection with

the acquisition of any property

the refinancing of the debt upon any property or
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the leveraging of any previously unleveraged property

For additional information regarding our borrowing strategy see Investment Policies and Policies with

Respect to Certain ActivitiesUse of Leverage

Holding Period for and Sale of Investments Reinvestment of Sale Proceeds

We intend to hold each property we acquire for an extended period However circumstances might arise

which could result in the early sale of some properties if in the judgment of our Adviser the sale of the

property is in the best interests of us and our stockholders

The determination of whether particular property should be sold or otherwise disposed of will be made

after consideration of all relevant factors including prevailing economic conditions with view to

achieving maximum capital appreciation The selling price of property which is subject to net lease will

be determined in large part by the amount of rent payable under the lease the remaining term of the lease

and the creditworthiness of the tenant In connection with our sales of properties we may lend the

purchaser all or portion of the purchase price In these instances our taxable income may exceed the cash

received by us in connection with any such sale which could cause us to delay required distributions to our

stockholders

The terms of any sale will be dictated by custom in the area in which the property being sold is located and

the then-prevailing economic conditions decision to provide financing to any purchaser would be made

only after an investigation into and consideration of the same factors regarding the purchaser such as

creditworthiness and likelihood of future financial stability as are undertaken when we consider net lease

or mortgage loan transaction

We may continually reinvest the proceeds of property sales in investments that either we or our Adviser

believe will satisfy our investment policies

Investment Limitations

There are numerous limitations on the manner in which we may invest our funds which unless otherwise

noted below may be amended or waived by the Board of Directors at anytime The Board of Directors has

adopted policy that we will not

invest in real property owned by our Adviser any of its affiliates or any business in which our

Adviser or any of its subsidiaries have invested except that we may lease property to existing and

prospective portfolio companies of current or future affiliates such as Gladstone Capital

Corporation Gladstone Investment Corporation and entities advised by our Adviser so long as that

entity does not control the portfolio company and the transaction is approved by both companies

board of directors this policy may not be changed without the approval of our stockholders

invest in comniodities or commodity futures contracts with this limitation not being applicable to

futures contracts when used solely for the purpose of hedging in connection with our ordinary

business of investing in properties and making mortgage loans

invest in contracts for the sale of real estate unless the contract is appropriately recorded in the

chain of title

invest in any individual property with cost in excess of 20% of our total assets at the time of

investment

make investments in unimproved property or indebtedness secured by deed of trust or mortgage
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loans on unimproved property in excess of 10% of our total assets Unimproved real property is

property which has the following three characteristics

the property was not acquired for the purpose of producing rental or other operating income

no development or construction is in process on the property and

no development or construction on the property is planned in good faith to commence on the

property within one year
of acquisition

issue equity securities on deferred payment basis or other similararrangement

issue debt securities in the absence of adequate cash flow to cover debt service

issue redeemable securities as defined in Section 2a32 of the Investment Company Act of

1940

grant warrants or options to purchase shares of our stock to our Adviser or its affiliates

engage in trading as compared with investment activities or engage in the business of

underwriting or the agency distribution of securities issued by other persons

acquire securities in any company holding investments or engaging in activities prohibited in the

foregoing clauses or

make or invest in mortgage loans that are subordinate to any mortgage or equity interest of any of

our affiliates

Conflict of Interest Policy

We have adopted policies to reduce potential conflicts of interest In addition our directors are subject to

certain provisions of Maryland law that are designed to minimize conflicts However we cannot assure you

that these policies or provisions of law will reduce or eliminate the influence of these conflicts

Under our current conflict of interest policy without the approval of majority of our disinterested

directors we will not

acquire from or sell to any of our officers directors or our Advisers employees or any entity in

which any of our officers directors or employees has an interest of more than 5% any assets or

other property

borrow from any of our directors officers or employees or any entity in which any of our officers

directors or employees has an interest of more than 5% or

engage in any other transaction with any of our directors officers or employees or any entity in

which any of our directors officers or employees has an interest of more than 5% except that our

Adviser may lease office space
in building that we own provided that the rental rate under the

lease is determined by our independent directors to be at fair market rate

Our policy also prohibits us from purchasing any real property owned by or co-investing with our Adviser

any of its affiliates or any business in which our Adviser or any of its subsidiaries have invested except

that we may lease property to existing and prospective portfolio companies of current or future affiliates

such as Gladstone Capital Corporation or Gladstone Investment Corporation and other entities advised by

our Adviser so long as that entity does not control the portfolio company and the transaction is approved
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by both companies board of directors If we decide to change this policy on co-investments with our

Adviser or its affiliates we will seek our stockholders approval

Future Revisions in Policies and Strategies

Our independent directors periodically review our investment policies to evaluate whether they are in the

best interests of us and our stockholders Our investment procedures objectives and policies may vary as

new investment techniques are developed or as regulatory requirements change and except as otherwise

provided in our charter or bylaws may be altered by majority of our directors including majority of our

independent directors without the approval of our stockholders to the extent that our board of directors

determines that such modification is in the best interest of our stockholders Among other factors

developments in the market which affect the policies and strategies described in this report or which change

our assessment of the market may cause our board of directors to revise our investment policies and

strategies

Our Adviser and Administrator

Our business is managed by our Adviser The officers directors and employees of our Adviser have

significant experience in making investments in and lending to businesses of all sizes including investing

in real estate and making mortgage loans We have entered into the Advisory Agreement as defined

below with our Adviser under which our Adviser is responsible for managing our assets and liabilities for

operating our business on day-to-day basis and for identifing evaluating negotiating and consummating

investment transactions consistent with our investment policies as determined by our board of directors

from time to time Our Administrator employs our chief financial officer chief compliance officer internal

counsel treasurer investor relations and their respective staffs

David Gladstone our chairman and chief executive officer is also the chairman chief executive officer and

the controlling stockholder of our Adviser Terry Lee Brubaker our vice chairman secretary and chief

operating officer and member of our board of directors also serves in the same capacities for our Adviser

George Stelijes III our president and chief investment officer and member of our board of directors also

serves in the same capacities for our Adviser

Our Adviser maintains an investment committee that approves each of our investments This investment

committee is comprised of Messrs Gladstone Brubaker and Stelljes We believe that our Advisers

investment committee review
process gives us unique competitive advantage over other REITs because

of the substantial experience and perspective that the members possess in evaluating the blend of corporate

credit real estate and lease terms that combine to provide an acceptable risk for our investments

Our Advisers board of directors has empowered its investment committee to authorize and approve our

investments subject to the terms of the advisory agreement Before we acquire any property the

transaction is reviewed by our Advisers investment committee to ensure that in its view the proposed

transaction satisfies our investment criteria and is within our investment policies Approval by our

Advisers investment committee is generally the final step in the property acquisition approval process

although the separate approval of our board of directors is required in certain circumstances described

below For further detail on this process please see Underwriting Criteria Due Diligence Process and

Negotiating Lease Provisions

Our Adviser is headquartered in McLean Virginia suburb of Washington D.C and also has offices in

New York Connecticut Illinois Texas and Georgia
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Investment Advisory and Administration Agreements

Many of the services performed by our Adviser and Administrator in managing our day-to-day activities

are summarized below This summary is provided to illustrate the material functions which our Adviser and

Administrator perform for us pursuant to the terms of the Advisory and Administration Agreements as

defined below respectively but it is not intended to include all of the services which may be provided to

us by third parties

Investment Advisory Agreement

We have an advisory agreement with our Adviser or the Advisory Agreement and an administration

agreement with our Administrator or the Administration Agreement

Under the terms of the Advisory Agreement we are responsible for all expenses
incurred for our direct

benefit Examples of these expenses include legal accounting interest on short-term debt and mortgages

tax preparation directors and officers insurance stock transfer services stockholder-related fees

consulting and related fees All of these charges are incurred directly by us rather than by our Adviser for

our benefit Accordingly we did not make any reimbursements to our Adviser for these amounts

In addition we are also responsible for all fees charged by third parties that are directly related to our

business which may include real estate brokerage fees mortgage placement fees lease-up fees and

transaction structuring fees although we may be able to pass some or all of such fees on to our tenants and

borrowers In the event that any of these expenses are incurred on our behalf by our Adviser we are

required to reimburse our Adviser on dollar-for-dollar basis for all such amounts During the years ended

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 none of these expenses were incurred by our Adviser or by us directly

The actual amount of such fees that we incur in the future will depend largely upon the aggregate costs of

the properties we acquire the aggregate amount of mortgage loans we make and the extent to which we

are able to shift the burden of such fees to our tenants and borrowers Accordingly the amount of these

fees that we will pay in the future is not determinable at this time

Management Services and Fees under the Advisory Agreement

The Advisory Agreement provides for an annual base management fee equal to 2.0% of our total

stockholders equity less the recorded value of any preferred stock and an incentive fee based on funds

from operations or FF0 Our Adviser does not charge acquisition or disposition fees when we acquire or

dispose of properties as is common in other externally managed REITs Furthermore there are no fees

charged when our Adviser secures long or short term credit or arranges mortgage loans on our properties

however our Adviser may earn fee income from our borrowers or tenants or other sources This fee income

earned by our Adviser or portion thereof may at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors be

credited against our base management fee as rebate to the base management fee

For purposes
of calculating the incentive fee FF0 includes any realized capital gains and capital losses

less any distributions paid on preferred stock and senior common stock but FF0 does not include any

unrealized capital gains or losses The incentive fee would reward our Adviser if our quarterly FF0 before

giving effect to any incentive fee or pre-incentive fee FF0 exceeds 1.75% or the hurdle rate of total

stockholders equity less the recorded value of any preferred stock We pay our Adviser an incentive fee

with respect to our pre-incentive fee FF0 in each calendar quarter as follows

no incentive fee in any calendar quarter in which our pre-incentive fee FF0 does not exceed the

hurdle rate of 1.75% 7% annualized

100% of the amount of the pre-incentive fee FF0 that exceeds the hurdle rate but is less than

2.1875% in any calendar quarter 8.75% annualized and
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20% of the amount of our pre-incentive fee FF0 that exceeds 2.1875% in any calendar quarter

8.75% annualized

Quarterly Incentive Fee Based on FF0

Pre-incentive fee FF0

expressed as percentage of total common stockholders equity

1.75% 2.1875%

0% 100% 20%

Percentage of pre-incentive fee FF0 allocated to incentive fee

The incentive fee may be reduced because of our line of credit covenant which limits distributions to our

stockholders to 95% of FF0 less those acquisition-related costs that are required to be expensed under

Accounting Standards Codification or ASC 805 Business Combinations

Administration Agreement

Under the terms of the Administration Agreement we pay separately for our allocable portion of our

Administrators overhead expenses in performing its obligations to us including but not limited to rent

and our allocable portion of the salaries and benefits expenses of our Administrators employees including

but not limited to our chief fmancial officer chief compliance officer internal counsel treasurer investor

relations and their respective staffs Our allocable portion of
expenses

is derived by multiplying our

Administrators total expenses by the percentage of our total assets at the beginning of each quarter in

comparison to the total assets of all companies managed by our Adviser under similaragreements

Adviser Duties and Authority under the Advisory Agreement

Under the terms of the Advisory Agreement our Adviser is required to use its best efforts to present to us

investment opportunities consistent with our investment policies and objectives as adopted by our board of

directors In performing its duties our Adviser either directly or indirectly by engaging an affiliate

finds evaluates and enters into contracts to purchase real estate and make mortgage loans on our

behalf in compliance with our investment procedures objectives and policies subject to approval of

our board of directors where required

provides advice to us and acts on our behalf with respect to the negotiation acquisition financing

refinancing holding leasing and disposition of real estate investments

takes the actions and obtains the services necessary to effect the negotiation acquisition financing

refinancing holding leasing and disposition of real estate investments and

provides day-to-day management of our business activities and other administrative services for us

as requested by our board of directors

Our board of directors has authorized our Adviser to make investments in any property on our behalf

without the prior approval of our board if the following conditions are satisfied

our Adviser has obtained an independent appraisal for the property indicating that the total cost of

the property does not exceed its appraised value and
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our Adviser has concluded that the property in conjunction with our other investments and

proposed investments is reasonably expected to fulfill our investment objectives and policies as

established by our board of directors then in effect

The actual terms and conditions of transactions involving investments in properties and mortgage loans are

determined in the sole discretion of our Adviser subject at all times to compliance with the foregoing

requirements Some types of transactions however require the prior approval of our board of directors

including majority of our independent directors including the following

loans not secured or otherwise supported by real property

any acquisition or mortgage loan which at the time of investment would have cost exceeding 20%

of our total assets

transactions that involve conflicts of interest with our Adviser other than reimbursement of

expenses
in accordance with the Advisory Agreement and

the lease of assets to our Adviser its affiliates or any of our officers or directors

Our Adviser and Administrator also engage in other business ventures and as result their resources are

not dedicated exclusively to our business For example our Adviser and Administrator also serve as the

external adviser to Gladstone Capital Corporation and Gladstone Investment Corporation both publicly

traded business development companies affiliated with us and Gladstone Land Corporation private

agricultural real estate company However under the Advisory Agreement our Adviser is required to

devote sufficient resources to the administration of our affairs to discharge its obligations under the

agreement The Advisory Agreement is not assignable or transferable by either us or our Adviser without

the consent of the other party except that our Adviser may assign the Advisory Agreement to an affiliate

for whom our Adviser agrees to guarantee its obligations to us Either we or our Adviser may assign or

transfer the Advisory Agreement to successor entity

Employees

We do not currently have any employees and do not expect to have any employees in the foreseeable

future Currently services necessary for our business are provided by individuals who are employees of

our Adviser and our Administrator pursuant to the terms of the Advisory Agreement and the

Administration Agreement respectively Each of our executive officers is an employee or officer or both

of our Adviser or our Administrator No employee of our Adviser or our Administrator will dedicate all of

his or her time to us However we expect that 15-20 full time employees of our Adviser or our

Administrator will spend substantial time on our matters during calendar year
2011 To the extent that we

acquire more investments we anticipate that the number of employees of our Adviser and our

Administrator who devote time to our matters will increase

As of December 31 2010 our Adviser and our Administrator collectively had 51 full-time employees

breakdown of these employees is summarized by functional area in the table below

Number of tndividuals Functional Area

10 Executive Management

33 Investment Management Portfolio Management and Due Diligence

Administration Accounting Compliance Human Resources Legal and Treasury
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Competition

We compete with number of other real estate companies and traditional mortgage lenders many of whom

have greater marketing and financial resources than we do Principal factors of competition in our primary

business of investing in and owning leased industrial and commercial real property are the quality of

properties leasing terms attractiveness and convenience of location Additionally our ability to compete

depends upon among other factors trends of the national and local economies investment alternatives

financial condition and operating results of current and prospective tenants and borrowers availability and

cost of capital taxes and governmental regulations

Environmental Matters

As current and prior owner of real estate we are subject to various federal state and local environmental

laws regulations and ordinances and also could be liable to third parties resulting from environmental

contamination or noncompliance at our properties Environmental laws often impose liability without

regard to whether the owner or operator knew of or was responsible for the presence of the contaminants

and the costs of any required investigation or cleanup of these substances can be substantial The liability is

generally not limited under such laws and could exceed the propertys value and the aggregate assets of the

liable party The presence of contamination or the failure to remediate contamination at our properties also

may expose us to third-party liability for personal injury or property damage or adversely affect our ability

to sell lease or develop the real property or to borrow using the real property as collateral These and other

risks related to environmental matters are described in more detail in Item Risk Factors below

Available Information

We file annual periodic current and other reports and information with the SEC All filings made by us

with the SEC may be copied or read at the SECs Public Reference Room at 100 Street NE Washington

DC 20549 Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC

at l-800-SEC-0330 The SEC also maintains an Internet site that contains reports proxy and information

statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC The website

address is http//www.sec.gov

Additionally copy of this Aimual Report on Form 10-K along with our Quarterly Reports on Form l0-Q
Current Reports on Form 8-K proxy statements and other information and any amendments to the

aforementioned filings are available on our website www.GladstoneCommercial.com free of charge as

soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such reports or amendments with or furnish them

to the SEC The filings can be found in the SEC filings section of our website Our website also contains

our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct and the charters of the committees of the Board of Directors

These items can be found in the Corporate Governance section of our website Reference to our website

does not constitute incorporation by reference of the information contained on the site and should not be

considered part of this document All of the aforementioned materials may also be obtained free of charge

by contacting Investor Relations Gladstone Commercial Corporation 1521 Westbranch Drive Suite 200

McLean Virginia 22102 or by calling our investor relations line at 703 287-5893
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Item 1A Risk Factors

An investment in our securities involves number of signflcant risks and other factors relating to our

structure and investment objectives As result we cannot assure you that we will achieve our investment

objectives You should consider carefully the following information before making an investment in our

securities

Risk related to the economy

The current state of the economy and the capital markets increases the possibility of adverse effects on our

financial pos ition results of operations and the market price of our securities

The United States is recovering from the recession that it entered into during late 2007 though it continues

to experience some disruptions in its financial and capital markets As result conditions within the U.S

capital markets generally and the U.S real estate capital markets particularly continue to experience

dislocation and stress We believe that it will be few more years before the United States fully recovers

from the recession As result the continued challenging economic conditions could still materially and

adversely impact the financial condition of one or more of our tenants and therefore could increase the

likelihood that tenant may declare bankruptcy or default upon its payment obligations arising under

related lease

The recession generally and the disruptions in the capital markets in particular have decreased liquidity

and increased our cost of equity capital which impacted our ability to raise capital during 2010 and in turn

reduced our ability to make new investments As result we only acquired one property during 2010

however we were able to raise equity capital in February 2011 and believe that our liquidity position is

improving The longer these conditions persist the greater the probability that these factors will have an

adverse effect on our liquidity financial condition results of operations ability to pay distributions to

stockholders and the market price of our securities

Risks related to our financing

Our line of credit contains various covenants which not complied with could accelerate our repayment

obligations thereby materially and adversely affecting our liquidity financial condition results of

operations and ability to pay distributions to stockholders

The agreement governing our line of credit requires us to comply with certain fmancial and operational

covenants These covenants require us to among other things maintain certain financial ratios including

fixed charge coverage debt service coverage
and minimum net worth We are also required to limit our

distributions to stockholders to 95% of our FF0 and continued compliance with this covenant may require

us to limit our distributions to stockholders As of December 31 2010 we were in compliance with these

covenants However our continued compliance with these covenants depends on many factors and could

be impacted by current or future economic conditions and thus there are no assurances that we will

continue to comply with these covenants In addition we have $48.0 million of mortgage debt maturing in

October 2013 Under the terms of the line of credit we must refinance extend or have enough cash on

hand including availability under our line of credit as of April 2013 or we would be considered in default

Failure to comply with these covenants would result in default which if we were unable to obtain

waiver from the lenders could accelerate our repayment obligations under the line of credit and thereby

have material adverse impact on our liquidity financial condition results of operations and ability to pay

distributions to stockholders

19



Our business strategy relies heavily on external financing which may expose us to risks associated with

leverage such as restrictions on additional borrowing and payment of distributions to stockholders risks

associated with balloon payments and risk of loss of our equity upon foreclosure

Our current business strategy involves the use of leverage so that we may make more investments than

would otherwise be possible in order to maximize potential returns to stockholders If the income generated

by our properties and other assets fails to cover our debt service we could be forced to reduce or eliminate

distributions to our stockholders and may experience losses

Our ability to achieve our investment objectives will be affected by our ability to borrow money in

sufficient amounts and on favorable terms We expect that we will borrow money that will be secured by

our properties and that these financing arrangements will contain customary covenants such as those that

limit our ability without the prior consent of the lender to further mortgage the applicable property or to

discontinue insurance coverage Accordingly we may be unable to obtain the degree of leverage we

believe to be optimal which may cause us to have less cash for distribution to stockholders than we would

have with an optimal amount of leverage Our use of leverage could also make us more vulnerable to

downturn in our business or the economy as it may become difficult to meet our debt service obligations if

our cash flows are reduced due to tenant defaults There is also risk that significant increase in the ratio

of our indebtedness to the measures of asset value used by financial analysts may have an adverse effect on

the market price of our securities

Some of our debt financing arrangements may require us to make lump-sum or balloon payments at

maturity Our ability to make balloon payment at maturity is uncertain and may depend upon our ability

to obtain additional financing or to sell the financed property At the time the balloon payment is due we

may not be able to refinance the balloon payment on terms as favorable as the original loan or sell the

property at price sufficient to make the balloon payment which could adversely affect the amount of

distributions to our stockholders

We intend to acquire additional properties by using our line of credit and by continuing to seek long-term

financing where we will borrow all or portion of the purchase price of potential acquisition and

securing the loan with mortgage on some or all of our existing real property However the market for

long-term mortgages has been limited as the collateralized mortgage-backed securities or CMBS market

has experienced significant disruption We are however beginning to see banks that are willing to issue

medium-term mortgages between two and five years on substantially less favorable terms than were

previously available Consequently we continue to focus on using medium-term mortgages to finance our

real estate activities until the market for long-term mortgages returns To date we have obtained

approximately $260 million in long-term financing which we have used to acquire additional properties If

we are unable to make our debt payments as required lender could foreclose on the property securing its

loan This could cause us to lose part or all of our investment in such property which in turn could cause the

value of our securities or the amount of distributions to our stockholders to be reduced

change in the value of our assets could cause us to experience cash shortfall be in default of our loan

covenants lose management control or incur charge for the impairment of assets

We borrow on secured basis under the New Line of Credit significant reduction in value of the assets

secured as collateral could require us to post additional assets or pay down the balance of the New Line of

Credit Although we believe that we have significant excess collateral and capacity future asset values are

uncertain If we were unable to meet request to add collateral to the New Line of Credit this inability

would have material adverse affect on our liquidity and our ability to meet our loan covenants We may

determine that the value of an individual asset or group of assets was irrevocably impaired and that we

may need to record charge to write-down the value of the asset to reflect its current estimated value based

upon its intended use
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Interest rate changes may adversely affect our results of operations

We may experience interest rate volatility in connection with mortgage loans on our properties or other

variable-rate debt that we may obtain from time to time Certain of our leases contain escalations based on

market interest rates and the interest rate on our existing line of credit is variable Although we seek to

mitigate this risk by structuring such provisions to contain minimum interest rate or escalation rate as

applicable these features do not eliminate this risk We are also exposed to the effects of interest rate

changes as result of the holding of our cash and cash equivalents in short-term interest-bearing

investments We have not entered into any derivative contracts to attempt to further manage our exposure

to interest rate fluctuations significant change in interest rates could have an adverse impact on our

results of operations

Risks related to the real estate industry

We are subject to certain risks associated with real estate ownership and lending which could reduce the

value of our investments

Our investments include net leased industrial and commercial property and mortgage loans secured by

industrial and commercial real estate Our performance and the value of our investments is subject to risks

inherent to the ownership and operation of these types of properties including

changes in the general economic climate

changes in local conditions such as an oversupply of space or reduction in demand for real estate

changes in interest rates and the availability of financing

competition from other available space and

changes in laws and governmental regulations including those governing real estate usage zoning and

taxes

The debt obligations of our tenants and borrowers are dependent upon certain factors which neither we nor

our tenants or borrowers control such as national local and regional business and economic conditions

government economic policies and the level of interest rates As discussed in Risk related to the

economy above the credit markets have tightened resulting in significant contraction in available

liquidity Accordingly the credit market constraints and recession may increase the operating expenses of

our tenants and borrowers and decrease their ability to make lease or mortgage payments and thereby

adversely affect our liquidity financial condition results of operations and ability to pay distributions to

our stockholders

Competition for the acquisition of real estate may impede our ability to make acquisitions or increase the

cost of these acquisitions

We compete for the acquisition of properties with many other entities engaged in real estate investment

activities including financial institutions institutional pension funds other REITs other public and private

real estate companies and private real estate investors These competitors may prevent us from acquiring

desirable properties or may cause an increase in the price we must pay for real estate Our competitors may

have greater resources than we do and may be willing to pay more for certain assets or may have more

compatible operating philosophy with our acquisition targets In particular larger REITs may enjoy

significant competitive advantages that result from among other things lower cost of capital and

enhanced operating efficiencies Our competitors may also adopt transaction structures similar to ours

which would decrease our competitive advantage in offering flexible transaction terms In addition the

number of entities and the amount of funds competing for suitable investment properties may increase

resulting in increased demand and increased prices paid for these properties
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Our ownership of properties through ground leases exposes us to risks which are different than those

resulting from our ownership offee title to other properties

We have acquired an interest in certain of our properties by acquiring leasehold interest in the land

underlying the property and we may acquire additional properties in the future that are subject to similar

ground leases In this situation we have no economic interest in the land underlying the property and do

not control this land Because we do not control the underlying land this type of ownership interest poses

potential risks for our business because if the ground lease terminates for any reason we will lose our

interest in the property including any investment that we made in the property ii if our tenant defaults

under the previously existing lease we will continue to be obligated to meet the terms and conditions of the

ground lease without the annual amount of ground lease payments reimbursable to us by the tenant and

iii if the third party owning the land under the ground lease disrupts our use either permanently or for

significant period of time then the value of our assets could be impaired and our results of operations could

be adversely affected

Risks related to our tenants borrowers and properties

Highly leveraged tenants and borrowers may be unable to pay rent or make mortgage payments which

could adversely affect our cash available to make distributions to our stockholders

Some of our tenants and borrowers may have recently been either restructured using leverage or acquired

in leveraged transaction Tenants and borrowers that are subject to significant debt obligations may be

unable to make their rent or mortgage payments if there are adverse changes to their businesses or because

of the impact of the recession discussed in Risk related to the economy Tenants that have experienced

leveraged restructurings or acquisitions will generally have substantially greater debt and substantially

lower net worth than they had prior to the leveraged transaction In addition the payment of rent and debt

service may reduce the working capital available to leveraged entities and prevent them from devoting the

resources necessary to remain competitive in their industries

In situations where management of the tenant or borrower will change after transaction it may be

difficult for our Adviser to determine with certainty the likelihood of the tenants or borrowers business

success and of its ability to pay rent or make mortgage payments throughout the lease or loan term These

companies generally are more vulnerable to adverse economic and business conditions and increases in

interest rates

Leveraged tenants and borrowers are more susceptible to bankruptcy than unleveraged tenants Bankruptcy

of tenant or borrower could cause

the loss of lease or mortgage payments to us

an increase in the costs we incur to carry
the property occupied by such tenant

reduction in the value of our securities or

decrease in distributions to our stockholders

Under bankruptcy law tenant who is the subject of bankruptcy proceedings has the option of continuing

or terminating any unexpired lease If bankrupt tenant terminates lease with us any claim we might

have for breach of the lease excluding claim against collateral securing the claim will be treated as

general unsecured claim Our claim would likely be capped at the amount the tenant owed us for unpaid

rent prior to the bankruptcy unrelated to the termination plus the greater of one years lease payments or

15% of the remaining lease payments payable under the lease but no more than three years lease

payments In addition due to the long-term nature of our leases and terms providing for the repurchase of

property by the tenant bankruptcy court could re-characterize net lease transaction as secured

lending transaction If that were to occur we would not be treated as the owner of the property but might

have additional rights as secured creditor
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Net leases may not result in fair market lease rates over time

We expect large portion of our rental income to come from net leases and net leases frequently provide

the tenant greater discretion in using the leased property than ordinary property leases such as the right to

sublease the property subject to our approval to make alterations in the leased premises and to terminate

the lease prior to its expiration under specified circumstances Further net leases are typically for longer

lease terms and thus there is an increased risk that contractual rental increases in future
years

will fail to

result in fair market rental rates during those years As result our income and distributions to our

stockholders could be lower than they would otherwise be if we did not engage in net leases

Many of our tenants are small and medium size businesses which exposes us to additional risks unique to

these entities

Leasing real property or making mortgage loans to small and medium-sized businesses exposes us to

number of unique risks related to these entities including the following

Small and medium-sized businesses may have limited financial resources and may not be able to make

their lease or mortgage payments on timely basis or at all small or medium-sized tenant or

borrower is more likely to have difficulty making its lease or mortgage payments when it experiences

adverse events such as the failure to meet its business plan downturn in its industry or negative

economic conditions In addition because of the lack of available credit in the current marketplace as

discussed further in Risk related to the economy above our tenants might not be able to obtain the

financing necessary to fund their working capital which could hinder their ability to make their lease or

mortgage payment on timely basis or at all

Small and medium-sized businesses typically have narrower product lines and smaller market shares

than large businesses Because our target tenants and borrowers are smaller businesses they will tend to

be more vulnerable to competitors actions and market conditions as well as general economic

downturns In addition our target tenants and borrowers may face intense competition including

competition from companies with greater financial resources more extensive development

manufacturing marketing and other capabilities and larger number of qualified managerial and

technical personnel

There is generally little or no publicly available information about our target tenants and borrowers

Many of our tenants and borrowers are likely to be privately owned businesses about which there is

generally little or no publicly available operating and financial information As result we will rely on

our Adviser to perform due diligence investigations of these tenants and borrowers their operations and

their prospects We may not learn all of the material information we need to know regarding these

businesses through our investigations

Small and medium-sized businesses generally have less predictable operating results We expect that

many of our tenants and borrowers may experience significant fluctuations in their operating results may
from time to time be parties to litigation may be engaged in rapidly changing businesses with products

subject to substantial risk of obsolescence may require substantial additional capital to support their

operations to finance expansion or to maintain their competitive positions may otherwise have weak

financial position or may be adversely affected by changes in the business cycle Our tenants and

borrowers may not meet net income cash flow and other coverage tests typically imposed by their senior

lenders The failure of tenant or borrower to satisfy financial or operating covenants imposed by senior

lenders could lead to defaults and potentially foreclosure on credit facilities which could additionally

trigger cross-defaults in other agreements If this were to occur it is possible that the ability of the tenant

or borrower to make required payments to us would be jeopardized

Small and medium-sized businesses are more likely to be dependent on one or two persons Typically the

success of small or medium-sized business also depends on the management talents and efforts of one

or two persons or small group of persons The death disability or resignation of one or more of these

persons could have material adverse impact on our tenant or borrower and in turn on us
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Small and medium-sized businesses may have limited operating histories While we intend to target as

tenants and borrowers stable companies with proven track records we may lease properties or lend

money to new companies that meet our other investment criteria Tenants or borrowers with limited

operating histories will be exposed to all of the operating risks that new businesses face and may be

particularly susceptible to among other risks market downturns competitive pressures and the departure

of key executive officers

We may not have funding forfuture tenant improvements

When tenant at one of our properties does not renew its lease or otherwise vacates its space
in one of our

buildings it is likely that in order to attract one or more new tenants we will be required to expend

substantial funds for tenant improvements and tenant refurbishments to the vacated space We cannot

assure you that we will have sufficient sources of funding available to us for such purposes in the future

Illiquidity of real estate investments may make it difficult for us to sell properties in response to market

conditions and could harm our financial condition and ability to make distributions

To the extent the properties are not subject to triple-net leases some significant expenditures such as real

estate taxes and maintenance costs are generally not reduced when circumstances cause reduction in

income from the investment Should these events occur our income and funds available for distribution

could be adversely affected In addition as REIT we may be subject to 100% tax on net income derived

from the sale of property considered to be held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of our

business We may seek to avoid this tax by complying with certain safe harbor rules that generally limit the

number of properties we may sell in given year the aggregate expenditures made on such properties prior

to their disposition and how long we retain such properties before disposing of them However we can

provide no assurance that we will always be able to comply with these safe harbors If compliance is

possible the safe harbor rules may restrict our ability to sell assets in the future and achieve liquidity that

may be necessary to fund distributions

Our real estate investments may include special use and single or multi-tenant properties that may be

dfJIcult to sell or re-lease upon tenant defaults or early lease terminations

We focus our investments on commercial and industrial properties
number of which include

manufacturing facilities special use storage or warehouse facilities and special use single or multi-tenant

properties These types of properties are relatively illiquid compared to other types of real estate and

financial assets This illiquidity will limit our ability to quickly change our portfolio in response to changes

in economic or other conditions With these properties if the current lease is terminated or not renewed or

in the case of mortgage loan if we take such property
in foreclosure we may be required to renovate the

property or to make rent concessions in order to lease the property to another tenant or sell the property In

addition in the event we are forced to sell the property we may have difficulty selling it to party other

than the tenant or borrower due to the special purpose
for which the property may have been designed

These and other limitations may affect our ability to sell or re-lease properties without adversely affecting

returns to our stockholders

Our real estate investments have limited number of tenants and are concentrated in limited number of

industries which subjects us to an increased risk of sign fIcant loss any one of these tenants is unable to

pay or fparticular industries experience downturns

As of December 31 2010 we owned 65 properties and had 50 tenants in these properties and our largest

tenants accounted for approximately 24.2% of our total rental income consequence of limited number

of tenants is that the aggregate returns we realize may be substantially adversely affected by the

unfavorable performance of small number of tenants We do not have fixed guidelines for industry

concentration and our investments could potentially be concentrated in relatively few industries As of

December 31 2010 15.0% of our total rental income was earned from tenants in the electronic industry

14.9% of our total rental income was earned from tenants in the healthcare education and childcare
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industries and 13.3% of our total rental income was earned from tenants in the telecommunications

industry As result downturn in an industry in which we have invested significant portion of our total

assets could have material adverse effect on us

The inability of tenant in single tenant property to pay rent will reduce our revenues and increase our

carrying costs of the building

Since most of our properties are occupied by single tenant the success of our investments will be

materially dependent on the financial stability of these tenants If tenant defaults our rental revenues

would be reduced and our expenses associated with carrying the property would increase as we will be

responsible for payments such as taxes and insurance Lease payment defaults by these tenants could

adversely affect our cash flows and cause us to reduce the amount of distributions to stockholders In the

event of default by tenant we may experience delays in enforcing our rights as landlord and may incur

substantial costs in protecting our investment and re-leasing our property If lease is tenninated there is

no assurance that we will be able to lease the property for the rent previously received or sell the property

without incurring loss

We may be unable to renew leases lease vacant space or re-lease space as leases expire which could

adversely affect our business and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders

If we cannot renew leases we may be unable to re-lease our properties at rates equal to or above the current

rate Even if we can renew leases tenants may be able to negotiate lower rates as result of market

conditions Market conditions may also hinder our ability to lease vacant space in newly developed or

redeveloped properties In addition we may enter into or acquire leases for properties that are specially

suited to the needs of particular tenant Such properties may require renovations tenant improvements or

other concessions in order to lease them to other tenants if the initial leases terminate Any of these factors

could adversely impact our financial condition results of operations cash flow our ability to pay

distributions to our stockholders

Liability for uninsured losses could adversely affect our financial condition

Losses from disaster-type occurrences such as wars or earthquakes may be either uninsurable or not

insurable on economically viable terms Should an uninsured loss occur we could lose our capital

investment or anticipated profits and cash flow from one or more properties

We could incur sign fIcant costs related to government regulation and private litigation over environmental

matters

Under various environmental laws including the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation

and Liability Act or CERCLA current or previous owner or operator of real property may be liable for

contamination resulting from the release or threatened release of hazardous or toxic substances or

petroleum at that property and an entity that arranges for the disposal or treatment of hazardous or toxic

substance or petroleum at another property may be held jointly and severally liable for the cost to

investigate and clean up such property or other affected property Such parties are known as potentially

responsible parties or PRPs Environmental laws often impose liability without regard to whether the

owner or operator knew of or was responsible for the presence of the contaminants and the costs of any

required investigation or cleanup of these substances can be substantial PRPs are liable to the government

as well as to other PRPs who may have claims for contribution The liability is generally not limited under

such laws and could exceed the propertys value and the aggregate assets of the liable party The presence

of contamination or the failure to remediate contamination at our properties also may expose us to third-

party liability for personal injury or property damage or adversely affect our ability to sell lease or develop

the real property or to borrow using the real property as collateral

Environmental laws also impose ongoing compliance requirements on owners and operators of real

property Environmental laws potentially affecting us address wide variety of matters including but not

limited to asbestos-containing building materials storage tanks storm water and wastewater discharges

lead-based paint wetlands and hazardous wastes Failure to comply with these laws could result in fines
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and penalties and/or expose us to third-party liability Some of our properties may have conditions that are

subject to these requirements and we could be liable for such fines or penalties and/or liable to third parties

for those conditions

We could be exposed to liability and remedial costs related to environmental matters

Certain of our properties may contain or may have contained asbestos-containing building materials or

ACBMs Environmental laws require that ACBMs be properly managed and maintained and may impose

fines and penalties on building owners and operators for failure to comply with these requirements Also

certain of our properties may contain or may have contained or are adjacent to or near other properties that

have contained or currently contain storage tanks for the storage of petroleum products or other hazardous

or toxic substances These operations create potential for the release of petroleum products or other

hazardous or toxic substances Certain of our properties may contain or may have contained elevated

radon levels Third parties may be permitted by law to seek recovery from owners or operators for property

damage and/or personal injury associated with exposure to contaminants including but not limited to

petroleum products hazardous or toxic substances and asbestos fibers Also certain of our properties may

contain regulated wetlands that can delay or impede development or require costs to be incurred to mitigate

the impact of any disturbance Absent appropriate permits we can be held responsible for restoring

wetlands and be required to pay fines and penalties

Certain of our properties may contain or may have contained microbial matter such as mold and mildew

The presence of microbial matter could adversely affect our results of operations In addition if any of our

property is not properly connected to water or sewer system or if the integrity of such systems are

breached or if water intrusion into our buildings otherwise occurs microbial matter or other contamination

can develop When excessive moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials mold growth

may occur particularly if the moisture problem remains undiscovered or is not addressed over period of

time Some molds may produce airborne toxins or irritants If this were to occur we could incur significant

remedial costs and we may also be subject to material private damage claims and awards Concern about

indoor exposure to mold has been increasing as exposure to mold may cause variety of adverse health

effects and symptoms including allergic or other reactions If we become subject to claims in this regard

it could materially and adversely affect us and our future insurability for such matters

Independent environmental consultants conduct Phase environmental site assessments on all of our

acquisitions Phase environmental site assessments are intended to evaluate information regarding the

environmental condition of the surveyed property and surrounding properties based generally on visual

observations interviews and certain publicly available databases These assessments do not typically take

into account all environmental issues including but not limited to testing of soil or groundwater or the

possible presence of asbestos lead-based paint radon wetlands or mold The results of these assessments

are addressed and could result in either cancellation of the purchase the requirement of the seller to

remediate issues or additional costs on our part to remediate the issue

None of the previous site assessments revealed any past or present environmental liability that we believe

would be material to us However the assessments may have failed to reveal all environmental conditions

liabilities or compliance concerns Material environmental conditions liabilities or compliance concerns

may have arisen after the assessments were conducted or may arise in the future and future laws

ordinances or regulations may impose material additional environmental liability We cannot assure you

that costs of future environmental compliance will not affect our ability to make distributions or that such

costs or other remedial measures will not be material to us

If sale-leaseback transaction is re-characterized in tenant bankruptcy proceeding our financial

condition could be adversely affected

We may enter into sale-leaseback transactions whereby we would purchase property and then lease the

same property back to the person
from whom we purchased it In the event of the bankruptcy of tenant

transaction structured as sale-leaseback may be re-characterized as either financing or joint venture

either of which outcomes could adversely affect our business If the sale-leaseback were re-characterized as
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financing we might not be considered the owner of the property and as result would have the status of

creditor in relation to the tenant In that event we would no longer have the right to sell or encumber our

ownership interest in the property Instead we would have claim against the tenant for the amounts owed

under the lease with the claim arguably secured by the property The tenant/debtor might have the ability

to propose plan restructuring the term interest rate and amortization schedule of its outstanding balance

If confirmed by the bankruptcy court we could be bound by the new terms and prevented from foreclosing

our lien on the property If the sale-leaseback were re-characterized as joint venture we could be treated

as co-venturer with our lessee with regard to the property As result we could be held liable under

some circumstances for debts incurred by the lessee relating to the property Either of these outcomes

could adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to pay distributions to stockholders

Risks related to our Adviser

We are dependent upon our key management personnel who are employed by our Adviser for our future

success particularly David Gladstone Terry Lee Brubaker and George Steljjes III

We are dependent on our senior management and other key management members to carry out our business

and investment strategies Our future success depends to significant extent on the continued service and

coordination of our senior management team particularly David Gladstone our chairman and chief

executive officer Terry Lee Brubaker our vice chairman and chief operating officer and George Stelljes

III our president and chief investment officer all of whom are subject to an employment agreement with

our Adviser The departure of any of our executive officers or key employees could have material adverse

effect on our ability to implement our business strategy and to achieve our investment objectives

Our success depends on the performance of our Adviser and our Adviser makes inadvisable investment

or management decisions our operations could be materially adversely impacted

Our ability to achieve our investment objectives and to pay distributions to our stockholders is dependent

upon the performance of our Adviser in evaluating potential investments selecting and negotiating

property purchases and dispositions and mortgage loans selecting tenants and borrowers setting lease or

mortgage loan terms and determining financing arrangements Accomplishing these objectives on cost-

effective basis is largely function of our Advisers marketing capabilities management of the investment

process ability to provide competent attentive and efficient services and our access to financing sources on

acceptable terms Our stockholders have no opportunity to evaluate the terms of transactions or other

economic or financial data concerning our investments and must rely entirely on the analytical and

management abilities of our Adviser and the oversight of our board of directors If our Adviser or our board

of directors makes inadvisable investment or management decisions our operations could be materially

adversely impacted As we grow our Adviser may be required to hire train supervise and manage new

employees Our Advisers failure to effectively manage our future growth could have material adverse

effect on our business financial condition and results of operations

We may have conflicts of interest with our Adviser and other affiliates

Our Adviser manages our business and locates evaluates recommends and negotiates the acquisition of

our real estate investments At the same time our advisory agreement permits our Adviser to conduct other

commercial activities and provide management and advisory services to other entities including but not

limited to Gladstone Capital Corporation Gladstone Investment Corporation and Gladstone Land

Corporation an entity affiliated with our chairman David Gladstone Moreover with the exception of our

chief financial officer all of our officers and directors are also officers and directors of Gladstone Capital

Corporation and Gladstone Investment Corporation which actively make loans to and invest in small and

medium-sized companies As result we may from time to time have conflicts of interest with our Adviser

in its management of our business and with Gladstone Capital and Gladstone Investment which may arise

primarily from the involvement of our Adviser Gladstone Capital Gladstone Investment Gladstone Land

and their affiliates in other activities that may conflict with our business
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Examples of these potential conflicts include

our Adviser may realize substantial compensation on account of its activities on our behalf and may

therefore be motivated to approve acquisitions solely on the basis of increasing compensation to itself

we may experience competition with our affiliates for financing transactions

our Adviser may earn fee income from our borrowers or tenants and

our Adviser and other affiliates such as Gladstone Capital Gladstone Investment and Gladstone Land

could compete for the time and services of our officers and directors

These and other conflicts of interest between us and our Adviser and other affiliates could have material

adverse effect on the operation of our business and the selection or management of our real estate

investments

Our Adviser is not obligated to provide waiver of the incentive fee which could negatively impact our

earnings and our ability to maintain our current level of or increase distributions to our stockholders

The Advisory Agreement contemplates quarterly incentive fee based on our funds from operations Our

Adviser has the ability to issue full or partial waiver of the incentive fee for current and future periods

however our Adviser is not required to issue any waiver Any waiver issued by our Adviser is an

unconditional and irrevocable waiver For the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 an

unconditional and irrevocable voluntary waiver was issued by our Adviser for approximately $0.2 million

$0.7 million and $2.2 million respectively If our Adviser does not issue this waiver in future quarters it

could negatively impact our earnings and may compromise our ability to maintain our current level of or

increase distributions to our stockholders which could have material adverse impact on the market price

of our securities

We may be obligated to pay our Adviser incentive compensation even we incur loss

The Advisory Agreement entitles our Adviser to incentive compensation based on our FF0 which rewards

the Adviser if our quarterly FF0 before giving effect to any incentive fee exceeds 1.75% 7% annualized

of our total stockholders equity less the recorded value of any preferred stock Our pre-incentive fee FF0

for incentive compensation purposes excludes the effect of any unrealized gains losses or other items that

do not affect realized net income that we may incur in the fiscal quarter even if such losses result in net

loss on our statement of operations for that quarter Thus we may be required to pay our Adviser incentive

compensation for fiscal quarter even if we incur net loss for that quarter

Risks Related to Qualification and Operation as REIT

If we fail to qua4fj as REI1 our operations and dividends to stockholders would be adversely impacted

We intend to continue to be organized and to operate so as to qualify as REIT under the Internal Revenue

Code of 1986 as amended the Code REIT generally is not taxed at the corporate level on income it

currently distributes to its stockholders Qualification as REIT involves the application of highly

technical and complex rules for which there are only limited judicial or administrative interpretations The

determination of various factual matters and circumstances not entirely within our control may affect our

ability to continue to qualify as REIT In addition new legislation new regulations administrative

interpretations or court decisions could significantly change the tax laws possibly with retroactive effect

with respect to qualification as REIT or the federal income tax consequences of such qualification

If we were to fail to qualify as REIT in any taxable year

we would not be allowed to deduct our distributions to stockholders when computing our taxable

income
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we would be subject to federal income tax including any applicable alternative minimum tax on

our taxable income at regular corporate rates

we would be disqualified from being taxes as REIT for the four taxable
years following the year

during which qualification was lost unless entitled to relief under certain statutory provisions

our cash available for dividends to stockholders would be reduced and

we may be required to borrow additional funds or sell some of our assets in order to pay corporate

tax obligations that we may incur as result of our disqualification

We may need to incur additional borrowings to meet the REIT minimum distribution requirement and to

avoid excise tax

In order to maintain our qualification as REIT we are required to distribute to our stockholders at least

90% of our annual real estate investment trust taxable income excluding any net capital gain and before

application of the dividends paid deduction To the extent that we satisfy this distribution requirement but

distribute less than 100% of our taxable income we will be subject to U.S federal corporate income tax on

our undistributed taxable income In addition we are subject to 4% nondeductible excise tax on the

amount if any by which certain distributions paid by us with respect to any calendar
year are less than the

sum of 85% of our ordinary income for that year ii 95% of our net capital gain for that year and iii

100% of our undistributed taxable income from prior years Although we intend to pay dividends to our

stockholders in manner that allows us to meet the 90% distribution requirement and avoid this 4% excise

tax we cannot assure you that we will always be able to do so

Complying with REIT requirements may cause us to forgo otherwise attractive opportunities or liquidate

otherwise attractive investments

To qualify as REIT for federal income tax purposes we must continually satisfy tests concerning among
other things the nature and diversification of our assets the sources of our gross income the amounts we
distribute to our stockholders and the ownership of our capital stock In order to meet these tests we may
be required to forgo investments we might otherwise make Thus compliance with the REIT requirements

may hinder our performance

In particular we must ensure that at the end of each calendar quarter at least 75% of the value of our assets

consists of cash cash items government securities and qualified real estate assets The remainder of our

investment in securities other than government securities securities of taxable REIT subsidiaries each

IRS and qualified real estate assets generally cannot include more than 10% of the outstanding voting

securities of any one issuer or more than 10% of the total value of the outstanding securities of any one

issuer In addition in general no more than 5% of the value of our assets other than government

securities securities of TRSs and qualified real estate assets can consist of the securities of any one issuer

and no more than 25% of the value of our total assets can be represented by the securities of one or more

TRSs

We also must ensure that at least 75% of our gross income for each taxable year consists of certain types

of income that we derive directly or indirectly from investments relating to real property or mortgages on

real property or qualified temporary investment income and ii at least 95% of our gross income for each

taxable year consists of income that is qualifying income for
purposes

of the 75% gross
income test other

types of interest and dividends gain from the sale or disposition of stock or securities or any combination

of these

In addition we may be required to make distributions to our stockholders at disadvantageous times or when

we do not have funds readily available for distribution If we fail to comply with these requirements at the

end of any calendar quarter we must qualify for certain statutory relief provisions to avoid losing our REIT

qualification and suffering adverse tax consequences As result we may be required to liquidate

otherwise attractive investments and may be unable to pursue investments that would otherwise be
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advantageous to us in order to satisfy the asset and gross
income requirements for qualifying as REIT

These actions could have the effect of reducing our income and the amounts available for distribution to

our stockholders Thus compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to make and in

certain cases maintain ownership of certain attractive investments

We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory tax changes that could reduce the market price of

our securities

At any time the federal income tax laws governing REITs or the administrative interpretations of those

laws may be amended We cannot predict when or if any new federal income tax law regulation or

administrative interpretation or any amendment to any existing federal income tax law regulation or

administrative interpretation will be adopted promulgated or become effective and any such law

regulation or interpretation may take effect retroactively We and our stockholders could be adversely

affected by any such change in or any new federal income tax law regulation or administrative

interpretation

Dividends payable by REITs do not qua4f5.for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends

The maximum tax rate applicable to income from qualified dividends payable to U.S stockholders that

are individuals trusts and estates has been reduced by legislation to 15% currently through the end of

2012 Dividends payable by REITs however generally are not eligible for the reduced rates Although

this legislation does not adversely affect the taxation of REITs or dividends payable by REITs the more

favorable rates applicable to regular corporate qualified dividends could cause investors who are

individuals trusts and estates to perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than

investments in the stocks of non-REIT corporations that pay dividends which could adversely affect the

value of the shares of REITs including our stock

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively and may cause us to incur tax

liabilities

The REIT provisions of the Code substantially limit our ability to hedge our liabilities Any income from

hedging transaction that we enter into to manage risk of interest rate changes price changes or currency

fluctuations with respect to borrowings made or to be made to acquire or carry
real estate assets does not

constitute gross income for
purposes

of the gross income requirements To the extent that we enter into

other types of hedging transactions the income from those transactions is likely to be treated as non-

qualifying income for purposes
of both of the gross income tests As result of these rules we may need to

limit our use of advantageous hedging techniques or implement those hedges through TRSs This could

increase the cost of our hedging activities because any IRS that we may form would be subject to tax on

gains or expose us to greater risks associated with changes in interest rates than we would otherwise want

to bear In addition losses incurred by TRS generally will not provide any tax benefit except for being

carried forward against future taxable income earned by the TRS

To the extent that our distributions represent return of capital for tax purposes you could recognize an

increased capital gain upon subsequent sale ofyour stock

Distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits and not treated by us as

dividend will not be taxable to U.S stockholder to the extent such distributions do not exceed the

stockholders adjusted tax basis in its shares of our stock but instead will constitute return of capital and

will reduce the stockholders adjusted tax basis in its shares of our stock If distributions by us result in

reduction of stockholders adjusted basis in its shares of our stock subsequent sales by such stockholder

of its shares of our stock potentially will result in recognition of an increased capital gain or reduced capital

loss due to the reduction in such stockholders adjusted basis in its shares of our stock

30



Other risks

If we invest in mortgage loans such investments may be affected by unfavorable real estate market

conditions including interest rate fluctuations which could decrease the value of those loans and our

results of operations

If we invest in mortgage loans we will be at risk of defaults by the borrowers on those mortgage loans as

well as interest rate risks To the extent we incur delays in liquidating such defaulted mortgage loans we

may not be able to obtain sufficient proceeds to repay all amounts due to us under the mortgage loans

Further we will not know whether the values of the properties securing the mortgage loans will remain at

the levels existing on the dates of origination of those mortgage loans If the values of the underlying

properties fall our risk will increase because of the lower value of the security associated with such loans

Recent accounting pronouncem ents may impact our results of operations

Beginning January 2009 Accounting Standards Codification or ASC 805 Business Combinations

significantly changed the accounting for acquisitions involving business combinations including our

acquisition of properties with existing leases in place as it requires that the assets and liabilities of all

business combinations be recorded at fair value with limited exceptions ASC 805 requires that all

expenses related to an acquisition be expensed as incurred rather than capitalized into the cost of the

acquisition as had been required by the previous accounting ASC 805 was effective on prospective basis

for all business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual

period subsequent to December 15 2008 We anticipate that approximately 1% of the total acquisition

price will be expensed as part of the acquisition however this amount could differ significantly Because

we only acquired one property during 2010 this pronouncement did not have significant impact on our

operations during 2010 We expect however that the expensing of acquisition costs will lower our

earnings during 2011 and any future years in which we acquire significant amounts of new properties

We are subject to restrictions that may discourage change of control Certain provisions contained in our

articles of incorporation and Maryland law may prohibit or restrict change of control

Our articles of incorporation prohibit ownership of more than 9.8% of the outstanding shares of our

capital stock by one person This restriction may discourage change of control and may deter

individuals or entities from making tender offers for our capital stock which offers might otherwise be

financially attractive to our stockholders or which might cause change in our management

Our board of directors is divided into three classes with the term of the directors in each class expiring

every third year At each annual meeting of stockholders the successors to the class of directors whose

term expires at such meeting will be elected to hold office for term expiring at the annual meeting of

stockholders held in the third
year following the year of their election After election director may only

be removed by our stockholders for cause Election of directors for staggered terms with limited rights to

remove directors makes it more difficult for hostile bidder to acquire control of us The existence of this

provision may negatively impact the price of our securities and may discourage third-party bids to

acquire our securities This provision may reduce any premiums paid to stockholders in change in

control transaction

Certain provisions of Maryland law applicable to us prohibit business combinations with

any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of our common stock

referred to as an interested stockholder

an affiliate of ours who at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question

was an interested stockholder or

an affiliate of an interested stockholder
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These prohibitions
last for five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder became

an interested stockholder Thereafter any business combination with the interested stockholder must be

recommended by our board of directors and approved by the affirmative vote of at least 80% of the votes

entitled to be cast by holders of our outstanding shares of common stock and two-thirds of the votes

entitled to be cast by holders of our common stock other than shares held by the interested stockholder

These requirements could have the effect of inhibiting change in control even if change in control were

in our stockholders interest These provisions of Maryland law do not apply however to business

combinations that are approved or exempted by our board of directors prior to the time that someone

becomes an interested stockholder

Market conditions could adversely affect the market price and trading volume of our securities

The market price of our common and preferred stock may be highly volatile and subject to wide

fluctuations and the trading volume in our common and preferred stock may fluctuate and cause significant

price variations to occur Due to market volatility our common stock significantly fluctuated during 2010

We cannot assure investors that the market price of our common and preferred stock will not fluctuate or

decline further in the future Some market conditions that could negatively affect our share price or result in

fluctuations in the price or trading volume of our securities include

price and volume fluctuations in the stock market from time to time which are often unrelated to the

operating performance of particular companies

significant volatility in the market price and trading volume of shares of REITs real estate companies or

other companies in our sector which is not necessarily related to the performance of those companies

price and volume fluctuations in the stock market as result of terrorist attacks or speculation regarding

future terrorist attacks in the United States or abroad

actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly operating results or distributions to stockholders

changes in our funds from operations or earnings estimates or the publication of research reports about us

or the real estate industry generally

actions by institutional stockholders

speculation in the press or investment community

changes in regulatory policies or tax guidelines particularly with respect to REITs and

investor confidence in the stock market

Shares of common stock eligible for future sale may have adverse effects on our share price

We cannot predict the effect if any of future sales of common stock or the availability of shares for future

sales on the market price of our common stock Sales of substantial amounts of common stock including

shares of common stock issuable upon the conversion of units of our operating partnership that we may

issue from time to time or issuable upon conversion of our senior common stock or the perception that

these sales could occur may adversely affect prevailing market prices for our common stock

Legislative or regulatory action could adversely affect investors

In recent years numerous legislative judicial and administrative changes have been made in the provisions

of the federal and state income tax laws applicable to investments in REIT shares Additional changes to

tax laws are likely to continue to occur in the future and we cannot assure you that any such changes will

not adversely affect the taxation of our stockholders Any such changes could have an adverse effect on an

investment in our shares or on the market value or the resale potential of our properties
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Compliance or failure to comply with laws requiring access to our properties by disabled persons could

result in substantial cost

The Americans with Disabilities Act or ADA and other federal state and local laws generally require

public accommodations be made accessible to disabled persons Noncompliance could result in the

imposition of fines by the government or the award of damages to private litigants These laws may require

us to modify our existing properties These laws may also restrict renovations by requiring improved access

to such buildings by disabled persons or may require us to add other structural features which increase our

construction costs Legislation or regulations adopted in the future may impose further burdens or

restrictions on us with respect to improved access by disabled persons We may incur unanticipated

expenses that may be material to our financial condition or results of operations to comply with ADA and

other federal state and local laws or in connection with lawsuits brought by private litigants

Our Board of Directors may change our investment policy without stockholders approval

Subject to our co-investment policy our Board of Directors will determine its investment and financing

policies growth strategy and its debt capitalization distribution acquisition disposition and operating

policies Our Board of Directors may revise or amend these strategies and policies at any time without

vote by stockholders Accordingly stockholders control over changes in our strategies and policies is

limited to the election of directors and changes made by our Board of Directors may not serve the interests

of stockholders and could adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations including our

ability to distribute cash to stockholders or qualify as REIT

If our Operating Partnership fails to maintain its status as disregarded entity or partnership forfederal

income tax purposes its income may be subject to taxation

As we hold all of the ownership interests in our Operating Partnership it is currently disregarded for

income tax purposes We intend that it will qualify as partnership for income tax purposes upon the

admission of additional partners however if the IRS were to successfully challenge the status of our

Operating Partnership as partnership it would be taxable as corporation In such event this would

reduce the amount of distributions that our Operating Partnership could make to us This could also result

in our losing REIT status and becoming subject to corporate level tax on our income This would

substantially reduce our cash available to pay distributions and the return on your investment In addition if

any of the entities through which our Operating Partnership owns its properties in whole or in part loses

its characterization as disregarded entity or partnership for federal income tax purposes it would be

subject to taxation as corporation thereby reducing distributions to our Operating Partnership Such re

characterization of an underlying property owner could also threaten our ability to maintain REIT status

Joint venture investments could be adversely affected by our lack of sole decision making authority our

reliance on co-venturers financial condition and disputes between our co-venturers and us

We may invest with third parties through partnerships joint ventures or other entities acquiring non-

controlling interests in or sharing responsibility for managing the affairs of property partnership joint

venture or other entity In such event we will not have sole decision-making authority regarding the

property partnership joint venture or other entity Investments in partnerships joint ventures or other

entities may under certain circumstances involve risks not present were third party not involved

including the possibility that partners or co-venturers may become bankrupt or fail to fund their share of

required capital contributions Partners or co-venturers also may have economic or other business interests

or goals that are inconsistent with our business interests or goals and may be in position to take actions

contrary to our preferences policies or objectives Such investments also will have the potential risk of our

reaching impasses with our partners or co-venturers on key decisions such as sale because neither we

nor the partner or co-venturer would have full control over the partnership or joint venture Disputes

between us and partners or co-venturers may result in litigation or arbitration that would increase our

expenses and prevent our management team from focusing its time and effort exclusively on our business

In addition we may in some circumstances be liable for the actions of our third-party partners or co

venturers
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Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to take action against our directors and officers are limited

Maryland law provides that director or officer has no liability in that capacity if he or she performs his or

her duties in good faith in manner he or she reasonably believes to be advisable and in our best interests

and with the care that an ordinarily prudent person in like position would use under similar

circumstances In addition our charter eliminates our directors and officers liability to us and our

stockholders for money damages except for liability resulting from actual receipt of an improper benefit in

money property or services or active and deliberate dishonesty established by final judgment and that is

material to the cause of action and ii requires us to indemnif directors and officers for liability resulting

from actions taken by them in those capacitates to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law As

result our stockholders and we may have more limited rights against our directors and officers than might

otherwise exist under common law In addition we may be obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by

our directors and officers

Any weaknesses identified in our system of internal controls by us and our independent registered public

accounting firm pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 could have an adverse effect on

our business

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires that public companies evaluate and report on their

systems of internal control over financial reporting In addition our independent registered public

accounting firm must report on managements evaluation of those controls In future periods we may

identify deficiencies in our system of internal controls over financial reporting that may require

remediation There can be no assurances that any such future deficiencies identified may not be material

weaknesses that would be required to be reported in future periods

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None
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Item Properties

The following table provides certain summary information about our 65 properties as of December 31

2010

Tofol Rentol

blot Rnt8oI Itwonw for
Itwoow per Ynor of

Ynor 068 Rotloble 1l Roind Ooceed Sptarn Loose

Property Iqtmsotnools Date of Ptenlatsn Sgsare Foot 0ccttoooy Decen1nor 31 2010 Foot Fob

208 Sotlh Rotn Loon

Ro1eNC 1997 12/23/2003 58926 100% 624.18 10.59 2015

3874 I4/Ithw1 Path NW
Cotlott OH 1994 1/30/2004 54018 100% 337625 6.25 2014

260 Spnik1e Orion

Akron OH 968/1999 4/292504 8389 100% 1.026.692 12.24 2015

5815 Wentpatis Drise

ClorfotteNC 984/1995 6/302004 64500 00% 1006553 15.61 2019

17 Grnat0akDrioe

CatIon NC 1998 7/62004 228000 1005 600145 2.63 2024

RI 219 TIxPowolNo 33-251-0246

St inn Towtwh PA 199 8/52004 290000 100% 930522 3.21 2014

9698 088 US Hwy 52

LenitgtonNC 1986 8/5/2004 154000 00% 424964 2.76 2014

9100 Hiway 290 Fast

Aattit TX 200 9/162004 51933 100% 751333 14.47 2015

13 habmtndl Pork Drive

s1t Pocoro PA 1995-1999 10/152004 223275 100% 637025 2.85 202

6550 Foot Path Ten Boolevard

SaoAtrtonoclX 1999 2/10/2005 60245 100% 769793 12.78 2014

4630 JotnonI Street

Coi.nirtoOH 1995 2/10/2005 39000 100% 308105 7.90 2015

I99SitgSitgRood

OteFfofoNY 2001 4/15/2005 120000 lOW/a 644252 5.37 2013

2525 North Woodbwn Asetow

Wabia KS 2000 5/182005 69287 100 1109217 16.0 2012

725 737 Orb Sotlhwent Pkooy

Anli90ot TX 1966 5/262005 64000 100 580635 9.07 2013

4032 LooSen Avetoo

Dayton OH 1956 6/302005 59894 100% 268042 4.48 2018

Corbel Way

FototOown NJ 199 7/2/2005 30268 100% 53732 17.75 2024

17 20 Vemaaso Avetaor

Fmrk1itTowmbNJ 1978 7/11/2005 183000 l00% 975229 5.33 2020

ISO Rilgevrw Cerlen Drive

Datwort SC 1984/2001/2007 7/14/2005 222670 OO/o 1539286 6.9 2020

170 Rideview Cetrtne Drive

Droasoat SC 1984/2001/2007 7/14/2005 55350 lOW/a 382627 6.91 2020

5656 Con1tto Patirwoy

HaonwoodM0 1977 8/52005 51155 100 289928 5.67 2012

914 Wohivrt Street

Aagob IN 1982 922005 52080 100% 125202 2.40 2020

000 Growth Pathway

Argth IN 1998 922005 50000 100% 125202 2.50 2020

802 Root 11th Street

Rook Pa IL 1988 9/22005 52000 100 125202 2.4 2020

Oppotttariy Woy

Oewbtayport MA 1994 0/172005 86308 100 891492 10.33 2015

255 Spei Street

Cbeoavlth WI 992 10/31/2003 291142 OO% 575006 1.98 2020

S700LeeRoad

Moph HeIa 011 1974 12/21/3005 347218 00 1282582 3.69 2015

7545 Miifodrin Ttntthe

Rhlamtsl VA 1972 2/30t2005 42213 O% 421672 9.99 2010

3930 Sratfornat Cort

FolndoOH 1979 12/30/2005 23368 100 327152 14.00 2020
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Total Rental

Total Rental Irronw lir Incone per Year of

Year Baik/ Rentable Occupnd Square Lease

Properly laqrrovenwnlu DuteofPurchase SgaareFeet Occupancy Decenther3l20l0t Foot Eupeation

75 Carant Street

South 1-ladley MA 1978 2/15/2006 150000 0% 179837 1.20 2010

2101 Fox Dove

Clrarraion IL 1996 2/21/2006 20400 100% 295.220 14.47 2013

2109 FoxDrive

Chatstaign IL 1996 2/21/2006 40000 100% 578863 14.47 2013

2215 FoxDrive

Chan9raign IL 1996 2/21/2006 25000 100% 361790 14.47 2013

2381 Fox Drive

Chanpaigtt IL 1996 2/21/2006 22862 100% 330849 14.47 2013

2470 Higlarresl Road

Roseville MN 1964 2/21/2006 359540 100% 3030458 8.43 2012

12000 Portlerul Avenue South

Bunrs MN 1984 5/10/2006 114100 IOO% 1234662 10.82 2015

14701 Anthor Avenue

Merarnutnee Fatle WI 1986/2000 6/30/2006 125692 100% 775.274 6.17 2016

1025 Binisong Drive

BaylossnTX 1997 7/I 1/2006 12000 100% 254121 21.18 2013

42400 Merrill Road

Sterling Heights MI 1979/1989 9/22/2006 532869 100% 1166654 2.19 2016

21502200 Person Valley Parkway

BbmtirghansAL 1961/1980 9/29/2006 63514 100% 271.173 4.27 2016

2325 West Farvlew Avenue

Montgonnry AL 1962/1989 9/29/2006 29472 100% 125830 4.27 2016

5221 NHighway763

Colmism MO 1978 9/29/2006 16275 100% 69406 4.27 2016

4690 Parkway Drive

Mason OH 2002 /5/2007 60000 100% 681270 11.35 2013

201 South Ro0rs Lane

Raleigh NC 1994 2/16/2007 115500 00% 717203 6.21 2015

1110 West Tenkiller

Tuba OK 2004 3/1/2007 238310 100% 1565794 6.57 2019

3725 EasI tOthCourt

Hleah FL 1956/1992 3/9/2007 132337 100% 995048 7.52 2022

554 Clank Road

Tewkubtay MA 1985/1989 5/17/2007 102200 100% 922926 9.03 2017

5324 Natorp Boulevard

Mason OH 2007 7/1/2007 21264 100% 583131 27.42 2027

7282 Witlem Buoy Boulevard

Crem NY 2005 9/6/2007 71880 100% 529743 7.37 2020

1515 Arboretum Drive SE

Grand Rapids Ml 2001 9/28/2007 63235 100% 1068550 16.90 2025

Terrrtorral CoraS

Bollioghanok IL 2002 9/20/2007 55869 100% 619296 11.08 2014

2349 Lawrerarexllle Highway

Decatur GA 1989 12/13/2007 16740 100% 404159 24.14 2026

2341 Lawrnrweville Highway

Decatur GA 1989 12/13/2007 4372 100% 105555 24.14 2026

2339 Lawrerweville Highway

Decatur GA 1989 12/13/2007 5480 100% 132498 24.14 2026

311 Phillip Boulevard

Lawrerrevllle GA 2005 12/13/2007 12412 100% 349871 28.19 2026

2096 McGee Road

Sneilville GA 1986 12/13/2007 3800 100% 90815 23.90 2026
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Total Rental

Total Rental Incona for lnconn per
Year of

Year Built Rentable

the
Occupied Sqanre Lease

Property tnqrovennnts Date of Purchese Square Feet Occupancy
Decen4ser3l2010ro Foot Eupiration

7174 Wheat Street

CovisgtonGA 2000 12/13/2007 5000 100% 119493 23.90 2026

1055 Haw Creek Parkway

Cunising GA 2004 12/13/2007 13919 100% 380410
27.33 2026

1293 Wetlbrook Circle

Coirjers GA 1994 12/13/2007 6400 100% 152951
23.90 2026

425 Galeway Drive

Reading PA 2007 1/29/2008 42900 100% 716666 16.71 2028

6499 UniversttyAvenae NE

Fridtey MN 1985/2006 2/26/2008 74160 100% 890432 12.01 2013

7528 AubsenRoad

ConcardTownshipOH 1957/2008 3/31/2008 273.300 100% 1724133 6.31 2028

10021 Rodney Street

PinevilleNC
1985 4/30/2008 74950 100% 431.424 5.76 2028

28305 State Route

Marietta OH 1992/2007 8/29/2008 223458 100% 896743 4.01 2028

400 Hiajtpoint Drive

ChatfontPA
1987 8/29/2008 67200 100% 757571

11.27 2016

1520 Ahany Place SE

OrasgeCityIowa
1990 12/15/2010 487121 100% 53215 2.37 2026

Totals 6791.280 41180036

Two tenants occupy this building each with separate
leases ending in the same year

Rental income per occupied square
foot is annualized as if the building were held for all of 2010

Property subject to ground lease

Total rental income included in this table is straight-line rental income calculated in accordance with US GAAP

The following table summarizes the lease expirations by year
for our properties for leases in place as of

December 31 2010
Rental Revenue for

Year of Lease
Number of the Year Ended of Annualized

Expiration Square Feet Leases December 31 2010 Base Rent

2010 192213 601509 1.5%

2011
0.0%

2012 479982 4429603 10.8%

2013 438422 4617432 11.2%

2014 614132 3082200 7.5%

2015 896876 6836187 16.6%

2016 835022 3165988 7.7%

2017 102200 922926 2.2%

2018 59894 268042 0.7%

2019 3172539 22 17256149 41.8%

Total 6791280 52 41180036 100%

Two leases expired during the third quarter of 2010 and neither of these properties have yet to be re-leased

The following table summarizes the geographic locations of our properties for leases in place as of

December 31 2010
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Rental Revenue for

Number of
the Year Ended of Annualized

State Square Feet Leases December 31 2010 Base Rent

Ohio 1185411 11 7435475 18.1%

Minnesota 547800 5155552 12.5%

North Carolina 695876 3804407 9.2%

Pennsylvania 623375 3041784 7.4%

Texas 188178 2355882 5.7%

Michigan 596104 2235204 5.4%

Illinois 164131 2186018 5.3%

Massachusetts 338508 1994255 4.8%

AllOtherStates 2451897 17 12971459 31.6%

Total 6791280 52 41180036 100%

Two leases eNDired during the third quarter of 2010 and neither of these properties have yet to be re-leased

Item Legal Proceedings

We are not currently subject to any material legal proceedings nor to our knowledge is any material legal

proceeding threatened against us

Item Removed and Reserved
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases

of Equity Securities

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol GOOD The

following table reflects the range of the high and low sale prices of our conimon stock on the Nasdaq

Global Select Market and the distributions per share for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009

Distributions to stockholders are declared quarterly and paid monthly Amounts presented represent the

cumulative amount of the distributions declared for the months composing such quarter

Market price per share

Distributions

Quarter Ended High Low Declared Per Share

3/31/2009 10.20 5.36 0.375

6/30/2009 16.21 8.20 0.375

9/30/2009 14.50 11.26 0.375

12/31/2009 14.19 11.85 0.375

3/31/2010 14.87 13.05 0.375

6/30/2010 17.79 14.36 0.375

9/30/2010 17.30 15.61 0.375

12/31/2010 19.50 17.00 0.375

Since inception we have never reduced our per-share distributions nor have we missed payment of

scheduled distribution to our stockholders Our Board of Directors regularly evaluates our per
share

distribution payments as they monitor the capital markets and the impact that the economy has upon us

The decision as to whether to authorize and pay distributions on shares of our common stock in the future

as well as the timing amount and composition of any such future distributions will be at the sole and

absolute discretion of our Board of Directors in light of conditions then existing including our earnings

FF0 financial condition liquidity capital requirements debt maturities the availability of capital

contractual prohibitions or other restrictions applicable REIT and legal restrictions and general overall

economic conditions and other factors While the statements above concerning our distribution policy

represent our current expectations any actual distribution payable will be determined by our Board of

Directors based upon the circumstances at the time of declaration and the actual number of shares then

outstanding and any distribution payable may vary
from such expected amounts

In order to qualify as REIT we are required to make ordinary dividend distributions to our stockholders

The amount of these distributions must equal at least

the sum of 90% of our REIT taxable income computed without regard to the dividends paid

deduction and capital gain and 90% of the net income after tax if any from foreclosure

property less

the sum of certain non-cash items

For federal income tax purposes our distributions generally consist of ordinary income capital gains

nontaxable return of capital or combination of those items Distributions that exceed our current and

accumulated earnings and profits calculated for tax purposes constitute return of capital rather than

dividend which reduces stockholders basis in its shares of stock and will not be taxable to the extent of

the stockholders basis in its shares of our stock To the extent distribution exceeds the stockholders

share of both our current and accumulated earnings and profits and the stockholders basis in its shares of

our stock that distribution will be treated as gain from the sale or exchange of that stockholders shares of

our stock Every year we notify stockholders of the taxability of distributions paid to stockholders during

the preceding year
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As of February 2011 there were approximately 7921 beneficial owners of our common stock

On November 19 2009 the Company entered into dealer manager agreement as amended and restated

on December 22 2009 or the Dealer Manager Agreement with Halcyon Capital Markets LLC or

Halcyon pursuant to which Halcyon agreed to act as the Companys dealer manager in connection with the

Companys continuous private offering of up to 3333333 shares of its then newly-designated unregistered

senior common stock par value $0.00l per share at price of $15.00 per share to investors and selling

commission of $l.6l25 per share On October 19 2010 the Company terminated the private offering of

unregistered senior common stock including the related dividend reinvestment plan for such senior

common stock The Company issued 59057 shares of unregistered senior common stock pursuant to the

private offering and related dividend reinvestment plan These issuances were exempt from registration

pursuant to the Securities Act and to Rule 506 thereunder among other exemptions on the basis that the

securities were sold in private offering not involving general solicitation and that the purchasers of the

securities were accredited investors Net proceeds from these sales after selling commissions and dealer

manager fees were approximately $787000
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Item Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data for the fiscal years
ended December 31 2010 2009 2008 2007 and

2006 is derived from our audited consolidated financial statements Certain amounts from prior years

financial statements have been reclassified to discontinued operations and these reclassifications had no

effect on previously reported net income or stockholders equity The data should be read in conjunction

with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this report and

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in

Item of this report

Forthe year ended Drarndrer3l

2010 2009 2000 2007 2006

O09rating Dab

Total operating nvrnnr

Total npnraing rpenses

Dtherntprnse

Incense kern continning nperntinns

Discontinued npernsinns

Nut incense

Dividends stribntable so preferred slack

Dividends atsribntnble In senior center sleek

Nns inoonse available to onnnsrnn stockholders

Share and Per Share Dab

Earnirsgs pee weighted nvernge oenasrnn share basic

tnoenrn barn cenrinaing eperetions ncr of dividends attributable to preferred sleek

Disonnrinned epnrntions

Net incense available to conrrren steohboldrrs

Earnings per wuighted uverngr cnnnmn share diluted

Incanse born cantinning nprrnrions net afdividrnds sreribntnblr In preferred sleek

Diseantinnrd eperntions

Net incense available to constrnn stnchholdorn

Weighted avrrngr shares aatstanding-busic

Wnighted averngr shares eatstanding-dilntrd

Disk dividends declared per canreren share

Sapçslrmrntal Dab

Net incense available to canrrren stockholders

Real estate depreciation and nnrnrtioation including discantinard epernsions

Loss clam or sale of real estate net oftrnus paid

Ennds horn operetiens available to oonnrren stockholders

Ratio of earnings to condtinrd lined charges and preferred dividends
St

Bataasr Shrrt Dab

41928070 42608957 40807497 32690038 23842045

234t4572 20540529 19363723 15791d30 14035669

13585590 t7tt91 16570753 10940394 8521419

4927908 4399948 d873021 5958214 3284957

203100 39926 182015 1007871

4927908 4603048 4912947 6140229 4372828

4093750 41193750 4093750 4093750 2186890

20050

814108 509298 819197 2046479 2180939

0.09 004 0.09 0.22 0.14

0.02 aoi 002 0.14

0.09 0.06 0.10 024 020

0.09 0.04 0.09 0.22 014

002 0.01 aol 0.13

0.09 0.06 0.10 ass 0.27

0565149 0565204 7027791

8565149 0565264 7906690

1.30 1.44 1.44

309298 919197 2946479 2185938

13171703 12794641 10528458 8349474

78097 1106590

___________________ __________________ 13523938 12496270 9428922

l.lu l.tv liv

FF0 was developed by The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts NAREIT as relative non

GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States supplemental measure of operating

performance of an equity REIT in order to recognize that income-producing real estate historically has not depreciated

on the basis determined under GAAP FF0 as defined by NAREIT is net income loss computed in accordance with

GAAP excluding gains or losses from sales of property plus depreciation and amortization of real estate assets and

after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures FF0 does not represent cash flows from operating

activities in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered an alternative to either net income loss as an

indication of our performance or to cash flow from operations as measure of liquidity or ability to make distributions

to stockholders Comparison of FF0 to similarly titled measures for other REITs may not necessarily be meaningflfl

due to possible differences in the application of the NAREIT definition used by such REITs

FF0 available to common stockholders is FF0 adjusted to subtract preferred share and senior common share

distributions We believe that net income available to common stockholders is the most directly comparable GAAP

measure to FF0 available to common stockholders

Basic flinds from operations per share or Basic FF0 per share and diluted fronds from operations per share or Diluted

FF0 per share is FF0 available to common stockholders divided by weighted average common shares outstanding and

FF0 available to common stockholders divided by weighted average common shares outstanding on diluted basis

respectively during period We believe that FF0 available to common stockholders Basic FF0 per share and

Diluted FF0 per share are useful to investors because they provide investors with further context for evaluating our

8563264

8563204

1.50

8576303

8601153

1.50

814108

13263814

14077922 13520963

1.06 lOu

Real estate before uoonrnulutrd depreciation 401016940 390753892 390562138 340500406 243713542

Totulassrts 410608602 416869373 429098785 378902689 315766022

Monguge notos payable lenuluan and burruwings under the line ufcrodit
287869463 285961651 206611173 226520471 154494438

Tntnlstochholdetvrqufty 111374307 118450542 130495260 142368068 152224176

Total cunsnlsn shares onlstanding 8724613 8363264 8565149 8365264 8565264
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FF0 results in the same manner that investors use net income and earnings per share or EPS in evaluating net income

available to common stockholders In addition since most REITs provide FF0 available to common stockholders

Basic FF0 and Diluted FF0 per share information to the investment community we believe these are useful

supplemental measures for comparing us to other REITs We believe that net income is the most directly comparable

GAAP measure to FF0 Basic EPS is the most directly comparable GAAP measure to Basic FF0 per share and that

diluted EPS is the most directly comparable GAAP measure to Diluted FF0 per share

The following table provides reconciliation of our FF0 for the years ended December31 2010 2009 2008 2007 and

2006 to the most directly comparable GAAP measure net income and computation of basic and diluted FF0 per

weighted average common share and basic and diluted net income per weighted average common share

For the year ended December31

2010 2009 2000 2007 2006

Net inconre 4927908 4603948 4912947 6140229 4372828

Less Distributions attributable to prcferrnd and senior conarntn ttock 4113800 4093750 4093750 4093750 2106890

Net hsconre available to 000nnan stockholders 814108 509298 819197 2046479 2185938

Add Real estate depreciation and anrartization including

discontinued operations 13263814 13171703 12704641 10528458 0349474

Less lain on sale of real estate 160038 78667 1106590

FF0 available to canrnasn stockholders 14077922 13520963 13523838 12496270 9428822

Weighted average shams outstanding basic 8576303 0563264 0565149 8565264 7827781

Weighted average shams outstanding diluted 8601153 8563264 8565149 8565204 7986690

Basic nd inconre pnrweightnd average sham ofcannoon stack 0.09 0.06 0.10 0.24 0.28

Dilated not income perweighted average sham ofconntran stock 0.09 0.06 0.10 0.24 0.27

Basic FFoperweighted average sham ofconntran stock 1.64 1.50 1.50 1.46 1.20

Diluted FFopnrweighted average share of connmnmn stock 1.64 1.58 1.58 1.46 ItS

Distributions declared pershare ofcanssson stock 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.44 1.44

Percentage of FF0 paid per
share ofcammon stock 91% 95% 95% 909/a 120%

The calculation of the ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred distributions is below Earnings

consist of net income from continuing operations before fixed charges Fixed charges consist of interest expense

amortization of deferred financing fees and the portion of operating lease expense that represents interest The portion

of operating lease expense that represents interest is calculated by dividing the amount of rent expense allocated to us

by our Adviser as part of the administration fee payable under the Advisory Agreement by three

For the year ended December31

2010 2009 2098 2067 2906

Net inconm framcnntinning operations 4927908 4399940 4873021 5958214 3284957

Add fined charges 21191303 22000720 20963409 15670067 11496476

Less pmefrend and scuiorconmumn distibntians 4113880 4093750 4093750 4093750 2186890

Eamings 22005411 22306926 21742755 17534531 12508543

Fired Chaegna

Interest ergense 16031755 16398930 15574735 10047346 8041412

Annerrization nfdefetred financiog fees 1030982 1495590 1253952 717195 1297198

Eatinutedintemstconpanentofmnt 14766 12442 11047 11776 54976

Preferred and senior canasnen distributions 4113800 4093750 4093750 4093750 2186890

Total fired charges and preferred distributions 21191303 22080728 20963484 15670067 11490476

Ratio of comings to combined fined charges and preferred distributions 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.1
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The fbi/owing analysis of our /Inanciai condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction

with our /inancia/ statements and the notes thereto contained elsewhere in this Form /0-K

OVERVIEW

General

We were incorporated under the General Corporation Law of the State of Maryland on February 14 2003

primarily for the
purpose

of investing in and owning net leased industrial and commercial real property and

selectively making long-term industrial and commercial mortgage loans Most of the portfolio of real

estate that we currently own is leased to wide cross section of tenants ranging from small businesses to

large public companies many of which are corporations that do not have publicly-rated debt We have

historically entered into and intend in the future to enter into purchase agreements for real estate having

triple net leases with terms of approximately 10 to 15
years

and built in rental rate increases Under triple

net lease the tenant is required to pay all operating maintenance and insurance costs and real estate taxes

with respect to the leased property We are actively communicating with buyout funds real estate brokers

and other third parties to locate properties for potential acquisition or to provide mortgage financing in an

effort to build our portfolio At December 31 2010 we owned 65 properties totaling approximately 6.8

million square
feet The total gross investment in these properties was approximately $446.4 million at

December 2010

Business Environment

The United States is beginning to recover from the recession that it entered into during late 2007 though it

continues to experience pervasive and fundamental disruptions in its financial and capital markets

Unemployment remains high and housing starts are low and these key economic indicators will need to

improve in order for the economy to fully recover As result conditions within the U.S capital markets

generally and the U.S real estate capital markets particularly continue to experience significant

dislocation and stress While we are seeing signs of stabilization in both the equity and debt capital

markets these markets remain challenging and we do not know if adverse conditions will again intensify

nor are we able to gauge the full extent to which the disruptions will affect us We believe that it will take

some time for the United States to fully recover from the recession

As result the continued challenging economic conditions could still materially and adversely impact the

financial condition of one or more of our tenants and therefore could increase the likelihood that tenant

may declare bankruptcy or default upon its payment obligations arising under related lease

Moreover our ability to make new investments is highly dependent upon our ability to procure external

financing Our principal sources of external financing generally include the issuance of equity securities

long-term mortgages secured by properties and borrowings under our line of credit The market for long-

term mortgages has been limited as the collateralized mortgage-backed securities or CMBS market has

experienced significant disruption With the stresses upon the CMBS market many banks are not lending

on industrial and commercial real estate as they are no longer able to sell these loans to the CMBS market

and are not willing or able to keep these loans on their balance sheets In addition many banks have

significantly curtailed their general lending practices as they are having difficulty valuing the underlying

real estate in this market We are however beginning to see banks that are willing to issue medium-term

mortgages between two and five years on substantially less favorable terms than were previously

available Consequently we continue to focus on using medium-term mortgages to finance our real estate

activities until the market for long-term mortgages returns
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Recent Developments

Investment Activities

On April 15 2005 we originated mortgage loan in the amount of$lO.0 million that was collateralized by

an office building located in McLean Virginia in which Gladstone Management Corporation or our

Adviser and Gladstone Administration LLC or our Administrator are subtenants The mortgage loan was

originally set to mature in May 2017 though on July 22 2010 it was fully repaid We received $3.3

million of additional income and prepayment fees in connection with the early payment and the proceeds

were used to repay portion of our line of credit

During the year ended December 2010 we acquired one property The property is 487121 square

foot office/industrial building located in Orange City Iowa for approximately $12.3 million including

related acquisition expenses We funded this acquisition through combination of borrowings from the

New Line of Credit and the assumption of approximately 0.8 million of mortgage debt on the property

At closing the seller assigned to us the existing triple net lease with Staples Contract Commercial Inc

the commercial delivery and fulfillment division of Staples Inc The existing triple net lease has

remaining term of approximately sixteen years and the mortgage debt related to the
property matures in

December 2026 The existing triple net lease provides for aggregate rents of approximately $1.2 million in

2011 with prescribed annual rental rate escalations commencing in 2012

Financing Activities

In December 20l0 we procured new line of credit or the New Line of Credit with Capital One N.A

serving as revolving lender letter of credit issuer and as an administrative agent and Branch Banking

and Trust Company serving as revolving lender and letter of credit issuer which matures on December

28 2013 The New Line of Credit replaced our prior $50.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility

which was scheduled to mature on December 29 2010 or the Prior Line of Credit The New Line of Credit

provides for senior secured revolving credit facility of up to $50.0 million with standby letter of credit

sublimit of up to $20.0 million The New Line of Credit is subject to maximum borrowing base

calculation which may from time to time affect the maximum amount available to be drawn The New

Line of Credit may upon satisfaction of certain conditions be expanded up to $75.0 million

In connection with procuring the New Line of Credit we repaid the $29.8 million outstanding balance of

the Prior Line of Credit with funds drawn from the New Line of Credit and with existing cash We incurred

no early termination penalties or fees in connection with the repayment of outstanding balance of the Prior

Line of Credit There was $27.0 million outstanding under the line at December 31 2010 and we had an

available borrowing capacity of $5.9 million thereunder at December 2010

Debt Actvitie.c

We had $48.0 million of balloon principal payments maturing under one of our long-term mortgages in

2010 however the mortgage has three annual extension options through 2013 and we exercised one of

these options on September 30 2010 In connection with the exercise of the option the interest rate reset

from 6.85% to 4.58% At the time of notification of extension we remitted fee of 0.25% of the

outstanding principal balance or $120000 and certification to the lender that our aggregate debt service

coverage ratio is not less than 1.2 The interest rate for the two additional extension periods will adjust

based upon the I-year swap rate at the time of extension and fixed spread of 4.29% and 4.41%

respectively We expect to exercise our remaining two annual extension options as they come due in 2011

and 2012 We have no other balloon principal payments due under any of our mortgages until 20l3
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Equity Activities

We raised approximately $3.4 million in net proceeds during 2010 under our open market sale agreement

or the Open Market Sale Agreement with Jefferies Company Inc or Jefferies Under this agreement

we may from time to time offer to sell shares of our common stock with an aggregate sales price of up to

$25.0 million on the open market through Jefferies as agent or to Jefferies as principal based upon our

instructions including any price time or size limits or other customary parameters or conditions that we

may impose Sales of shares of our common stock through Jefferies will be executed by means of ordinary

brokers transactions on the NASDAQ Global Select Market or otherwise at market prices in privately

negotiated transactions crosses or block transactions as may be agreed between us and Jefferies including

combination of any of these transactions We will pay Jefferies commission equal to 2.0% of the gross

sates proceeds of any common stock sold through Jefferies as agent under the Open Market Sale

Agreement and currently we have paid commission to Jefferies of approximately $65000 To date we

have sold 192365 shares of common stock under the Open Market Sale Agreement The proceeds were

used to repay portion of our Prior Line of Credit and fund the acquisition of the property in Orange City

Iowa

On November 19 2009 we entered into dealer manager agreement or the Dealer Manager Agreement as

amended and restated on December 22 2009 with Halcyon Capital Markets LLC or Halcyon pursuant to

which Halcyon agreed to act as our dealer manager in connection with our continuous private offering of

up to 3333333 shares of our then newly designated unregistered senior common stock at $15.00 per
share

Holders of the unregistered senior common stock have the right but not the obligation following the fifth

anniversary of the issuance of such shares to exchange any or all of such shares of senior common stock

for shares of our common stock On October 19 2010 we terminated the private offering of unregistered

senior common stock including the dividend reinvestment plan for the senior common stock In connection

with the termination we wrote-off approximately $1.6 million of fees incurred in relation to the offering

The expenses
consisted primarily of legal accounting and fees paid to Halcyon and are recorded as

professional fees in our consolidated statement of operations We issued 59057 shares of unregistered

senior common stock pursuant to the private offering and related dividend reinvestment plan Net proceeds

from these sales after selling commissions and dealer manager fees were approximately $787000

On February 2011 we sold 725000 shares of our common stock at $18.35 per share in an underwritten

public offering of our common stock Subsequently on February 16 2011 we sold an additional 108750

shares of common stock on the same terms and conditions in connection with the underwriters exercise of

their over-allotment option The net proceeds after deducting the underwriting discount and estimated

offering expenses were approximately $14.3 million We used the proceeds of the offering to repay

portion of the outstanding balance under our New Line of Credit The shares were issued under our

effective shelf registration statement on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission or SEC

Leasing Activities

On May 2010 we extended the lease with the tenant that occupies our property located in Grand Rapids

Michigan for period of 15 years and the tenant has options to extend the lease for additional periods of

10 years
each The lease was originally set to expire in July 2016 and will now expire in April 2025 The

lease provides for prescribed rent escalations over the life of the lease with annualized straight line rents of

approximately $1.1 million

On June 30 2010 and July 2010 respectively the leases with the tenants that occupied our properties

located in South 1-ladley Massachusetts and Richmond Virginia respectively expired and currently

remain vacant These two leases comprised approximately 2.6% of our total annualized rental income We

are actively seeking new tenants for these two properties while concurrently researching alternative uses for

these two properties

On September 29 2010 the tenant in our building located in Hazelwood Missouri declared bankruptcy

The lease for this property is scheduled to expire in January 2012 and rental income from this tenant

comprises less than 1% of our total annualized rental income On March 2011 the lease was rejected in
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the bankruptcy proceedings of our tenant We have been informed that the rent payments will cease at the

end of April 2011 We are taking the appropriate action to re-tenant the property

On October 2010 we extended the lease with the tenant that occupies our property located in Toledo

Ohio for period of 10 years and the tenant has options to extend the lease for additional periods of 10

years each The lease was originally set to expire in December 2010 and will now expire in December

2020 The lease provides for prescribed rent escalations over the life of the lease with annualized straight

line rents of approximately $276000

On December 14 2010 we released the current tenant in our property located in Cumming Georgia from

its obligations under their existing lease and simultaneously signed lease with new tenant under

substantially the same terms The new tenant is an Atlanta Georgia based hospital system that acquired

part of the current tenants business part of which is housed in our Cumming Georgia facility The

current tenant is medical group that continues to lease the remainder of our properties located in Georgia

under master lease In connection with services provided directly by our Adviser to the tenant the tenant

paid real estate advisory fee to our Adviser in the amount of $450000

On December 30 2010 we extended the lease with the tenant that occupies our property located in Fridley

Minnesota for period of 10 years and the tenant has one option to extend the lease for period of
years

The lease was originally set to expire in January 2013 and will now expire in July 2020 The lease provides

for prescribed rent escalations over the life of the lease with annualized straight line rents of approximately

$812000

On January 31 2011 we extended the lease with our tenant occupying five of our properties located in

Decatur Georgia Lawrenceville Georgia Sneilville Georgia Covington Georgia and Conyers Georgia

The lease covering all of these properties was extended for an additional five year period thereby

extending the lease until December 2031 The lease was originally set to expire in December 2026 The

lease provides for prescribed rent escalations over the life of the lease with annualized straight line rents of

approximately $1.6 million Furthermore the lease grants the tenant four options to extend the lease for

period of five years each

All of our remaining tenants are current and paying in accordance with their leases

Diversity of Our Portfolio

Gladstone Management Corporation or our Adviser seeks to diversify our portfolio to avoid dependence

on any one particular tenant geographic market or tenant industry By diversifying our portfolio our

Adviser intends to reduce the adverse effect on our portfolio of single under-performing investment or

downturn in any particular industry or geographic market Our largest tenant at December 31 2010

comprised approximately 7.4% of our total rental income and our largest concentration of properties was

located in Ohio which accounted for approximately 18.1% of our total rental income The table below

reflects the breakdown of our total rental income by tenant industry classification for the years ended

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively
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Dicenr 312511 Decer 3l2H9

Percentage of Percentage
of

Industry
Classification Rental Inconic Rental lncon Rental lnconr Rental Inconic

llectrunics 61657811 15.0% 6164789 14.9/

tlealthcarv Education isiklcare 6145415 14.9% 6145415 14.8%

Tclcconiaintcations 5447365 13.3/ 5447033 13.1%

Diversified/Congkinicrite Manufacturing 3664.686 8.9/ 3664686 11.11%

bcnicals Plastics Rubber 3130133 7.6% 3173514 7.6%

Machmcry 2.332.6fl 5.7% 2.389.807 5.8/

Containeja Packaging
sass 2330.715 5.7% 2.330.246 5.6%

Beverage Food Tobacco 2188793 5.2% 21118755 5.3%

Printing Publishing
2.187.504 5.3% 2.189033 5.3%

Buiklings and Real Intatc 2.075103 5.0% 2.025.668 4.9%

1282.582 3.1% 1.138136 2.7/

Pernonal Non.1urableCorniunrrPmduct% 1.228100 2.9% 1354.721 3.3%

Autonubtlc 1166654 2.8% 1166654 2.11%

Personal Food Miscellaneous Service 575006 1.4% 575006 1.4%

Itonic 001cc Furnishings
529743 1.3% 529743 1.3%

Insurance 421.672 1.0% 722.866 1.7%

1versificd/ongkrnrtatc Services 308.105 0.9% 308.105 07%

41180036 I00.Ohi/ 41513977 100.0%

Our Adviser and Administrator

Our Adviser is led by management team which has extensive experience purchasing real estate and

originating mortgage loans Our Adviser is controlled by Mr David Gladstone our chairman and chief

executive officer Mr Gladstone is also the chairman and chief executive officer of our Adviser Terry Lee

Brubaker our vice chairman chief operating officer secretary and director is member of the board of

directors of our Adviser as well as its vice chairman and chief operating officer George Stelijes Ill our

president chief investment officer and director is member of the board of directors of our Adviser and its

president and chief investment officer Gladstone Administration LLC or our Administrator employs our

chief financial officer chief compliance officer internal counsel treasurer investor relations and their

respective staffs

Our Adviser and Administrator also provide investment advisory and administrative services respectively

to our affiliates Gladstone Capital Corporation and Gladstone Investment Corporation both publicly-

traded business development companies as well as Gladstone Land Corporation private agricultural real

estate company With the exception of our chief financial officer all of our executive officers serve as

either directors or executive officers or both of Gladstone Capital Corporation and Gladstone Investment

Corporation In the future our Adviser may provide investment advisory services to other funds both

public and private of which it is the sponsor

Advisory and Administration Agreements

We are externally managed pursuant to contractual arrangements
with our Adviser and our Administrator

Our Adviser and Administrator employ all of our personnel and pay their payroll benefits and general

expenses directly We have an advisory agreement with our Adviser or the Advisory Agreement and an

administration agreement with our Administrator or the Administration Agreement

Under the terms of the Advisory Agreement we are responsible for all expenses
incurred for our direct

benefit Examples of these expenses include legal accounting interest on short-term debt and mortgages

tax preparation directors and officers insurance stock transfer services stockholder-related fees

consulting and related fees In addition we are also responsible for all fees charged by third parties that are

directly related to our business which may include real estate brokerage fees mortgage placement fees

lease-up fees and transaction structuring fees although we may be able to pass some or all of such fees on

to our tenants and borrowers

During the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 none of these third party expenses were

incurred by us directly The actual amount of such fees that we incur in the future will depend largely upon

the aggregate costs of the properties that we acquire the aggregate amount of mortgage loans that we make
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and the extent to which we are able to shift the burden of such fees to our tenants and borrowers

Accordingly the amount of these fees that we will pay in the future is not determinable at this time

Management Services and Fees under the Advisory Agreement

The Advisory Agreement provides for an annual base management fee equal to 2.0% of our total

stockholders equity less the recorded value of any preferred stock or total common stockholders equity

and for an incentive fee based on funds from operations or FF0 Our Adviser does not charge acquisition

or disposition fees when we acquire or dispose of properties as is common with other externally-advised

REITs Furthermore there are no fees charged when our Adviser secures long or short term credit or

arranges mortgage loans on our properties however our Adviser may earn fee income from our borrowers

or tenants or other sources This fee income earned by our Adviser or portion thereof may at the sole

discretion of the Board of Directors be credited against our base management fee as rebate to the base

management fee

For purposes of calculating the incentive fee FF0 includes any realized capital gains and capital losses

less any distributions paid on preferred stock and senior common stock but FF0 does not include any

unrealized capital gains or losses The incentive fee would reward our Adviser if our quarterly FF0 before

giving effect to any incentive fee or pre-incentive fee FF0 exceeds 1.75% or the hurdle rate of total

common stockholders equity We pay our Adviser an incentive fee with respect to our pre-incentive fee

FF0 in each calendar quarter as follows

no incentive fee in any calendar quarter in which our pre-incentive fee FF0 does not exceed the

hurdle rate of 1.75% 7% annualized

100% of the amount of the pre-incentive fee FF0 that exceeds the hurdle rate but is less than

2.1875% in any calendar quarter 8.75% annualized and

20% of the amount of our pre-incentive fee FF0 that exceeds 2.1875% in any calendar quarter

8.75% annualized

Quarterly Incentive Fee Based on FF0

Pre-incentive fee FF0

expressed as percentage of total common stockholders equity

1.75% 2.1875%

0% 100% 20%

Percentage of pre-incentive fee FF0 allocated to incentive fee

The incentive fee may be reduced because of covenant which exists in our line of credit agreement which

limits distributions to our stockholders to 95% of FF0 In order to comply with this covenant our board of

directors accepted our Advisers offer to unconditionally irrevocably and voluntarily waive on quarterly

basis portion of the incentive fee for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 which allowed

us to maintain the current level of distributions to our stockholders These waived fees may not be

recouped by our Adviser in the future Our Adviser has indicated that it intends to continue to waive all or

portion of the incentive fee in order to support the current level of distributions to our stockholders

however our Adviser is not required to issue any such waiver either in whole or in part
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Administration Agreement

Pursuant to the Administration Agreement we pay for our allocable portion of our Administrators

overhead expenses incurred while performing its obligations to us including but not limited to rent and

the salaries and benefits expenses of our chief financial officer chief compliance officer internal counsel

treasurer investor relations and their respective staffs Our allocable portion of expenses is derived by

multiplying our Administrators total expenses by the percentage of our total assets at the beginning of each

quarter in comparison to the total assets of all companies managed by our Adviser under similar

agreements

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in

the United States of America or GAAP requires management to make judgments that are subjective in

nature in order to make certain estimates and assumptions Management relies on its experience collects

historical and current market data and analyzes this information in order to arrive at what it believes to be

reasonable estimates Under different conditions or assumptions materially different amounts could be

reported related to the accounting policies described below In addition application of these accounting

policies involves the exercise of judgment regarding the use of assumptions as to future uncertainties and

as result actual results could materially differ from these estimates summary of all of our significant

accounting policies is provided in Note to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in

this Form 10-K Below is summary of accounting polices involving estimates and assumptions that

require complex subjective or significant judgments in their application and that materially affect our

results of operations

Allocation oJPurchase Price

When we acquire real estate we allocate the purchase price less any expenses related to the acquisition to

the acquired tangible assets and liabilities consisting of land building tenant improvements long-term

debt and ii the identified intangible assets and liabilities consisting of the value of above-market and

below-market leases the value of in-place leases the value of unamortized lease origination costs the

value of tenant relationships and the value of capital lease obligations based in each case on their fair

values All expenses
related to the acquisition are expensed as incurred rather than capitalized into the cost

of the acquisition as had been required by the previous accounting

Managements estimates of value are made using methods similar to those used by independent appraisers

e.g discounted cash flow analysis Factors considered by management in its analysis include an estimate

of carrying costs during hypothetical expected lease-up periods considering current market conditions and

costs to execute similar leases We also consider information obtained about each property as result of our

pre-acquisition due diligence marketing and leasing activities in estimating the fair value of the tangible

and intangible assets and liabilities acquired In estimating carrying costs management also includes real

estate taxes insurance and other operating expenses and estimates of lost rentals at market rates during the

hypothetical expected lease-up periods which primarily range from to 18 months depending on specific

local market conditions Management also estimates costs to execute similar leases including leasing

commissions legal and other related expenses to the extent that such costs are not already incurred in

connection with new lease origination as part of the transaction Management also considers the nature

and extent of our existing business relationships with the tenant growth prospects for developing new

business with the tenant the tenants credit quality and managements expectations of lease renewals

including those existing under the terms of the lease agreement among other factors change in any of

the assumptions above which are very subjective could have material impact on our results of

operations
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The allocation of the purchase price directly affects the following in our consolidated financial statements

The amount of purchase price allocated to the various tangible and intangible assets on our

balance sheet

The amounts allocated to the value of above-market and below-market lease values are amortized

to rental income over the remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases The amounts

allocated to all other tangible and intangible assets are amortized to depreciation or amortization

expense Thus depending on the amounts allocated between land and other depreciable assets

changes in the purchase price allocation among our assets could have material impact on our

FF0 metric which is used by many REIT investors to evaluate our operating performance and

The period of time over which tangible and intangible assets are depreciated varies greatly and

thus changes in the amounts allocated to these assets will have direct impact on our results of

operations Intangible assets are generally amortized over the respective life of the leases which

normally range from 10 to 15 years Also we depreciate our buildings over 39 years but do not

depreciate our land These differences in timing could have material impact on our results of

operations

Asset Impairment Evaluation

We periodically review the carrying value of each property to determine if circumstances that indicate

impairment in the carrying value of the investment exist or that depreciation periods should be modified In

determining if impairment exists management considers such factors as our tenants payment history the

financial condition of our tenants including calculating the current leverage ratios of tenants the likelihood

of lease renewal business conditions in the industry in which our tenants operate and whether the carrying

value of our real estate has decreased If any of the factors above support the possibility of impairment we

prepare projection of the undiscounted future cash flows without interest charges of the specific property

and determine if the carrying amount in such property is recoverable In preparing the projection of

undiscounted future cash flows we estimate the holding periods of the properties and cap rates using

information that we obtain from market comparability studies and other comparable sources If impairment

is indicated the carrying value of the property would be written down to its estimated fair value based on

our best estimate of the propertys discounted future cash flows using assumptions from market

participants Any material changes to the estimates and assumptions used in this analysis could have

significant impact on our results of operations as the changes would impact our determination of whether

impairment is deemed to have occurred and the amount of impairment loss that we would recognize

Using the methodology discussed above and in light of the current economic conditions discussed above in

OverviewBusiness Environment we evaluated our entire portfolio as of December 2010 for any

impairment indicators and performed an impairment analysis on those select properties that had an

indication of impairment Subsequent to this analysis we concluded that none of our properties were

impaired and we will continue to monitor our portfolio for any indicators that may change our conclusion

Provision for Loan Losses

Our accounting policies require that we reflect in our financial statements an allowance for estimated credit

losses with respect to mortgage loans that we have made based upon our evaluation of known and inherent

risks associated with our private lending assets Management reflects provisions for loan losses based upon

our assessment of general market conditions our internal risk management policies and credit risk rating

system industry loss experience our assessment of the likelihood of delinquencies or defaults and the

value of the collateral underlying our investments Any material changes to the estimates and assumptions

used in this analysis could have significant impact on our results of operations We had no outstanding

mortgage loans receivable as of December 31 2010

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to Note in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for summary of all recently issued

accounting pronouncements
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Results of Operations

Our weighted-average yield on our occupied portfolio as of December 31 2010 was approximately 9.60%

The weighted-average yield on our occupied portfolio is calculated by taking the annualized straight-line

rents reflected as rental income on our consolidated statements of operations or mortgage interest

payments reflected as interest income from mortgage notes receivable on our consolidated statements of

operations of each acquisition or mortgage loan as percentage of the acquisition or loan price as

applicable The weighted-average yield does not account for the interest expense incurred on the

mortgages placed on our properties

comparison of our operating results for the years
ended December 31 2010 and 2009 is below

2010 2009 SChange %Change

Opemtmg revenues

Rentalincon 41180036 41513977 333.941

Interest incon from nsMtgage note receivable 420.833 760.417 339584 -45%

Tenant recovery revenue 327.201 334543 7.342 .2

Total operating revenucs 41928070 42608937 680867 -2%

Operating eqenses

Depreciation and anurtiition 13263814 13.161287 102527 1%

Property operasmg eJqenses 971474 915.120 56354 6%

Duediligenceeqense 411.776 40574 371202 I00%

Iliac nnagennt fec 1.198.717 1401402 202.685 -14%

Incentive fee 3480061 3.238634 241.427 7/

Adninistratmn fee 1063091 1015695 47396 5%

ProlŁasional fees 2570522 649566 1920956 100

Insurance cense 213103 203682 9421 5/

Diectors fees 196735 198882 2141 -1%

eneralandadniniatrative 427948 442135 14.187 -3%

Total operating eenses before credit fromAdviser 23797241 21266977 2530264 12%

Credit to base imnagennt fee 225000 225.000 100%

Credit to mccntive fee 157669 726448 568779 .78%

Total
operating eçenses 23414.572 20540529 2874043 14%

Other mcon eqenac

Interest incon tlumtcnporaty investnrnts 8035 20748 12.713 -61%

Interest mcotm enIoyee kana 150882 192350 41468 .22

Diher mconr 3318230 12.97$ 3305252 100%

Interest eçense 17062737 17894536 831799 -5%

Total other eense 13585590 17668460 4082870 -23%

Incon fromcontinuing operations
4927908 4399.948 527.960 12

Discontinued operations

Incon from discontinued operations 43062 43062 -100

inon sale of real estate 160038 160038 -100

Totaldiscontinued operations
203.100 203100 -100%

Net incont 4927908 4603048 324860 7%

Distributions attnbutable to preferred
stock 4093750 4093750

Net inconr available to conimn stockholders 814108 509298 304810 60
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Operating Revenues

Rental income remained relatively flat for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to the year

ended December 31 2009 as two of our tenants vacated their respective properties during 2010 slightly

offset by the acquisition of property in December 2010

Interest income from mortgage notes receivable decreased for the year ended December 31 2010 as

compared to the year
ended December 31 2009 as our only mortgage loan was fully repaid in July 2010

Tenant recovery revenue decreased slightly for the year
ended December 31 2010 as compared to the year

ended December 31 2009 because one of our tenants that vacated their property during 2010 no longer

reimburses us for insurance expense

Operating Expenses

Depreciation and amortization expenses
remained relatively flat for the year

ended December 31 2010 as

compared to the year ended December 31 2009 because we only acquired one property in December 2010

which had minimal impact on the expense

Property operating expenses
consist of franchise taxes management fees insurance ground lease payments

and overhead expenses paid on behalf of certain of our properties Property operating expenses increased

during the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to the year ended December 31 2009 because of

overhead insurance and franchise tax expenses
for which we are now responsible at the two properties

where our leases expired and the tenants subsequently vacated during 2010

Due diligence expenses primarily consist of legal fees and fees incurred for third-party reports prepared in

connection with potential acquisitions and our due diligence analyses related thereto Due diligence

expenses
increased for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to the year ended December 31

2009 due to fees incurred in connection with the acquisition of the property in Orange City Iowa in

December 2010 Total due diligence expenses
remain relatively low however with our adoption of

Accounting Standards Codification or ASC 805 Business Combinations on January 2009 which

requires that we no longer capitalize due diligence costs into the price of an acquisition we expect that our

due diligence expenses
will increase significantly in 2011 as we intend to acquire more properties

The base management fee decreased for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to the year ended

December 31 2009 due to decrease in total common stockholders equity the main component of the

calculation Total common stockholders equity decreased because distributions to common stockholders

for the year ended December 31 2010 exceeded net income during the period by approximately $7.9

million The calculation of the base management fee is described in detail above under Advisory and

Administration Agreements

The incentive fee increased for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to the year
ended

December 31 2009 due to the increase in pre-incentive fee FF0 caused by the $3.3 million of additional

income and prepayment fees we received in connection with the early repayment of our mortgage loan

coupled with the decrease in total common stockholders equity The calculation of the incentive fee is

described in detail above under Advisory and Administration Agreements

The administration fee increased for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to the year ended

December 31 2009 primarily as result of an increase in the amount of the total expenses allocated from

our Administrator during the periods
The calculation of the administration fee is described in detail above

under Advisory and Administration Agreements

Professional fees consisting primarily of legal consulting and accounting fees increased during the year

ended December 31 2010 as compared to the year ended December 31 2009 primarily
due to the write

off of approximately $1.6 million of fees and expenses incurred in relation to the private offering of

unregistered senior common stock and related dividend reinvestment plan discussed in Overview Recent
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EventsEquity Activities above In addition we wroteoft approximately 5000 of fes incurred in

connection with the tiling of our base registration statement on Fom S-3 with the SF in 2007 ihese fes

were written off in September 2010 when we filed new base registration statement on Form S-3 with the

SEC

Insurance expense consists of the premiums paid for directors and oflicers insurance which is renewed

annually each September Insurance expense
increased fi.r the year

ended Iecemher 31 2010 as

compared to the year ended December 31 2009 because of an increase in the premiums tr the period

from September 2009 through September 2010 Premiums fi.r the period from September 2010 through

September 2011 decreased by approximately 16% thus we anticipate decrease in insurance cxpcnses in

2011

Iirectors fes remained relatively flat for the year
ended December 31 2010 as compared to the year

ended December 2009 as we made no changes to the compensation paid to our non-employee directors

for 2010

leneral and administrative expenses decreased tbr the year ended 1ecemher 31 2010 as compared to the

year ended lecember 31 2009 primarily as result of decreased costs associated with printing and filing

our proxy
materials and annual report in 2010

Other Income and Expense

Interest income from temporary investments decreased during the year ended Iecemher 31 2010 as

compared to the year ended December 2009 primarily because of lower interest rates earned on our

money market accounts coupled with interest received during 2009 from funds heki on deposit for

prospective real estate acquisition

Interest income on employee loans decreased during the year ended December 2010 as compared to

the year ended December 2009 This decrease was result of loan payoffs made by employees during

2009 and 2010 coupled with other principal repayments during 2010

Other income increased during the year
ended 1ecemher 2010 as compared to the year ended

Iecemher 31 2009 because of the $3.3 million in additional income and prepayment fes we received in

connection with the early repayment of our mortgage loan in July 2010

Interest expense decreased ür the
year

ended December 2010 as compared to the year
ended

December 31 2009 This decrease was primarily result of the approximately 2.3% decrease in the

interest rate charged on our $48 million mortgage loan that was renewed in September 2010 coupled

with decrease in the London Interbank Oflered Rate or LII3OR froni 2009 which reduced our interest

expense
under our line of credit and reduced interest expense on our long-term financings from amortizing

principal payments made during 2009 and 2010

Jj ontinued Operations

Income from discontinued operations for the year ended Iecember 31 2009 relates to the property
that we

sold in July 2009 which was located in Norfblk Virginia
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Net Income Available to Common Stockholders

Net income available to common stockholders increased for the year
ended December 31 2010 as

compared to the year ended December 31 2009 primarily because of the $3.3 million in additional income

and prepayment fees we received in connection with the early repayment of our mortgage loan in July

2010 partially offset by the write-off of $1.6 million in fees related to the termination of our private

offering of unregistered senior common stock

comparison 0/our operating results/br the years ended Iecemher 31 2009 and 2008 is below

For Ihc
ycar

cndcd cn1tcr 31

2111$ Shangc %hangc

Opcrulmg rvvcnuc

kcnInI Incont 41513977 39572287 1941699 5%

Inicrest incon fromnnnigigc notc rvcctvabk 760417 1198.573 13415i .15/

Tenant recoscry revenue 334.543 336.637 2.094 _________________

Tolalopcritmg revenues 42.614937 40.807497 11101.440 4%

Operatuig eenscs

Icprcciation
and anvrlvation 131612147 l2h7947 41111541 4/

Pniperly opcratmg ccnscs 915120 475154 39.270 4/

Due diligence ecnsc 40574 1176379 1.1351105 .97%

ltasc nnagcnunI fcc 1401402 1.637.851 234.449 .14

Incentive fcc 3238634 21131722 406912 14%

Adnrimtralmn fee 1015695 954635 61.060 6%

Professional fces 64956 521411 124156 25%

Insurance eqsense
203.682 173414 30.268 17%

lircctori Ices 981112 2161151 7969

neraI iind adninistrattvc 442135 493119 509114 10%

Total opcratmg cvcn%es before crcd from Advaicr 2l.266977 215606611 293691 ________________

rcdit to mcentrvc cc 7264414 2196945 1470497 __________________

1otil opeflitIng CCrISC% 20541529 9.363723 1176806 6%

116cr incont cspcnsc

lntcrcst incont ruin Ienorary tnveslnrnis 217411 21844 .096 -5%

Interest mconr cntloycc loans 92350 202097 9747 .5%

Other mconr 12974 63993 51115

Inicrv%i cqscnsc 171194.536 6858687 11135449 6%

Total other cqcnsc 17668.460 16571753 1.097717 7%

Incont frumcontinuitg operatIons 4399944 4.173.021 473.073 l0%

Iiicontinucd operations

Incont from discontmucd operatiOns
43062 9926 1154 15/s

mm on nak of real estate 60138
__________________

60031 09%

lotaldricontmucd operatIons 213.111 39926 163174 _________________

Nct mcont 4603094 4912947

lIstributkns alinbutahlc to prvkrred stock 4093754 4t97S4

Net aicon anilahk to cotmun stockhoklcn 549291 119197 349199 __________________
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Operating Reetnues

Rental income increased for the year ended lecemher 2009 as compared to the year ended Iecemhcr

2008 primarily as result of the properties acquired during the year ended lecemher 2008 that

were held fr the lid
year

in 2009

Interest income from mortgage notes receivable decreased fr the year
ended 1ecemher 2009 as

compared to the year ended December 2008 primarily because interest income oil our mortgage loan is

based on LIROR which has signihcantly decreased over the past two years

lenant recovery revenue decreased slightly for the year ended Iecemher 2009 as compared to the year

ended Iecemher 31 2008 primarily as result of decrease in the insurance premiums on some of our

properties in which the tenants reimburse us tr insurance expense partially offet by an increase in the

reimbursement of ground lease payments from tenant

Opera tiig Lpeii.ses

1epreciation iill amortization expenses
increased during the year ended 1ecemher 2009 as compared

to the year ended ecemher 31 2008 as result of the properties acquired during the year
ended

ecemher 2008 that were held fir the tiil year in 2009

Property operating expenses
consist of franchise taxes management fees insurance grouiid lease payments

and overhead expenses paid on behalf of certain of our properties Property operating expenses increased

slightly during tile year
ended lecemher 2009 as compared to the year ended 1ecemher 31 2008

primarily because of an increase in ground lease payments coupled with repairs
and maintenance

perfirmed at certaill of our properties

1ue diligence expense primarily consists of legal fes and kes incurred fir third-party reports prepared

luring our due diligence work lue diligence expenses decreased significantly fbr the year ended

1ecemher 31 2009 as compared to tile year
ended December 31 2008 primarily because of over $1.0

mu lion of kes incurred related to large potential acquisition that did not close duriilg 2008 lowever

with tile adoption of AS 805 i3usiness ombinations on January 2009 discussed in detail in Note

of tile accompanying consolidated financial statements which requires us to no longer capitalize due

diligence costs into tile price of tile acquisition we expect our due diligence expense to increase

sigilificaillly 011cc we begin to acquire properties agaill

1he base management ke decreased fr the year ended 1ecenlher 2009 as compared to the year
ended

lecenlher 31 2008 as result of decrease ill total conlilloil stockholders equity tile main conlponent of

the calculation Total common stockholders equity decreased because distributions to colllmofl

stockholders for the year
eilded lecemher 2009 exceeded net income during the period by

approximately $8.2 million Flie calculation of tile base Illanagemeilt ke is described in detail above under

Adtisov and Admausiraiwn Agretnens

lhe incentive ke increased fir the
year

ended 1ecember 31 2009 as compared to the year ended

Iecemher 2008 due to the increase ill pre-incentive ke FF as result of our increased rental illcome

discussed above coupled with the decrease in total commoil stockholders equity In addition the anlouilt

that was credited to tile incentive ke during tile year ended December 2009 decreased because of an

increase in operating income and decrease in operating expellscs
The calculation of tile incentive ke is

described in detail above under Advisory and Adnini.station Areemens

Ihe administration ke increased flIr tile year
ended December 2009 as compared to the year ended

1ecemher 31 2008 primarily as result of an increase in our total assets in comparison to tile total assets

of all coinpallies managed by our Adviser tinder similar agreellleflts coupled with approximately $80000

incurred by our Administrator which was directly allocable to us fir the implementation of real estate

software Ihe calculatioml of the adillinistration fee is described in detail above under tdlI.con and

ldninistatun oPlltS
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Professional fes consisting primarily of legal and accounting kes increased during the year ended

Iecemher 2009 as compared to the
year

ended 31 2008 primarily as result of an increase

in legal and other profssional kes relating to ongoing lease renegotiations and reviews of our legal work

with our cx Isting tenants

Insurance expense consists of the premiums paid for directors and officers insurance which is renewed

annually each September Insurance expense increased for the year cnded lecemher 31 2009 as

compared to the year ended December 31 2008 because of an increase in the premiums fr the periods

from September 2008 through September 2009 and from September 2009 through September 2010

Iirectors fes decreased during the year ended December 31 2009 as compared to the year ended

December 2008 primarily as result of one of the independent directors becoming an interested

director in January 2008 and thus not being paid an annual stipend during 2009

ieneral and administrative expenses decreased fbr the
year ended December 2009 as compared to the

year ended December 31 2008 primarily as result of decreased costs associated with printing and filing

our proxy materials

Other 1n ome 111 /un.ce

Interest income from temporary investments decreased during the
year ended 1ecember 31 2009 as

compared to the year ended Iecemher 31 2008 primarily because of lower interest rates earned on our

money market accounts partially offset by interest received in 2009 from tunds held on deposit for

prospective real estate acquisition coupled with interest earned on amounts held in reserve accounts with

our lenders

Interest income on employee loans decreased during the year ended Ieccmher 2009 as compared to

tile year ended December 31 2008 This decrease was result of loan payofls by employees during 2008

and 2009 coupled with other partial principal repayments over the periods

Other income decreased luring the
year ended December 2009 as compared to the year ended

lecemher 2008 primarily because we no longer receive management kes from our tenant in our

i3urnsville Minnesota property

Interest expense increased for the year ended 1ecemher 31 2009 as compared to the year ended lecemher

31 2008 lhis was primarily result of long-term financings which closed during 2008 that were held for

the full period luring 2009

Iscon tinued Operations

Income from liscontinued operations primarily relates to the property we sold which was located in

Norh.lk Virginia including gain on the sale of the property of approximately $160000 This is partially

ollset by continuing expenses related to the two Canadian properties which we sold in July 2006 The

expenses for tile two anadian properties relate to legal tes associated with the dissolution of the entities

which sold the properties

Net Income iaIah/e to ommon Stokholdew

Net income available to common stockholders decreased fir the year ended Iecemher 31 2009 as

compared to the year ended lecemher 2008 This decrease was primarily result of increased interest

expense from the increased number of properties which have long-term financing partially offset by the

gain on sale of our property in Norflk Virginia coupled with the growth of our portfilio of investments in

the past year and the corresponding increase in our revenues and the other events described above
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.iquiditv afl1 aIufiI Resources

Iutue ii/flhiI .d/.

herr eu

As of ecenther we had approximately 7.0 nil ion in cash and cash equivalents had aiì

available borrowing capacity of 55.9 ni II ion under our New inc of redi and had obtained mortgages on

of our propeities As of eceiiiber 2010 we had investments in real properties having gross and

net carrying values including intangible assets ofapproxiinateiy $446.4 and S34 million respectively

As discussed iii Queriicut /cius Lmronnunt above although it improved during 2010 the IS
ecoiiorn generally nut the eq ti it and debt capital ia rk spec Ii call continue to cx perience pervasive

and flindaniental disruptions l3ecause of these capital market conditions our ability to issue equity

securities obta in additional mortgages and borrow debt proceeds our three principal sources of external

financing was fleetcd during here fare we pr man ly focused upon building the al ue of our

existing port ol it of propeil ies by renegotiating exist rig
leases and inak

rig capital improvements to our

properties

Lquiiv a/lta/

lespite the aforeincntioiied economic conditions the equity capital markets did improve in the latter half

of 2010 As result were able to raise approximately $3.4 million puisuant to our Open Market Sales

Agreement and approx in ia tel $757 pursuant our continuous private p1 acement of unregistered

senior common stock In lecetnber 2010 used portion of these proceeds to finance the acquisition of

oui property that is located range itv loa and the remainder fr general corporate and working capital

needs With the continued mprovenlent of equity capital market conditions we were able to raise

approximately 4.3 in ill ion of additional equity capital in ebruary 20 See Overview Recent

Eientu abo We used these proceeds to repay port ion of the outstanding balance of the New .me of

redi and the reiiiai nder for general corporate and work rig capita needs

urrently we have the ability to raise up to approximately 5252.3 million of additional equity and debt

capital through the sale of securities that are registered under our universal shelf registration statement on

loon 53 the niersal Shelf iii one or iliore future public offerings Of the approximately $252.3

million of available capacity under our ni ersal Shelf approximately 521.6 million of common stock is

reserved for sale under our pen Market Sale Agieeinent

leht apital

espite the disruptions in the 135 market discussed in Overttw llu.ine.v Enuironnent above we

believe that banks are recoinmencing their general lending practices Specifically we are beginning to see

banks that are willing to issue ned uintcrin mortgages between two and five years on substantially less

fuivorable terms than were previously available onsequently we will continue to 6.cus on using medium

term mortgages to Ii mince our iea estate activities tint the market fi.r longterm mortgages returns As of

ecenther 31 20 It we had obtained approx mate 260.9 mill ion in longterm financing which was

secured by 56 of our properties See .totuau Aote.c Iatu//e below for more detailed discussion of

our mu rt gage es pa able

Omi April IS 20t5 we originated mortgage loan in the amount of Slot million that was collateralited by

an ffice building located in McI can Virginia in which our Adviser and our Admi ml istrator are

subtenants lhe mortgage loan .as originally set to mature in May 2017 though on July 22 2011 it was

fli ly repaid We ieee .ed $3.3 mi II ion of additional income and prepaynient fes in connect ion with the

early payment and the proceeds eie used to iepay lortion of our Prior Sine of redmt In the future we

intend to expand our momtgage lending activity to by generating additional mortgage loans and purchasing

mortgage loans fiom lenders banks and US pools As of ccemher 2011 we had no mortgage

ba mis Lit standing
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In tecemhcr 2010 we procured our New line of Credit which provides fir senior secured revolviiìg

credit facility of up to S50 million with standby letter of credit sublimit of up to S20 million The

New inc of redit replaced our Prior line of Credit which was scheduled to mature on ecemher 29

10 Jpon procuring the New Line of Credit we repaid the $29 million outstanding balance of the Prior

inc of redit with funds drawn from the New Iine of redit and with existing cash proceeds We

incurred no early termination penalties or fes in connection with the repayment of outstanding balance of

the Prior .me of Credit As of lecemhcr 2010 we had an outstanding principal balance of $27
mill ion under the New ine of Credit at an interest rate of approximately 3.3% and we had remaining

borrowing capacity ot approximately $5.9 million See /iu of tdt below fr more detailed

discussion of our Prior inc of redit and New line of Credit

fibre aptial Needs

We actively seek conservative investments that are likely to produce attractive long-term returns fbr our

stockholders If we are able to raise procure or borrow additional equity and debt capital we would intend

to use the proceeds to continue to ili vest in industrial and commercial real property as well as expand our

investment port fl io into other real property sectors such as retail and medical properties make mortgage

loans repurchase shares of our preferred stock on the open market or pay down outstanding borrowings

under our New l.ine of redit Accordingly to ensure that we are able to effctively execute our business

strategy we routinely review our liquidity requirements and continually evaluate all potential sources of

liquidity Our shortterm liquidity needs include proceeds necessary to fund our distributions to

stockholders pay the debt services costs on our existing longterm mortgages and fund our current

operating costs Our longterm liquidity needs include proceeds necessary to grow and maintain our

portfilio of investments

We believe that our current cash flows from operations coupled with borrowings from our New l.ine of

Credit are sufficient to fund our listrihutions to stockholders pay the debt service costs on our existing

long-term mortgages and fund our current operating costs in the near term We further believe that our

cash flow fiom operations coupled with the potential financing capital available to us in the tiiture are

sufficient to fund our longterm liquidity needs Additionally to satisfy either our shortterm or longterm

obligations or both we may require credits to our management fees that are issued from our Adviser

although our Adviser is under no obligation to provide any such credits either in whole or in part

peratznt Aetnilies

Net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended lecemher 31 2010 was approximately

SI million as compared to net cash provided by operating activities of approximately SI 7.0 million fr

the year ended ecemher 2009 this increase was primarily result of the additional income and

prepayment fees that we received in connection with the early repayment of our mortgage loan in July 2010

coupled with reduced interest expense partially offset by the increase in the net incentive ke

administration fire and properly operating expenses The majority of cash from operating activities is

generated trom the rental payments that we receive from our tenants We utilize this cash to fund our

property-level operating expenses and use the excess cash primarily fr debt and interest payments on our

mortgage notes payable interest payments on our line of credit distributions to our stockholders

management fes to our Adviser and other entitylevel expenses

Invcl1nt AetitEles

Net cash provided by investing activities luring the year ended lecember 31 2010 was approximately $S
million which primarily consisted of the repayment of our $10.0 million mortgage loan partially oftset by

the acquisition of our property located in Orange City Iowa net paynlents to our lenders fur reserves and

tenant improvements pcrfrmed at certain of our properties as compared to net cash used in investing

activities during the year ended Iecemhcr 31 2009 of approximately $30.000 which primarily consisted

of tenant improvements perfrmed at our property located in Maple leights Ohio and net payments to

lenders tr reserves and leasing commissions paid related to the extension of the lease tur our property



located in latontown New Jersey partially oliet by proceeds from the sale of our property located in

Nortilk Virginia We have had limited acquisition activity since 200 because ot the lack of access to

capital as discussed in Oientullu.cins Lnvronnent above which has resulted in significant

decrease in the cash used in investing activities

Financing 1ciiviiies

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 2010 was approximately $22.2

million which primarily consisted of distributions paid to our stockholders principal repayments on

mortgage notes payable payments fr defrred financing costs and net repayments on our line of credit

partially offset by proceeds from sales of common and senior common stock Net cash used in financing

activities fr the year ended leceniher 31 2009 was approximately $17.6 million which primarily

consisted of repayment of our shortterm loan principal repayments on mortgage notes payable and

distributions paid to our stockholders partially ofiset by net borrowings from our line of credit

Mo1gage NOS Pava//e

As of December 2010 we had 17 fixedrate mortgage notes payable in the aggregate principal amount

of approximately $260.9 million collateralied by total of 56 properties with terms at issuance ranging

from years to 25 years The weightedaverage interest rate on the mortgage notes payable as of

December 31 2010 was approximately 5.65%

As discussed in OevieuReceii Events above we had $4X million of balloon principal payments

maturing under one of our longterm mortgages in 2010 however the mortgage has three annual extension

options through 2013 and we exercised one of these options on September 30 2010 In connection with

the exercise of the option the interest rate reset from 6.5% to 4.5% through September 30 2011 At the

time of notification of extension we remitted fix of 0.25% of the outstanding principal balance or

approximately $120000 and certification to the lender that our aggregate debt service coverage ratio was

not less than 1.2 The interest rate fr the two additional extension periods will adjust based upon the I-year

swap rate at the time of extension and fixed spread of 4.29% and 4.41% respectively We have no other

balloon principal payments due under any of our mortgages until 2013

I.ine a/ /it

In December 2010 we procured new $50.0 million line of credit or the New 1ine of redit with apital

One N.A serving as revolving lender letter of credit issuer and as an administrative agent
and IIranch

Ranking and Trust ompany serving as revolving lender and letter of credit issuer which matures on

lecemher 2S 2013 The New I.ine of redit replaced our prior $50.0 million senior secured revolving

credit ficil ity which was scheduled to mature on lecemher 29 2010 or the Prior Line of redit Fhe New

1.ine of redit provides fl.r senior secured revolving credit ficility of
up to $50.0 million with standby

letter of credit sublimit of up to $20.0 million The New t.ine of redit is subject to maximum borrowing

base calculation which may from time to time afThct the maximum amount available to he drawn 1he

New Line of redit may upon satisfiction of certain conditions he expanded up to $75.0 million

urrently eight of our properties are pledged as collateral under our line of credit 1he interest rate per

annum applicable to the New .me of redit is equal to the London nterhank Offired Rate or LI fOR plus

an applicable margin of up to 3.00% depending upon our leverage Our leverage ratio used in determining

the applicable margin fr interest on the New redit 1.ine is recalculated quarterly We will he subject to

an annual maintenance fe of 0.25% per year Our ability to access this source of financing is subject to

our continued ability to meet customary lending requirements such as compliance with financial and

operating covenants and our meeting certain lending limits ne such covenant requires us to limit

distributions to our stockholders to 95% of our FF with acquisitionrelated costs required to he expensed

under AS X05 added hack to FI In addition the maximum amount that we may draw under this

agreement is based on percentage of the value of properties pledged as collateral to the banks which must

meet agreed upon eligibility standards lhe maximum amount that we may currently draw under the New

1.ine of redit is approximately $3X million Furthermore those eight properties that are pledged as

collateral to the banks are pledged through perfcted first priority lien in the equity interest of the special
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purpose entity or SPE that owns the property In addition our Operating Partnership owns the SPEs and

our Operating Partnership is precluded from transferring the SPEs or unconsolidated affiliates to us

If and when long-term mortgages arc arranged for these pledged properties the banks will release the

properties from the line of credit and reduce the availability under the line of credit by the advanced

amount of the released property Conversely as we purchase new properties meeting the eligibility

standards we may pledge these new properties to obtain additional advances under this agreement The

availability under the line of credit will also be reduced by letters of credit used in the ordinary course of

business We may use the advances under the line of credit for both general corporate purposes
and the

acquisition of new investments

At 31 2010 there was $27.0 million outstanding under the line of credit at an interest rate of

approximately 3.3% and approximately $5.9 million outstanding under letters of credit at weighted

average
interest rate of approximately 3.0% At December 31 2010 the remaining borrowing capacity

available under the line of credit was approximately $5.9 million Our ability to increase the availability

under our line of credit is dependent upon our pledging additional properties as collateral Traditionally we

have pledged new properties to the line of credit as we arrange for long-term mortgages for these pledged

properties Currently only nine of our properties do not have long-term mortgages and eight of those are

pledged as collateral under our line of credit Accordingly we have only one property which is

unencumbered and which may be pledged as collateral to increase the borrowing capacity available under

the line ofcredit We were in compliance with all covenants under the New Line of Credit as of December

31 2010

Contractual Obligations

The following table reflects our material contractual obligations as of December 31 2010

Iaynrnls IXie by Icnod

irntnictunl Ubligations
total Iss than Year -3 Ycam 3-5 Ycar More than Yeat

Debt bligatntns 2X7$694ri 51456.152 43M.X39 12.1131% 111.169.176

Interest on Debt Obltgations 70.230331 14451711 25013.713 20.141.322 9.921.517

apttal Iase obligations 111111 141111

Uperattng Icasc Itgaltons lAdl357 152511 305.020 345021 131107

Total 3M00l.153 6I073 69.027642 103.910.231 121.932.2X

II 0dM oblipt cnn reprexert xirroslnp inikr ott line of credit which reprenentu
527 nOtion of he tick obligation dir in 201

and mortga note payable that were ii4anthna ax of 1eeemfrr 2ii ft

the $41111 million morigaga note ineucd in icpernrr 200$ liaise in ctorr 2111 and ut enpect to enercine cach of nix option

to extend the matinity tte sOil tctolxer 201

Interent on ikl$ iihligatonn inclixkx eMinraled Intern tin iii lnrrrowlflp istikr iii line of credit

The lance and intern rate on ott tine of credit variable this the amount of mtereO calculated itt pilpoxex
of this table mx Faxed icon rain ant

tlsncen an if tccetntrn 31 2011

lOipital leaue tthlipttonn reprexent the ot4iption to pirchac the land held imikr the oiard cane on Ott property located in Fridley Minnteota

141 Opus mg leant obligat tin reprexenir the Woisd leant payment dir oh ott tulsa tklahirra property the leant expiren iii mate 2121

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 2010
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lteni 7A Quantitative anti Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risk includes risks that arise from changes in interest rates fbreign currency exchange rates

comnmdity prices equity prices and other market changes that af1lct market sensitive instruments The

primary risk that we believe we are and will he exposed to is interest rate risk ertain of our leases contain

escalations based on market interest rates and the interest rate on our existing line of credit is variable

Although we seek to mitigate this risk by structuring such provisions of our loans and leases to contain

minimum interest rate or escalation rate as applicable these fiaturcs do not eliminate this risk We have

not entered into any lerivative contracts to attempt to firther manage our exposure to interest rate

fluctuations

Jo illustrate the potential impact of changes in interest rates on our net income for the year ended

lecemher 31 2010 we have perfrmed the fillowing analysis which assumes that our balance sheet

remains constant and that no further actions beyond minimum interest rate or escalation rate are taken to

alter our existing interest rate sensitivity

The tillowing table summarites the impact of 1% 2% and 3% increase in the one month 1.1 l3 for the

year ended lecemher 31 2010 As of lecemher 3l 2010 our efThctive average l.l13R was 0.2ô% thus

decrease could not occur

Increase to Rental Increase to Interest Net Decrease to

Interest Rate hange Interest lnconk lpcnse Net lncon

Increase to .IR 279XX 279XX

Increase to ll3 558XX 55X$X
Increase to .1l3 959 837XX X3ô1

As of eceinber 2010 the fiir value of our fixed rate debt outstanding was approximately $252.5

million Interest rate fluctuations may afThct the fiiir value of our fixed rate debt instruments If interest

rates on our fixed rate debt instruments using rates at lecemher 2010 had been one percentage point

higher or lower the fiir value of those debt instruments on that date would have decreased or increased by

approximately $9.2 million and $9.8 million respectively

In the future we may he exposed to additional effcts of interest rate changes primarily as result of our

line of credit or longterm mortgage debt which we use to maintain liquidity and fund expansion of our real

estate investment portfolio and operations Our interest rate risk management ohiectives are to limit the

impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and to lower overall borrowing costs lo

achieve this objective we will borrow primarily at fixed rates or variable rates with the lowest margins

available and in some cases with the ability to convert variable rates to fixed rates We niay also enter

into derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps and caps in order to mitigate the interest

rate risk on related financial instrument We will not enter into derivative or interest rate transactions fr

speculative purposes

In addition to changes in interest rates the value of our real estate is subject to fluctuations based on

changes in local and regional economic conditions and changes in the creditworthiness of lessees and

borrowers all of which may affct our ability to refinance debt if necessary
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Report of Management on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

To the Stockholders and Board of of Gladstone Commercial Corporation

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting as such term is defined in Rule l3a-l5f and l5d-15I under the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and include those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions

and the dispositions of our assets provide reasonable assurance that our transactions are recorded as

necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with appropriate

authorizations and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition use or disposition of our assets that could have material effect on our financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Therefore even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable

assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management we assessed the effectiveness of our

internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control Integrated

bramework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations COSO Based on our assessment

management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31

2010

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 2010 has been audited

by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP an independent registered public accounting firmas stated in their report

which is included herein

March 82011
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Gladstone Commercial Corporation

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly in all

material respects
the financial position of Gladstone Commercial Corporation and its subsidiaries at

December 31 2010 and December 31 2009 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for

each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2010 in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America In addition in our opinion the financial statement

schedules listed in the accompanying index present fairly in all material respects
the information set forth

therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements Also in our opinion

the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2010 based on criteria established in internal Control integrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO The Companys

management is responsible for these financial statements and financial statement schedules for maintaining

effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal

control over financial reporting included in the accompanying report of Managements Annual Report on

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A Our responsibility is to express

opinions on these financial statements on the financial statement schedules and on the Companys internal

control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits We conducted our audits in accordance

with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards

require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial

statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting

was maintained in all material respects Our audits of the financial statements included examining on

test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining

an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness

exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the

assessed risk Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the

circumstances We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements fr external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over

financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that

in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

company ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit

preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that

receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of

management and directors of the company and iiiprovide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or

timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have

material effect on the financial statements
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Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods arc subject to the risk

that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance

with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Is PricewatcrhouscCoopers LLP

Mc Lean VA

March 82011
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GLADSTONE COMMERCIAL CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Icccithcr 210 Rccnicr 31 2009

ASSE1S

Real estate at cost 4010l694 390753892

Less accunikited deprecun 43659.456 34.1 11952

rotal real estate net 357357484 356.641941

Lease æangles net 26746992 214.177461

Mortgage rkte receivable
10.000.001

ash and cash equivalents
7061.504 30965914

Resuted cash 2288410 2633538

Funds heki riescrow 2621091 24147.610

1efrred rent receivable 11373.5014 14975196

Detrred fiaincing costs net 3325740 3.136.055

Otherasscts 14331473 1716915

flTAL ASSllS 410608602 416865373

LIAHILIIlFS ANI STOKIIOLII RS IQJIIY

LIAI3I
Mortgage rktes payable 260869463 252761.651

I3orroWinga under line of credd 2700.0X 33.200.001

Deferred rent lihi1ity
2276033 3213195

Asset retenEnt ohlatun lthility 30627614 2305.644

Accounts payable and accnEd experses 26142915 2086741

Dx to Adver 965.373 1.213641

Other l1biiEs 2.377.743 3633961

Total Liihildies 299234295 2914414143

STOK RLDLRS LQLJIIY

Redeeniihle preferred stock S0.00l par vakie S25 lkuK1atn preferenee

2300.014 shares autharrcd and 2.150.014 shares Lssocd and outstanding at

Decenlwr 31 2010 and 2149 respectively
2.150 2150

SenEr conimn stock 0041 par vak 75000 shares aut1rrcd and

59057 and shares rsocd and ouvtanding at Ieceither 31 2010 and 2149

respcctrvely
59

onmrn stock 50.001 par vahie 40214014 shares authrmd and

14724.613 and 8.563264 shares Nsucd and outstandg at Ieceither 31

2010 and 289 respectively
8.725 8563

Addunal paI in capal 74.26t.53 1716225141

Notes receivable enkyees 963433 2304999

1inftn ii excess ofaccunukited camæ 61.933725 49877753

lotal Stockhoklers Iquly 111.374317 118450542

TOTAL LIAIIILII1LS ANI STOKIIOLIFRS LQIJIIY 410618602 416865373

Refer to Note Re/ated-Iarui Traswivon.s

Ihe accompanying notes arc an integral part
of thcse consolidated financial latcmcnts
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GLADSTONE COMMERCIAL CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For tIE
year

ended ecencr

2011 21s 2001

Operitr restws

Retial nonr 41 180036 415 1977 19572217

Iilcrest IEOflE ttUt1 t14te reccisah 420.131 764 17 198573

Tetjl icosry rcseIa 327211 14.54 36637

Total Opcratl4 resvtas 41921070 42.64897 40.107497

Opcratr expetacs

Ikprcc.tufl ark anurtvatun 13261114 1.161217 12679417

Propetly opetatr expcrncs
971.474 915.2 175.150

Iue dtc expasc 411.776 40574 1.1 76379

IMse nwnrtl ke 1914717 1.411412 1.617.151

IrEetlisv frc 344006 3211614 2.111.722

Adniütntarn fre .063.09 5695 954635

ProbsI ken 2570522 649566 521.4

Iriya1Ec ccrae 21113 201.6142 71.44

DecIors ken 96735 91112 2615

erraIark1 adnwattratrse 427941 442115 491119

Total operatI experas bckre crtsis Advejer 2379724 21.266.977 .564668

redE to base nthsrrrt1 ke 225140

redto IEetlre ke 157669 726441 296945

Total opcrati capemes 2344572 21540529 19361721

Othar nconr expettsc

Iricreirt flont from Iensoraiy iwstntrts 4015 20748 211444

Irlcrcst lEonE eti$yee kiasej 51882 9215 212097

OthEr lEonE 13121 278 63991

Itlerest espetac 17062717 17194516 16154617

Total othEr cspetsc 15155941 17648464 6570753

IrEonE fromcoi1taropcratur 4927941 4.199.941 417112

laor1zird operatura

IrEonE from diicorgnrd pertitur 1.162 19926

Gamonsakofrcalcstatc 16018
_____________

Total diicorarwd openhtut 213 19926

49279414 46413148 4.92947

Ditthturei attrniabk to prckrrcd stock 4191750 4191750 419175

Ditrbtlurni anthtabk to scta.r conitun stock 2115
__________________ __________________

Net æona asaib to conlun skhakjcts 814111 50928 49197

Famv per we1ed asenIt ihare oIconuun stock bust

IrEonEfrumcot1noperatrarrtofdlrtritlknattthtlahktoprekrredstock 019 .14 19
Oeicorliejrd operaturel

102 101

Net IEOtTE a5IbIhk to COItITVfl stockhoklcrs 0.09 106 110

Ianiru per wc1esJ asvra share ocotrnun stock dined

lrEonE from coI1lmq opcraturv net ofdtskernis attthilahk to prekrresl stock 14 19
laucojlnxd pcnrtuns

12 .11

Net aon asairhk to conerln stocklukicnu 109 116

Wc-aed asereu shares olcotTlrnn stock otnstatkr- bust 14576301 14561264 1456549

Welcd avera1 sharesolcormtunstock oinatandrt- dtkgcd 14641.151 8563264 1456549

Farnztçu per weajlcd aseta share of scnur conmn stock .11

WeWicd avenq shares olscnur conhiam stock oststaisJmg- ha.st 2415

Rekr to Note ReIafrd-aris- Trun.sauon.s

Thc accompanying notes arc an integral part of these consoidated tinanctal slatements

67



GLADSTONE COMMERCIAL CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

01 rihtIions in

Niitc lwc ot lola

Prefencd Scnior onunon onnnirn icc ot Rccns able Accunuluslcd Sochholdcr

Stuck Stock Sloclu Via Value Inure linploy csi Farningi lufly

Ralance al xmbcr 2017 S2 SI 510 SI 70407 2.70992 12 11.701 5142.561.0041

Forlatare olimtmon Stock 040

Repay incut ol Principal on

Noic kiahk 174117 74.07

tininbotiono Ieclwcd to

onvnann and Prelcered

Siockhuildcr ll0.41.192 16.MI.92

Net income 492.947 492947

Ralanccat iccanhcr II 21101 2150 N.1u 17o.0221s1 25901 117542.141 150.495.201

Rcpaymall or Principal on

Notat knecivahk 45.007

Reclanairication or bun

Balance to Other Act 241.1110

tntnbuuion bcclarvd to

oninon and Prrlcccd

Stoekhobdcri lh9l.6SII l0901cl

Net income
4.041041 4411040

Ralanccal December II 2009 250 0501 1711.22501 12.104.999 49077.75 110.450.542

nuance or satan conmsun

stock and convrsn .tunlc loll 1101.012 012.171

Rcpaymatl ui principal on

nine roccwabk 1141 Ia .14106

lntnbalannu declare lii

cOiliiTiofl settaif ciiuintain and

prelcrrul etockhikkru I090100tl l0.9111.NKl

Fuirfalure or conunon sloch in

atuu.dsn olanpkiyec note

rcvasabte 40 4110121 1241.90

Net tnciittic
4.92750 4.927.511

Ralanceal Deccnthcr 2111 251 59 0725 740411I 90.1.41.1 0955725 111.574117

On Fcbrsany 12110 the inulurity dale olan employoc tock option loan to ftnnc ctnployee olthc Adviacr wan edcnded anti AuiIrel 2111 In connection with the ealension ol

the loan the rccoure provinion
ilthc loan wan removed and the unmet emtipliiycc was iuiteiI the ipooti ui either repay the pnncipal Miii unteret in lull or return the 110501 share

plcdid a.mnat the loan to lhconany an 64 alilartsin olthe kim In Mazvh 02 the utide hat ho nuaket price ollhe pkdml hate eqaaleil he balance orthe ouistimndrng
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GLADSTONE COMMERCIAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEM ENTS

Organization and Significant Accounting Policies

Gladstone ommercial Corporation the Company was incorporated on February 14 2003 under the

General Corporation Law of Maryland The Company operates in manner so as to qualify as real estate

investment trust REIT for federal income tax purposes and exists primarily for the
purposes

of

engaging in the business of investing in real estate properties net leased to creditworthy entities and making

mortgage loans to creditworthy entities Subject to certain restrictions and limitations the business of the

Company is managed by Gladstone Management Corporation Ielawarc corporation the Adviser

Subsidiaries

The Company conducts substantially all of its operations through subsidiary Gladstone Commercial

Limited Partnership Delaware limited partnership the Operating Partnership As the Company

currently owns all of the general and limited partnership interests of the Operating Partnership through

GCLP Business Trust and II as discussed in more detail below the tinancial position and results of

operations of the Operating Partnership are consolidated with those of the ompany

Gladstone Commercial Lending LLC Delaware limited liability company Gladstone Commercial

Lending and subsidiary of the ompany was created to conduct all operations related to real estate

mortgage loans of the Company As the Operating Partnership currently owns all of the membership

interests of Gladstone Commercial Lending the financial position and results of operations of Gladstone

Commercial Lending are consolidated with those of the Company

Gladstone ommercial Advisers Inc telawarc corporation Commercial Advisers and subsidiary

of the Company is taxable REIT subsidiary IRS which was created to collect all non-qualifying

income related to the Companys real estate portfolio It is currently anticipated that this income will

predominately consist of fees received by the Company related to the leasing of real estate There have

been no such fees earned to date Since the ompany owns 100% of the voting securities of Commercial

Advisers the financial position and results of operations of ommercial Advisers are consolidated with

those of the Company

GCLP Business Trust and GCLP Business Trust II each subsidiary and business trust of the ompany
were formed under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts on December 28 2005 The Company
transferred its 99% limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership to ICLP Business Trust in

exchange for 100 trust shares Commercial Partners transferred its 1% general partnership interest in the

Operating Partnership to GCLP Business Trust II in exchange for 1X trust shares

Investments in Real Estate

The Company records investments in real estate at cost and capitalizes improvements and replacements

when they extend the useful life or improve the efficiency of the asset The ompany expenses costs of

repairs and maintenance as such costs are incurred The ompany computes depreciation using the straight-

line method over the estimated useful life or 39 years for buildings and improvements to years for

equipment and fixtures and the shorter of the usefUl lifC or the remaining lease term for tenant

improvements and leasehold interests

The Company accounts for its acquisitions of real estate in accordance with Accounting Standards

Codification AS 805 Business ombinations which requires that the purchase price of real estate

be recorded at fair value and allocated to the acquired tangible assets and liabilities consisting of land

building tenant improvements long-term debt and identified intangible assets and liabilities consisting of

the value of above-market and below-market leases the value of in-place leases the value of unamortized

lease origination costs the value of tenant relationships and the value of capital lease obligations based in
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cach case on their fair values ASC 805 also requires that all
expenses

related to the acquisition be

expensed as incurred rather than capitalized into the cost of the acquisition as had been the previous

accounting

Managements estimates of value are made using methods similar to those used by independent appraisers

e.g discounted cash flow analysis Factors considered by Management in its analysis include an estimate

of carrying costs during hypothetical expected lease-up periods considering current market conditions and

costs to execute similar leases The Company also considers information obtained about each property as

result of its pre-acquisition due diligence marketing and leasing activities in estimating the fair value of the

tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired In estimating carrying costs Management also

includes real estate taxes insurance and other operating expenses and estimates of lost rentals at market

rates during the hypothetical expected lease-up periods which primarily range
from nine to eighteen

months depending on specific local market conditions Management also estimates costs to execute similar

leases including leasing commissions legal and other related expenses to the extent that such costs are not

already incurred in connection with new lease origination as part of the transaction

The Company allocates purchase price to the fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property by

valuing the property as if it were vacant The as-if-vacant value is allocated to land building and tenant

improvements based on Managements determination of the relative fair values of these assets Real estate

depreciation expense on these tangible assets including discontinued operations was approximately $9.5

million $9.4 million and $9.0 million for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Above-market and below-market in-place lease values for owned properties are recorded based on the

present value using an interest rate which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired of the

difference between the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and ii

Managements estimate of fair market lease rates for the corresponding in-place leases measured over

period equal to the remaining non-cancelable term of the lease The capitalized above-market lease values

included in the accompanying balance sheet as part of deferred rent receivable are amortized as reduction

of rental income over the remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases Total amortization

related to above-market lease values was approximately $253000 for each of the years
ended December

31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively The capitalized below-market lease values included in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheet as deferred rent liability are amortized as an increase to rental

income over the remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases Total amortization related to

below-market lease values was approximately $937000 for the year ended December 31 2010 and

$786000 for each of the years ending December 31 2009 and 2008

The total amount of the remaining intangible assets acquired which consist of in-place lease values

unamortized lease origination costs and customer relationship intangible values are allocated based on

Managements evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenants lease and the Companys overall

relationship with that respective tenant Characteristics to be considered by Management in allocating these

values include the nature and extent of our existing business relationships with the tenant growth prospects

for developing new business with the tenant the tenants credit quality and the Companys expectations of

lease renewals including those existing under the terms of the lease agreement among other factors

The value of in-place leases and unamortized lease origination costs are amortized to expense over the

remaining term of the respective leases which generally range from 10 to 15 years The value of customer

relationship intangibles which is the benefit to the Company resulting from the likelihood of an existing

tenant renewing its lease are amortized to expense over the remaining term and any anticipated renewal

periods in the respective leases but in no event does the amortization period for intangible assets exceed

the remaining depreciable life of the building Should tenant terminate its lease the unamortized portion

of the above-market and below-market lease values in-place lease values unamortized lease origination

costs and customer relationship intangibles will be immediately charged to the related income or expense

Total amortization expense
related to these intangible assets including discontinued operations was

approximately $3.7 million for each of the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively
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Impairment

In vestments in Real Estate

The Company accounts for the impairment of real estate including intangible assets in accordance with

ASC 360-10-35 Property Plant and Equipment which requires the Company to periodically review the

carrying value of each property to determine if circumstances indicate impairment in the carrying value of

the investment exist or that depreciation periods should be modified If circumstances support the

possibility of impairment the Company prepares projection of the undiscounted future cash flows

without interest charges of the specific property and determines if the investment in such property is

recoverable If impairment is indicated the carrying value of the property would be written down to its

estimated fair value based on the Companys best estimate of the propertys discounted future cash flows

There have been no impairments recognized on real estate assets in the Companys history

In light of current economic conditions the Company evaluated its entire portfolio as of December 31

2010 for any impairment indicators and performed an impairment analysis on those select properties that

had an indication of impairment In performing the analysis the Company considered such factors as the

tenants payment history and financial condition the likelihood of lease renewal business conditions in the

industry in which the tenants operate
and whether the fair value of the real estate has decreased The

Company concluded that none of its properties were impaired and will continue to monitor its portfolio for

any indicators that may change this conclusion

Provision for Loan Losses

The Companys accounting policies require it to reflect in its financial statements an allowance for

estimated credit losses with respect to mortgage loans receivable that it has made based upon its evaluation

of known and inherent risks associated with its private lending assets Management reflects provisions for

loan losses based upon its assessment of general market conditions its internal risk management policies

and credit risk rating system industry loss experience its assessment of the likelihood of delinquencies or

defaults and the value of the collateral underlying its investments Actual losses if any could ultimately

differ from these estimates There have been no provisions for loan losses in the Companys history and

the Company currently has no outstanding mortgage loans receivable

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers cash equivalents to be all short-term highly-liquid investments that are both

readily convertible to cash and have maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase except that

any such investments purchased with funds held in escrow or similar accounts are classified as restricted

cash Items classified as cash equivalents include money-market deposit accounts All of the Companys
cash and cash equivalents at December 31 2010 were held in the custody of two financial institutions and

the Companys balance at times may exceed federally insurable limits

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists of security deposits and funds held in escrow for certain tenants These funds will

be released to the tenants upon completion of agreed upon tasks as specified in the lease agreements

mainly consisting of maintenance and repairs on the buildings and upon receipt by the Company of

evidence of insurance and tax payments

Funds Held in Escrow

Funds held in escrow consist of funds held by certain of the Companys lenders for properties held as

collateral by these lenders These funds will be released to the Company upon completion of agreed upon

tasks as specified in the mortgage agreements mainly consisting of maintenance and repairs on the

buildings and when evidence of insurance and tax payments has been submitted to the lenders
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Deferred Inancing

lefirred financing costs consist of costs incurred to obtain financing including legal fies origination tes

and administrative fes The costs are defrred and amortized using the straight-line method which

approximates the etictive interest method over the term of the secured financing The Company made

payments of approximately $1.2 million $24400 and $1.3 million for deferred financing costs during the

years
ended December 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively Total amortization expense related to

dcfirred financing costs was approximately $1.0 million $1.5 million and $1.3 million for the
years

ended

1ecemher 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Obligation Under Capital Lease

In conjunction with the Companys acquisition of building in Fridley Minnesota in February 2008 the

Company acquired ground lease on the parking lot of the building which had purchase obligation to

acquire the land under the ground lease at the end of the term in April 2014 for $300000 In accordance

with AS 840-10-25 Leases the ompany accounted for the ground lease as capital lease and

recorded the corresponding present value of the obligation under the capital lease The ompany recorded

total interest expense related to the accretion of the capital lease obligation of approximately $12000

$12000 and $10000 for the years ended lecemher 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Revenue Recognition

Rental revenue includes rents that each tenant pays
in accordance with the terms of its respective lease

reported evenly over the non-cancelable term of the lease Most of the ompanys leases contain rental

increases at specified intervals The ompany recognizes such revenues on straight-line basis by

averaging the non-cancelable rental revenues over the lease terms Deferred rent receivable in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheet includes the cumulative difference between rental revenue as

recorded on straight line basis and rents received from the tenants in accordance with the lease terms

along with the capitalized above-market lease values of certain acquired properties Accordingly the

ompany determines in its judgment to what extent the defCrred rent receivable applicable to each

specific tenant is collectable The ompany reviews defCrred rent receivable as it relates to straight line

rents on quarterly basis and takes into consideration the tenants payment history the financial condition

of the tenant business conditions in the industry in which the tenant operates and economic conditions in

the geographic area in which the property
is located In the event that the collectahility ofdefbrred rent with

respect to any given tenant is in doubt the ompany records an allowance for uncollectable accounts or

records direct write-ofi of the specific rent receivable No such reserves have been recorded as of

Iecember 2010

Management considers its loans and other lending investments to be held-for-investment The ompany
reflects loans classified as long-term investments at amortized cost less allowance for loan losses

acquisition premiums or discounts and deferred loan fees On occasion the ompany may acquire loans at

small premiums or discounts based on the credit characteristics of such loans These premiums or

discounts are recognized as yield adjustments over the lives of the related loans Loan origination fees as

well as direct loan origination costs are also deferred and recognized over the lives of the related loans as

yield adjustments If loans with premiums discounts or loan origination fCes are prepaid the ompany

immediately recognizes the unamortized portion as decrease or increase in the prepayment gain or loss

Interest income is recognized using the eflective interest method applied on loanbyloan basis

Prepayment penalties or yield maintenance payments from borrowers are recognized as additional income

when received

Tenant recovery revenue includes payments from tenants as reimbursements for franchises taxes

management fCes insurance and ground lease payments The ompany recognizes tenant recovery

revenue in the same periods that it incurs the related expenses
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Income Taxes

The Company has operated and intends to continue to operate in manner that will allow it to qualif as

REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended and accordingly will not be subject to

federal income taxes on amounts distributed to stockholders except income om foreclosure property

provided that it distributes at least 90% of its REIT taxable income to its stockholders and meets certain

other conditions To the extent that the Company satisfies the distribution requirement but distributes less

than 100% of its taxable income the ompany will be subject to federal
corporate income tax on its

undistrihuted income

Commercial Advisers is wholly-owned TRS that is subject to federal and state income taxes Though

Commercial Advisers has had no activity to date the Company would account fur any future income taxes

in accordance with the provisions of ASC 740 Income Taxes Under ASC 740-10-25 the Company
accounts fur income taxes using the asset and liability method under which deferred tax assets and

liabilities are recognized fur the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial

statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases

Segment Infirmation

AS 280 Segment Reporting provides standards for public companies relating to the reporting of

financial and descriptive infurmation about their operating segments
in financial statements Operating

segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is available

and is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker or decision making group in determining

how to allocate resources and in assessing performance Company Management is the chief decision

making group As discussed in Note the Companys operations are derived from two operating

segments one segment purchases real estate land buildings and other improvements which is

simultaneously leased to existing users and the other segment originates mortgage loans and collects

principal and interest payments The Company had no mortgage loans receivable outstanding as of

December 31 2010

Asset Retirement Obligations

ASC 410 Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligation requires an entity to recognize liability for

conditional asset retirement obligation when incurred if the liability can be reasonably estimated ASC
10-20-20 clarifies that the term Conditional Asset Retirement Obligation refers to legal obligation

pursuant to existing laws or by contract to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or

method of settlement are conditional on future event that may or may not be within the control of the

entity AS 410-20-25-6 clarifies when an entity would have sufficient information to reasonably estimate

the fair value of an asset retirement obligation The Company has accrued liability and corresponding

increase to the cost of the related properties for disposal related to all properties constructed prior to 1985

that have or may have asbestos present in the building In that regard the Company accrued liability of

$615000 during the years ended December 31 2010 in relation to the acquisition of one property in

Orange City Iowa No such liability was accrued for the year ended 31 2009 as no

acquisitions were made and no events occurred that would require an adjustment to the Companys original

estimate The Company also recorded expenses of approximately $143000 $144000 and $133000 during

the
years

ended Eeccmber 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively related to the cumulative accretion of the

obligation

Stock Issuance costs

The ompany accounts fur stock issuance costs in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin

SAB Topic 5.A which states that incremental costs directly attributable to proposed or actual offering

of securities should he defCrred and charged against the gross proceeds of the ofTering Accordingly the

Company records costs incurred related to its ongoing equity offerings to other assets on its consolidated

balance sheet and ratably applies these amounts to the cost of equity as stock is issued If an equity

oflering is subsequently terminated and there arc amounts remaining in other assets that have not been
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allocated to the cost of the ofkring the remaining amounts are recorded as an expense on the consolidated

income statement Accordingly in connection with the termination of the Companys private offering of

unregistered senior common stock it wrote-off approximately $1.6 million of fees and expenses incurred

related to the offering The expenses consisted primarily of legal accounting and fees paid to Halcyon and

arc recorded as professional fees in the Companys consolidated statement of operations

Other Income

The Company records non-operating and unusual or infrequently earned income as other income on its

consolidated statement of operations Accordingly the Company recorded the $3.3 million of prepayment

fees it received in connection with the early payment of its mortgage loan as other income

Real Estate Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

ASC 360-10 Property Plant and Equipment requires that the results of operations of any properties

which have been sold or are held for sale be presented as discontinued operations in the Companys

consolidated financial statements in both current and prior periods presented Income items related to held

for sale properties are listed separately on the Companys consolidated income statement Real estate

assets held for sale are measured at the lower of the carrying amount or the fair value less the cost to sell

and are listed separately on the Companys consolidated balance sheet Once properties are listed as held

for sale no further depreciation is recorded

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

ASC 810-10-25-38 Consolidation amends the consolidation guidance for variable-interest entities

VIE and requires an enterprise to qualitatively assess the determination of the primary beneficiary of

VIE based on whether the entity has the power to direct matters that most significantly impact the activities

of the VIE and had the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits of the VIE that could

potentially be significant to the VIE ASC 810 is effective for the Companys fiscal year beginning

January 2010 The Company adopted this pronouncement during the quarter
ended March 31 2010 and

the adoption has had no impact on the Companys financial position or results of operations

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires Management to make estimates

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets

and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses

during the reporting period Actual results could materially differ from those estimates

Related-Party Transactions

The Company is externally managed pursuant to contractual arrangements
with its Adviser and Gladstone

Administration LLC the Administrator which collectively employ all of the Companys personnel and

pays
their payroll benefits and general expenses directly The Company has an advisory agreement with its

Adviser the Advisory Agreement and an administration agreement with its Administrator the

Administration Agreement The management services and administrative fees under the Advisory and

Administration Agreements are described below As of tecember 31 2010 and December 31 2009

respectively approximately $1 .0 million and $1 .2 million were due to the Adviser

Athisorv Agreement

The Advisory Agreement provides for an annual base management fec equal to 2% of the ompanys total

stockholders equity less the recorded value of any prefrred stock common stockholders equity and

an incentive fee based on funds from operations FF0 For the years ended December 31 2010 2009

and 2008 the Company recorded base management fee of approximately $1.2 million $1.4 million and
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$1 .6 million respectively The Advisors Board of Directors voted to give the ompany credit to the base

management fee for the year ended December 2010 of $225000

lor UrJXSCS of calculating the incentive fe FF includes any realized capital gains and capital losses

less any distributions paid on preferred stock but FF0 does not include any unrealized capital gains or

losses The incentive ICe rewards the Adviser if the Companys quarterly FF0 befbre giving effect to any

incentive ICe pre-incentive ICe FF0 exceeds 1.75% or 7% annualized the hurdle rate of total

common stockholders equity The Adviser receives 100% of the amount of the pre-incentive fCc FF0 that

exceeds the hurdle rate but is less than 1875% of the Companys common stockholders equity The

Adviser also receives an incentive ICe of 20% of the amount of the ompanys pre-incentive fee FF0 that

exceeds 2.1875% of common stockholders equity

hr the years ended December 2010 2009 and 2008 the Company recorded an incentive fee of

approximately $3.5 million $3.2 million and $2.8 million respectively offset by credit related to an

unconditional and irrevocable voluntary waiver issued by the Adviser of approximately $0.2 $0.7 million

and $2.2 million respectively resulting in net incentive fee fbr the year ended December 31 2010 of

approximately $3.3 million $2.5 million and $0.6 million respectively The board of directors of the

Company accepted the Advisers offer to waive on quarterly basis portion of the incentive fee for the

years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 in order to support the current level ofdistrihutions to the

Companys stockholders These waivers may not be recouped by the Adviser in the future

hflifliStrulUPZ .4gieenunl

Pursuant to the Administration Agreement the Company pays fbr its allocable portion of the

Administrators overhead expenses in performing its obligations to the Company including but not limited

to rent and the salaries and benefits of its chief financial officer chiefcompliance officer internal counsel

treasurer investor relations and their respective stafIs The Companys allocable portion of expenses is

derived by multiplying the Administrators total allocable expenses by the percentage of the Companys
total assets at the beginning of each quarter in comparison to the total assets of all companies managed by

the Adviser under similar agreements For the years ended 31 2010 2009 and 2008 the

ompany recorded an administration fCc of approximately $1.1 million $1.0 million and $1.0 million

respectively

EarnIngs per Share of Common Stock

The fbllowing tables set fbrth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share of common stock for

the years ended December 2010 2009 and 2008 The ompany computed basic earnings per share fOr

the year ended Iecember 2010 2009 and 2008 using the weighted average number of shares

outstanding during the periods Diluted earnings per share fOr the year ended December 31 2010 reflects

additional shares of common stock related to our convertible senior common stock that would have been

outstanding if dilutive potential shares of common stock had been issued as well as an adjustment to net

income available to common stockholders as applicable to common stockholders that would result from

their assumed issuance
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For the
year

ended lccen4scr .1

2010 2009 200

alcul.Uon aic e.rnlngi ptr
h.r ocaawnon stock

Net rnvottw available to Conlnfl stckhoklers 814109 509.298 819.197

lcnonanator lr bask weighted avenige shares oconasinn stock 8576303 8.565149

Ilasic
earnings per share oiconaisn stock 0.09 1.18 0.0

akulidon oillutcdcirnlagi sharc olcoman stock

Net nconw available to cotratun stockhokteni 814101 509298 819197

Add Incoitk inacI otasunkd ConSCNkifl ofenior eonitinn stock 20050

Net incoiric available to coninun stockholder plus assunrd conversions 834158 58298 819.197

Ienoninstor br basic weighied nscrage shares olconarun stock 8.576.343 8.565149

Iflevt obconverlihk senior coninun stock 24850

Lenorrinator br diluted weighted average shares ofconitun stock 8601153 856321.4 8.565149

Itluted earnings per share olconinun stock 009 08 0.10

Real Estate and Intangible Assets

Real E.ctaie

The following table sets forth the components of the Companys investments in real estate including

capitalized leases as of December 31 2010 and 2009

December 31 2010 lecember 31 2009

Real estate

Land 55157807 55025707

Building and improvements 335575857 325907479

Tenant improvements 10283276 9820706

Accumulated depreciation 43659.456 34111.952

Real estate net 357357484 356641940

Includes land held under capital lease carried at approximately $1.1 million

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company acquired one property which is summarized

below

On December 15 2010 the Company acquired 487121 square
foot office/industrial building located in

Orange City Iowa for approximately $12.3 million including related acquisition expenses
of $386000

The Company funded this acquisition through combination of borrowings from its line of credit and the

assumption of approximately $10.8 million of mortgage debt on the property At closing the Company was

assigned the existing triple net lease with Staples Contract Commercial Inc the commercial delivery

and fulfillment division of Staples Inc The existing triple net lease has remaining term of approximately

16 years and the mortgage debt related to the property matures in December 2026 The tenant has four

options to extend the lease for additional periods of five years each The existing triple net lease provides

for aggregate rents of approximately $1.2 million in 2011 with prescribed annual rental rate escalations

commencing in 2012

In accordance with ASC 805 the Company allocated the purchase price of the property acquired during the

year ended December 31 2010 as follows
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Future operating lease payments from tenants under non-cancelable leases excluding tenant reimbursement

of expenses for each of the five succeeding fiscal
years

and therealler is as fi.Ilows

Tenant

Year tase PaynEnts

2011 39643943

2012 3976059

2013 35346l9

2014 31246937

2015 27.IXO934

Thereafter 174244975

In accordance with the lease terms substantially all tenant expenses arc required to be paid by the tenant

however the Company would be required to pay property taxes on the respective properties and ground

lease payments on the property located in Tulsa Oklahoma in the event the tenant fails to pay them The

total annualized property taxes for all properties held by the ompany at Iecemher 31 2010 was

approximately $6.2 million and the total annual ground lease payments on the property located in Tulsa

Oklahoma was approximately $1 530X

On May 2010 the Company extended the lease with the tenant that occupies its property located in

Grand Rapids Michigan for period of IS years and the tenant has two options to extend the lease fbr

additional periods of 10 years each The lease was originally set to expire in July 2016 and will now expire

in April 2025 The lease provides for prescribed rent escalations over the lif of the lease with annualized

straight line rents ofapproximately $1.1 million

On September 29 2010 the tenant occupying the building located in Ilazelwood Missouri declared

bankruptcy The lease for this property is scheduled to expire in January 2012 and rental income from this

tenant comprises less than 1% of the ompanys total annualized rental income On March 2011 the

lease was rejected in the bankruptcy proceedings of the ompanys tenant The ompany has been

informed that the rent payments will cease at the end of April 2011 lhe Company is taking the

appropriate action to re-tenant the property

On October 2010 the Company extended the lease with the tenant that occupies its property located in

Toledo Ohio for period of 10 years and the tenant has two options to extend the lease fir additional

periods of 10 years each The lease was originally set to expire in December 2010 and will now expire in

December 2020 The lease provides for prescribed rent escalations over the life of the lease with

annualized straight line rents of approximately $276000

On Iecember 14 2010 the ompany released the current tenant in its
property located in umming

Georgia from its obligations under their existing lease and simultaneously signed lease with new tenant

under substantially the same terms The new tenant is an Atlanta Georgia based hospital system that

acquired part of the current tenants business part of which is housed in the ompanys umming Georgia

facility The current tenant is medical
group

that continues to lease the remainder of its properties

located in Georgia under master lease In connection with services provided directly by the ompanys
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Adviser to the tenant the tenant paid real estate advisory fee to the Companys Adviser in the amount of

$450000

On December 30 2010 the Company extended the lease with the tenant that occupies its property located

in Fridley Minnesota for period of 10 years and the tenant has one option to extend the lease for period

of
years

The lease was originally set to expire in January 2013 and will now expire in July 2020 The

lease provides for prescribed rent escalations over the life of the lease with annualized straight line rents of

approximately $8 12000

Intangthle Assets

The Ibliowing table summarizes the net value of other intangible assets and the accumulated amortization

for each intangible asset class

1eccnlcr 31 2010 Dccctthcr 31 2009

Accuniilatcd Accuniilatcd

Lcasc Intangibles Anntiiation Leasc Intangibles Anurtiiation

In-placc kascs 17.011.466 8.362167 15935445 6.741.817

Leasing costs 10763.570 4684.857 10053004 3.832623

ustonr rdationships 17635756 5616776 17136501 4373049

45410792 18663800 43124950 14947489

The estimated aggregate amortization expense for each of the five succeeding fiscal years and thereafter is

as follows

Estitmtcd

Year Anurtization Eqcnse

2011 5900964

2012 4617520

2013 2589117

2014 2343203

2015 1968738

Thcrea tier 9327450

Real Estate Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

As of June 30 2009 the Company classified its property in Norfolk Virginia as held for sale under the

provisions of ASC 360-10 which requires that the results of operations of any properties which have been

sold or are held fi.r sale be presented as discontinued operations in the Companys consolidated financial

statements in both current and prior periods presented On July 17 2009 the Company sold this property

for $1.15 million and recognized gain on the sale of approximately SI 60000
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ihe table below sumniari/es the components of income from discontinued operations

For the year ended Decener 31

perat tug reveittie

petii tug e1ei1se

iin ott sale ol real estate

IIletiik fiotti IisCtilititltIcd

tittLill

2010 2009

56202

13140

6003t

203100

200

103501

63575

39926

Mortgage ote ReeciahIe

on April 2005 the ompany originated mortgage loan in the amount of $10.0 million that was

collateralried an ollice building located in McLean Virginia in which the ompanys Adviser and

Administrator are subtcnants The mortgage loan was originally scheduled to mature in May 2017 but on

July 22 2011 this mortgage was hilly repaid The Company received $3.3 million of additional income

and prepayrtietit Ies in connection with the early payment which was recorded as other income in the

consolidated statement ol operations
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Mortgage Notes Payable and Line of Credit

The Companys mortgage notes payable and line of credit as of December 31 2010 and 2009 are

summarized below

nlc II
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Mortgage Notes Iavahle

As of December 31 2010 the Company had 17 fixed-rate mortgage notes payable collateralized by total

of 56 properties The obligors under each of these notes are wholly-owned separate borrowing entities

which own the real estate collateral The ompany is not co-borrower but has limited recourse liabilities

that could result from borrower voluntarily filing tbr bankruptcy improper conveyance of property

fraud or material misrepresentation misapplication or misappropriation of rents security deposits

insurance proceeds or condemnation proceeds and physical waste or damage to the property resulting

from borrowers gross negligence or willful misconduct The Company will also indemnify lenders

against claims resulting from the presence of hazardous substances or activity involving hazardous

substances in violation of environmental laws on property The weighted-average interest rate on the

mortgage notes payable as of December 31 2010 was approximately 5.65% and as of December 31 2009

was approximately 6.00%

The Company had $48.0 million of balloon principal payments maturing under one of its long-term

mortgages in 2010 however the mortgage has three annual extension options through 2013 and the

Company exercised one of these options on September 30 2010 In connection with the exercise of the

option the interest rate reset from 6.85% to 4.58% through September 30 2011 At the time of notification

of extension the Company remitted fee of 0.25% of the outstanding principal balance or approximately

$120000 which is recorded as deferred financing cost in the Companys consolidated balance sheet The

Company also remitted certification to the lender that its aggregate debt service coverage ratio is not less

IriaI
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51516

061l lb
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Il/uI

03017

1611 17

II
121026

04
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4.51

5.20%

5.33

52
5.750

5.115

5.92

6.511%

610
5.76

79
6000o

6.1

.63

.63

l.IIRR 31

41.0151111

9021517

111.740559

20.771247

12209365

111.727.935

4.291.947

17110111

.7I9.S29

6162518
39545

21.329511

13775.11

4.24000

5.474 73

11715114
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411015011

111.044
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21605.106

377501

142401

So573

2.114
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2711111.000 3320001

2117169463 215.961.651
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than .2 thus the Company was in compliance with all covenants under the mortgage loan interest

rate flr the two additional extension periods will adjust based upon the I-year swap rate at the time of

extension and fixed spread of 4.29% and 4.41% respectively In addition one of the buildings pledged

as collateral to the $48 million mortgage is the building located in South Iladley Massachusetts in which

the tenant did not renew its lease The Company has until May 31 2011 to pay
of the portion of the loan

allocated to the South Hadley property The payofI amount is 115% of the allocated loan amount or

approximately $2.8 million

On December 15 2010 the ompany assumed approximately $10.8 million of indebtedness pursuant to

long-term note payable from Modern Woodmen of America in connection with the ompanys
acquisition on the same date ofa property located in Orange Ity Iowa The note accrues interest at rate

of 6.625%
per year and the ompany may not repay

this note prior to maturity or it would he subject to

substantial prepayment penalty The note matures on December 10 2026

The fitir market value of all fixed-rate mortgage notes payable outstanding as of December 2010 was

approximately $252.6 million as compared to the carrying value stated above of approximately $260.9

million The litir market value is calculated based on discounted cash flow analysis using interest rates

based on Managements estimate of interest rates on long-term debt with comparable terms

Scheduled principal payments of mortgage notes payable ür each of the live succeeding fiscal years and

thcreafer arc as fllows

Year

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Therea fIcr
_________________________

Line o/ redit

Scheduled principal

payinnts

51456852

3792260

12616579

21251589

55082307

16669876

260869463

The S4K million mortgage note issued in September 2005 was

extended September 30 2010 for one year the Company expects

to exercise additional options to extend the maturity date until

October2013

In December 2010 the Company procured new $50.0 million line of credit or the New Line of Credit

with Capital One N.A serving as revolving lender letter of credit issuer and as an administrative agent

and Branch Banking and Trust ompany serving as revolving lender and letter of credit issuer which

matures on December 28 2013 rhe New Line of redit replaced the ompanys prior $50.0 million

senior secured revolving credit facility which was scheduled to mature on Iecemher 29 2010 or the Prior

Line ofCredit The New Line ofCredit provides fbr senior secured revolving credit ficility of up to $50.0

million with standby letter of credit sublimit ofup to $20.0 million The New Line of Credit is subject to

maximum borrowing base calculation which may from time to time aflct the maximum amount

available to be drawn The New Line of Credit may upon satisfaction of certain conditions be expanded

up to $75.0 million Currently eight of the Companys properties are pledged as collateral under its line of

credit The interest rate per annum applicable to the New Line of redit is equal to the London Interbank

Of1i.red Rate or LIBOR plus an applicable margin of up to 3.00% depending upon the Companys



leverage The leverage ratio used in determining the applicable margin for interest on the New Credit Line

is recalculated quarterly The Company will be subject to an annual maintenance fec of 0.25% per year

The Companys ability to access this source of financing is subject to its continued ability to meet

customary lending requirements such as compliance with financial and operating covenants and its meeting

certain lending limits One such covenant requires the Company to limit distributions to its stockholders to

95% of our FF0 with acquisition-related costs required to be expensed under ASC 805 added back to FF0

In addition the maximum amount the Company may draw under this agreement is based on percentage of

the value of properties pledged as collateral to the banks which must meet agreed upon eligibility

standards The maximum amount that the Company may currently draw under the New Line of Credit is

approximately $38.8 million Furthermore those eight properties that are pledged as collateral to the banks

are pledged through perfected first priority lien in the equity interest of the special purpose entity or SPE

that owns the property In addition Gladstone Commercial Limited Partnership Delaware limited

partnership that owns the SPEs or the Operating Partnership is precluded from transferring the SPEs or

unconsolidated affiliates to the Company

If and when long-term mortgages are arranged for these pledged properties the banks will release the

properties from the line of credit and reduce the availability under the line of credit by the advanced

amount of the released property Conversely as the Company purchases new properties meeting the

eligibility standards it may pledge these new properties to obtain additional availability under this

agreement The availability under the line of credit will also be reduced by letters of credit used in the

ordinary course of business The Company may use the advances under the line of credit for both general

corporate purposes and the acquisition of new investments

At December 31 2010 there was $27.0 million outstanding under the line of credit at an interest rate of

approximately 3.3% and approximately $5.9 million outstanding under letters of credit at weighted

average
interest rate of approximately 3.0% At December 31 2010 the remaining borrowing capacity

available under the line of credit was approximately $5.9 million The Companys ability to increase the

availability under its line of credit is dependent upon it pledging additional properties as collateral

Traditionally the Company has pledged new properties to the line of credit as it arranges
for long-term

mortgages for these pledged properties Currently only nine of the Companys properties do not have long-

term mortgages and eight of those are pledged as collateral under its line of credit Accordingly the

Company has only one property which is unencumbered and which may be pledged as collateral to

increase the borrowing capacity available under the line of credit The Company was in compliance with

all covenants under the New Line of Credit as of December 31 2010 The amount outstanding on the line

of credit as of December 2010 approximates fair market value because the debt is short-term and

variable rate

Stockholders Equity

Distributions paid per common share for each of the years
ended December 2010 2009 and 2008 were

$1.50 per share Distributions paid per share of Series Preferred Stock for each of the years ended

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 were approximately $1.94 per
share Distributions paid per share of

Series Preferred Stock for each of the years ended December 2010 2009 and 2008 were

approximately $1.88 per share Distributions paid per share of senior common stock for the year ended

December 31 2010 were $05979 per share There were no distributions paid to senior common

stockholders for either of the years ended December 31 2009 or 2008 as no senior common stock was

outstanding during this period

For Federal income tax purposes distributions paid to stockholders may be characterized as ordinary

income capital gains or return of capital The characterization of distributions during each of the last three

years is reflected in the table below
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long- Fenri

Ordinary lncon Return oFapital apital thins

oniin Stock

For the year ended Dccener 31 2X8 9.2677YV0 90.73230% 0.XX0%

For the year ended Deceither 312009 6.M080% 93.9592r/ 0.XXXXY/0

For the year ended Decener 31 2010 I5.7654V0 84.23460% 0.XXXXY/0

Series Prefemd Stock

For the year ended Decenther 31 2008 00.XXXXr/0 0.0XXXY

For the year ended Decenier 31 2009 I00.0XXX% 0.XXXXr/0 0.0XXX%

For the year ended leceither 31 2010 l00.0XXX .XXXX 0.XXX0%

Series Preferred Stock

For the year ended 1eceither 31 2X8 X.XXXX 0XXXXY0 0.XXXX0

For the year ended lccener 31 2XY X.XXXXY% 0.XXXXY0 0.XXXXY/0

For the year ended Decener 31 2010 l00.XXXXY 0.XXXX4 0.XXXX%

The following table is summary of all outstanding notes issued to employees of the Adviser for the

exercise of stock options

Nuirtcr of Slnkc Pncc of Artunl if kirsiandirig IlaUincc kitsfanduig Rilancc

ptions plains lnintsory Sole of Itihi cc ans II of Iipki Cc ians at afuni alc Interest Kale

fslc iaaucd ljreuned l.rrcLscd lasued In insIoyccs icseirMr 2111 icccnthcr 2fK of Note on Nolc

Sep 2CX 2.XXf XI f.lXX 20.2y1 fSK4f Sep 211

Apr 2E6 2422 lb Ill l2M 4Sif Ii$.i$M Apr 211IS

May 2Itw 51U II KS 1.42.51 Sff4f7 K425%l May 2011

May 2111 IS.lXXI lb Ill 241.51 141.4X Mny 2011 17

May 2X1r 2.1X lb III 2.2X 12.211 2.2X Mu 2111 717

May 211r 2.IXXI lb III 2.2K 22X Mn 2111 717

May 2fXb 21K IS IX 1fXX 101X Ma 211

Oct 2XK 211 lb 11.21 191.2X k-f 795 f7

Nis- 211 2.K IS IX 751K 71IXX 1751X Nis 7115

l4.422 2.t21.iM 9b45 2X$

In accordance with ASC 50510-45-2 Equity receivables from employees fbr the issuance of capital

stock to employees prior to the receipt of cash payment should he reflected in the balance sheet as

reduction to stockholders equity Therefore these notes were recorded as full recourse loans to employees

and are included in the equity section ot the accompanying consolidated balance sheets As of December

31 2010 each loan maintained its full recourse status

On November 2009 the Company entered into an open market sale agreement or the Open Market Sale

Agreement with Jefferies Company Inc or Jefferics under which it may from time to time offer to

sell shares of its common stock with an aggregate sales price of up to $25.0 million on the open market

through Jefferies as agent or to Jefferies as principal 1uring the year ended Eecember 31 2010 the

Company raised approximately $3.4 million in net proceeds through the sale of 192365 shares of common

stock under the Open Market Sale Agreement

On November 19 2009 the ompany entered into dealer manager agreement or the Dealer Manager

Agreement as amended and restated on December 22 2009 with Halcyon apital Markets LL or

Halcyon pursuant to which Halcyon agreed to act as its dealer manager in connection with its continuous

private offering of up to 3333333 shares of its then newly designated unregistered senior common stock at

$15.00 per share Holders of the unregistered senior common stock have the right hut not the obligation



following the fifth anniversary of the issuance of such shares to exchange any or all of such shares of

senior common stock for shares of the Companys common stock On October 19 2010 the Company

terminated the private offering of unregistered senior common stock including the dividend reinvestment

plan for the senior common stock In connection with the termination the Company wrote-off

approximately $1.6 million of fees incurred in relation to the offering The
expenses

consisted primarily of

legal accounting and fees paid to Halcyon and are recorded as professional fees in the Companys

consolidated statement of operations The Company issued 59057 shares of unregistered senior common

stock pursuant to the private offering and related dividend reinvestment plan Net proceeds from these

sales after selling commissions and dealer manager fees were approximately $787000

Segment Information

The Companys operations are comprised of two reportable segments One segment purchases real estate

land buildings and other improvements which is simultaneously leased to existing users and the other

segment extends mortgage loans and collects principal and interest payments As of December 2010

the Company had no mortgage loans receivable outstanding The amounts included under the Other

column in the tables below include other income which consists of interest income from temporary

investments and employee loans and any other miscellaneous income earned and operating and other

expenses that were not specifically derived from either operating segment
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The following table summarizes the Companys consolidated operating results and total assets by segment

as of and for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

As ofand fortheyearcndcd Deceither3l 2010

Real Estate Real Estate

Leasing Lending Other Total

41507237

14790124

16065957

10651156

400616254

41928070

23414572

13585590

4927908

410608602

Operating revenues

Operating expenses

Other expense

Discontinued operations

Net incon

Total Assets

As ofand for the year ended Dccctthcr 31 2009

Real Estate Real Estate

Leasing Lending other Total

As of and tbr the year ended 1ccither 31 2008

Real Estate Real Estate

Leasing Lending Other lotal

Operating revenues

Operating expenses

other expense

Discontinued operations

Net incon

Total Assets

39908924

14863138

13769417

39926

11316295

413760683

45X585

2801336

40807497

19363723

16570753

39926

4912947

Operating expenses includes base nunagement fees incentive tes administration fees pnfessknal fees

insurance expense directors fees stockholder-related expenses and general and administrative expenses that

are not practicable to allocate to either operating segnrnt thus these expenses are included in the Other

colunu

It is not practicable to allocate the interest expense om the line ofcredii or ihe short-tenn loan to either

operating segimnt thus the interest is included in the Other coluni

Operating revenues

Operating expenses

Other expense

Net incon

Total Assets

420833

420833

8624.448

2480367

6144081

9992348

4l84%52 760.417 42608937

14260070 6280459 20540529

16480535 1.187.925 7668460

2031X 203100

11311015 760417 7468384 4.603048

399867563 l0XXXX 6997810 416865373

898.573

898573 7301921

l0000XX 5.338.102 429098785
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10 Pro Forma Financial Information unaudited

The Company acquired one property during the year ended December 31 2010 The following table

reflects pro-forma condensed consolidated income statements as if the property was acquired as of the

beginning of the periods presented

For the year ended Decenther3l

2010 2009

Operating Dath

Total operating revenue 43031138 43712005

Total operating etqenses 23997882 21.123839

Other eqense 14142012 18224883

lnconi fiimcontinuing operations 4891244 4363283

Dividcnds attributable to preferred and senKrconlmrn stock 4.I13J1X 4.093.750

Net incons available from continuing operations to conTr8rn stockholdeN 777444 269533

Share and Per Share Data

Basic net incon from continuing operations 0.09 0.03

Diluted net incon from continuing operations 0.09 0.03

Weighted average shares outstanding-basic 8576303 8563264

Weighted average shares outstanding-diluted 8601153 8563264

11 Quarterly Financial Information unaudited

The following table reflects the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31 2010 and

2009

Quarter ended Quarter ended Quarter ended Quartcr ended

March 31 201 June 30 2011 Septenther 302011 leccnther 31 2011

Operating revenues 10.614.9Th 10.6141.387 10334413 10227294

Operating e1senses 5.3441.386 5.351201 7.212.219 5421766

Xhereiqiense 4238.257 4.324.735 1.023942 3998656

Incon from continuing operations 1046333 .006.45 2.028.252 1881872

Discontinued
operations

Net inconr 116333 1186451 2028252 806872

Dividends attnbutable to prenvd and seniorconatain stock 1123438 11123812 1027719 1038831

Net incont available to conlisin stockhokkrs .2895 17361 1.1118513 231959

Net atconr available to conation stockholder bask 111 08 12 061
Net ricont available to conirarn stockholder diluted 08 012 061

Weighted average shares outstanding bask .545.264 8562.777 8.637.981

Weighted average shares outstanding diluted 8546.52 8.577.173 $.6l4$141

Quarter ended Quarter ended Quarter ended Quarter ended

March 31 219 June 30289 Septenther 30 289 Iecenther 312009

Operating revenues 10658176 116914119 10.657004 1064217

Operating eiqscnses 5165.152 5181.137 5.1819018 5.124622

8her eense 442391 4373632 4473194 440024
lncon romeontinuing operations 1.171731 1196.020 1114.112 1.117.315

Iiacontinucd
operations 17.83$ 20916 16410 238

Net incortr 119569 1116936 1278990 1117553

listributarns aunhutable to prefetied skick 1123437 11123.437 1123437 11123.439

Net incon available to coititsn stockhokter 66 99494 255559 94l

Nct asconr available to conatsin stockholder bask diluted 0.l

Weighted average shares outstanding bask diluted 8.54.1.264 8.563.264 8.54.3264
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12 Subsequent Events

On January II 2011 the Companys Board of Directors declared cash distribution of $0.1 25 per share of

common stock $01614583 per share of the Series Preferred Stock $0.15625 per share of the Series

Preferred Stock and $0.0875 per share of the Senior common stock for each of the months of January

February and March of 2011 Monthly distributions will be payable Ofl January 31 2011 February 28

2011 and March 2011 respectively to stockholders of record as of the close of business on January 21

2011 February 21 2011 and March 21 2011 respectively for shares of common stock and preferred stock

Series and Series Monthly distributions to senior common stockholders will be payable on the

February 72011 March 72011 and April 62011

On January 2011 the Company extended the lease with its tenant occupying its properties located in

Decatur Georgia Lawrencevillc Georgia SnelIville Georgia ovington Georgia and Conyers Georgia

The lease covering all of these properties was extended for an additional five year period thereby

extending the lease until 1ecember 2031 The lease was originally set to expire in December 2026 The

lease provides lbr prescribed rent escalations over the life of the lease with annualized straight line rents of

approximately $1 .6 million Furthermore the lease grants the tenant four options to extend the lease for

period of live years
each

On February 2011 the Company sold 7250X shares of its common stock at $18.35 per share in an

underwritten public oflering of its common stock The Company also granted the underwriters 30-day

option to purchase up to 108750 shares of common stock on the same terms and conditions to cover over

allotments if any On February II 2011 the underwriters executed their option to purchase an additional

108750 shares of common stock The net proceeds after deducting the underwriting discount and

estimated offering expenses were approximately $14.3 million The Company used the proceeds of the

offering to repay portion of the outstanding balance under its New Line of Credit
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The following table reconciles the change in the balance of real cstate during the years ended lecetnhe 31

2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

2010 2009 200S

Balance at beginning ofpenod 390753892 3X.562l3$

Acquisitions during period 8.900830 47574.02

lnirovennts orotheradditions 1362218 1139711 2.157712

Dispositions during penod 947957

Balance at end ofperiod 401016941 390753St2 39O.2l35

The following table reconciles the change in the balance of accumulated depreciation during the years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

2010 2X9 2u05

Balance at beginning ofpenod 34111952 24757576 15.738634

Additions during period 9547504 9445.768 9.018942

Dispositions during period 91.392

Balance at end otpenod 43659456 34111952 24757.576
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Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31 2010 our management including our chief executive officer and chief financial

officer evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures

Based on that evaluation management including the chief executive officer and chief financial officer

concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 2010 in providing

reasonable level of assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit

under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified

in applicable SEC rules and forms including providing reasonable level of assurance that information

required to be disclosed by us in such reports is accumulated and communicated to our management

including our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer as appropriate to allow timely

decisions regarding required disclosure However in evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures

management recognized that any controls and procedures no matter how well designed and operated can

provide only reasonable assurance of necessarily achieving the desired control objectives and management

was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and

procedures

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Refer to Managements Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting located in Item of this Form

10-K

Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

Refer to the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm located in Item of this Form 10-K

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter

ended December 2010 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our

internal control over financial reporting

Item 9K Other Information

None
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PART III

We will file definitive Proxy Statement for our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders the 2011 Proxy

Statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A not later than

120 days alIer December 31 2010 Accordingly certain information required by Part Ill has been omitted

under General Instruction G3 to Form 10-K Only those sections of the 2011 Proxy Statement that

specifically address the items set forth herein are incorporated by reference

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by Item 10 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2011 Proxy Statement

under the captions Election of Directors Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

and Code of Ethics

Item II Executive Compensation

The information required by Item II is hereby incorporated by reference from our 201 IProxy Statement

under the captions Executive Compensation and Director Compensation

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related

Stockholder Matters

The information required by Item 12 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2011 Proxy Statement

under the caption Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by Item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2011 Proxy Statement

under the captions Transactions with Related Persons and Information Regarding the Board of Directors

and Corporate lovernance

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by Item 14 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2011 Proxy Statement

under the captions Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees and Pre-Approval Policy and

Procedures
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PART IV

Item IS Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

DOCUMENTS FILED AS PART OF THIS REPORT

The following financial statements are filed herewith

Report of Management on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2010 and December 2009

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 2010 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and

2008

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 2010 2009 and 2008

Notes to Financial Statements

Financial statement schedules

Schedule Ill Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation is filed herewith

Schedule IV Mortgage Loans on Real Estate is filed herewith

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or because the required information is

included in the financial statements or notes thereto

Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of this report or hereby incorporated by reference to exhibits

previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
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Exhibit Index

Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement to Articles of Incorporation incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-I File No 333-106024

filed June 112003

3.1.1 Articles Supplementary Establishing and Fixing the Rights and Preferences of the 7.75%

Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3

of Form 8-AI2G File No 000-50363 filed January 19 2006

3.1.2 Articles of Amendment to Articles Supplementary Establishing and Fixing the Rights and

Preferences of 7.75% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Form 8-K filed on April 13 2006

3.1.3 Articles Supplementary Establishing and Fixing the Rights and Preferences of the 7.5%

Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4

of Form 8-AI2B File No 000-50363 filed October 19 2006

3.1.4 Articles of Amendment to Articles of Amendment and Restatement to Articles of

Incorporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-

filed July 30 2009

3.1.5 Articles Supplementary incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on

Form 8-K filed March 19 2010

3.1.6 Articles Supplementary incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Current Report on

Form 8-K filed September 2010

3.1.7 Articles Supplementary incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Current Report on

Form 8-K filed September 2010

3.2 Bylaws incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-I

File No 333-106024 filed June 112003

3.2.1 First Amendment to Bylaws incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Current Report

on Form 8-K filed July 10 2007

4.1 Form of Certificate for Common Stock of Gladstone Commercial Corporation incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-Il File No 333-

106024 filed August 2003

4.2 Form of Certificate for 7.75% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock of

Gladstone Commercial Corporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Form 8-

AI2G File No 000-50363 filed January 19 2006

4.3 Form of Certificate for 7.5% Series Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock of Gladstone

Commercial Corporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Form 8-Al 2B File No

00 1-33097 filed October 19 2006

10.1 Real Property Purchase and Sale Agreement Canada between 3058348 Nova Scotia

Company 3058349 Nova Scotia Company and Gladstone Commercial Limited Partnership

dated August II 2004 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Form 10-K File No

98



000-50363 filed March 2005

10.2 Real Property Purchase and Sale Agreement United States between PBC Pocono L.LC
PBC Norfolk L.L.C and Gladstone Commercial Limited Partnership dated August II

2004 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Form 10-K File No 000-50363 filed

March 2005

10.3 Promissory Note between Key Bank National Association and CMIO4 Canton NC LLC
dated March 14 2005 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 of the Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 312005 File No 000-50363 filed May 2005

10.4 Loan Agreement between AFLO5 Duncan SC LLC and Little Arch Charlotte NC LLC and

Bank of America N.A dated as of August 25 2005 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.4 of the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 000-50363 filed August 29 2005

10.5 Promissory Note between AFLO5 Duncan SC LLC and Little Arch Charlotte NC LLC and

Bank of America N.A dated as of August 25 2005 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.5 of the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 000-50363 filed August 29 2005

10.6 Mortgage and Security Agreement between 260 Springside Drive Akron OH LLC and JP

Morgan Chase Bank N.A dated as of September 12 2005 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.6 of the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 000-50363 filed September 13

2005

l0.7 Fixed Rate Note between 260 Springside Drive Akron OH LLC and JP Morgan Chase Bank

N.A dated as of September 12 2005 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the

Current Report on Form 8-K File No 000-50363 filed September 13 2005

10.8 Loan Agreement between PZO5 Maple Heights OH LLC WMIO5 Columbus OH LLC and

OB Crenshaw GCC LP and Countrywide Commercial Real Estate Finance Inc dated as of

December 21 2005 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the Current Report on Form

8-K File No 000-50363 filed December 22 2005

10.9 Promissory Note between PZO5 Maple Heights OH LLC WMIO5 Columbus OH LLC and

OB Crenshaw GCC LP and Countrywide Commercial Real Estate Finance Inc dated as of

December 212005 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 109 of the Current Report on Form

8-K File No 000-50363 filed December 22 2005

10.10 First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Gladstone Commercial

Limited Partnership incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Current Report on Form

8-K filed February 2006

10.11 Mortgage and Absolute Assignment of Rents and Leases and Security Agreement and
Fixture Filing between Stonewater Dox Funding LLC and Wells Fargo Bank National

Association dated as of November 2l 2003 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 of

the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 000-50363 filed February 24 2006

10 12 Assumption Agreement between Stonewater Dox Funding LLC Stonewater Funding LLC
ACIO6 Champaign IL LLC Gladstone Commercial Corporation and LaSalle Bank National

Association dated as of February 21 2006 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 of the

Current Report on Form 8-K File No 000-50363 filed February 24 2006

10 13 Promissory Note Secured by Mortgage between Stonewater Dox Funding LLC and Wells

Fargo Bank National Association dated as of November 21 2003 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.22 of the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 000-50363 filed



February 24 2006

10.14 Purchase Agreement between Stonewater UIS Funding LLC and Gladstone Commercial

Limited Partnership dated as of November 23 2005 as the same has been modified by that

certain Amendment to Purchase Agreement dated December 22 2005 that certain

Amendment to Purchase Agreement dated Iecemhcr 30 2005 that certain Amendment to

Purchase Agreement dated January 2006 that certain Amendment to Purchase Agreement

dated January 13 2006 that certain Amendment to Purchase Agreement dated January 17

2006 and that certain Amendment to Purchase Agreement dated January 20 2006.

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1023 of the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 000-

50363 tiled February 24 2006

10.15 Mortgage Assignment of Rents and Security Agreement between Stonewater Funding LLC

and Greenwich Capital Financial Products Inc dated as of May 12 2004 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.24 of the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 000-50363 filed

February 24 2006

10.16 Loan Assumption Agreement between Stonewater UIS Funding LLC Stonewater Funding

LLC and UCOÔ Roseville MN LL Gladstone ommercial orporation and LaSalle Bank

National Association dated as of February 21 2006 incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.25 of the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 000-50363 filed February 24 2006

10.17 Promissory Note between Stonewater tJlS Funding LL and Greenwich Capital Financial

Products Inc dated as of May 12 2004 incorporated by refirence to Exhibit 10.26 of the

Current Report on Form 8-K File No 000-50363 filed February 24 2006

10.18 Purchase Agreement between Stonewater UIS Funding LL and iladstone Commercial

Limited Partnership dated as of November 23 2005 as the same has been modified by that

certain Amendment to Purchase Agreement dated Iecember 22 2005 that certain

Amendment to Purchase Agreement dated December 30 2005 that certain Amendment to

Purchase Agreement dated January 2006 that certain Amendment to Purchase Agreement

dated January 13 2006 that certain Amendment to Purchase Agreement dated January 17

2006 and that certain Amendment to Purchase Agreement dated January 20 2006

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 of the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 000-

50363 filed February 24 2006

10.19 Loan Agreement between IXIS Real Estate apital Inc and 2525 Woodlawn Vstrm

Wichita KS LLC 105 lintonville WI LL and MSIO5-3 LL dated as of April 27 2006

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-0 File

No 000-50363 filed May 2006

10.20 Promissory Note between IXIS Real Estate Capital Inc and 2525 Woodlawn Vstrm

Wichita KS LL Cl05 Clintonville WI LLC and MSIO5-3 LLC dated as of April 27 2006

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 of the Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q File

No 000-50363 filed May 2006

10.21 Custodial Service Agreement and Fee Schedule between Branch Banking and Trust

ompany of Virginia and Gladstone ommercial Corporation dated as of May 2006

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 of the Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q File

No 000-50363 filed August 2006

10.22 Gladstone Commercial Limited Partnership Schedule 4.2a2 to First Amended and

Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership Designation of 7.50% Series umulative

Redeemable Preferred Units incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 of the urrent Report



on Form 8-K filed October 25 2006

10.23 Deed of Trust Assignment of Leases and Rents and Security Agreement between First Park

Ten COCO San Antonio L.P and CIBC Inc dated as of November 22 2006 incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 001-33097 filed

November 28 2006

10.24 Deed of Trust Assignment of Leases and Rents and Security Agreement between SLEE

Grand Prairie L.P and CIBC Inc dated as of November 22 2006 incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 001-33097 filed November 28

2006

10.25 Deed of Trust Assignment of Leases and Rents and Security Agreement between OB

Midway NC Gladstone Commercial LLC and CIBC Inc dated as of November 22 2006

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 001-

33097 filed November 28 2006

10.26 Promissory Note First Park Ten COCO San Antonio L.P SLEE Grand Prairie L.P and 013

Midway NC Gladstone Commercial LLC and CIBC Inc dated as of November 22 2006

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 001-

33097 flIed November 28 2006

10.27 Mortgage Assignment of Leases and Rents and Security Agreement between HMBFO5

Newburyport MA LLC and CIBC Inc dated as of December 22 2006 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 001-33097 tiled

December 28 2006

10.28 Open-end Mortgage Assignment of Leases and Rents and Security Agreement between

SVMMCO5 Toledo OH LLC and CIBC Inc dated as of December 22 2006 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 001-33097 tiled

December 28 2006

10.29 Mortgage Assignment of Leases and Rents and Security Agreement between TCIO6

Burnsville MN LLC and CIBC Inc dated as of December 22 2006 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 001-33097 filed

December 28 2006

10.30 Promissory Note between HMBFO5 Newburyport MA LLC SVMMCO5 Toledo Ml LLC

and TC106 Burnsvillc MN LLC and CII3C Inc dated as of December 22 2006 incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 001-33097 filed

December 28 2006

10.31 Amended and Restated Investment Advisory Agreement between Iladstone Commercial

Corporation and Gladstone Management Corporation dated January 2007 incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K File No 001-33097 filed

January 2007 renewed Ofl July 2009

10.32 Administration Agreement between Iladstone Commercial Corporation and Gladstone

Administration LLC dated January 2007 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of the

Current Report on Form 8-K File No 001-33097 filed January 2007 renewed on July

2009

1033 Open Market Sale Agreement by and among Gladstone Commercial orporation Gladstone

Commercial Limited Partnership and JetThries Company Inc incorporated by reference to



Exhibit 1.1 of the Form 8-K File No 001-33097 filed November 2009

10.34 Amendment to First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Gladstone

Commercial Limited Partnership incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 of the Current

Report on Form 8-K filed April 29 2010

10.35 Gladstone Commercial Limited Partnership Schedule 4.2a3 to First Amended and

Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership Designation of Senior Common Units

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 29

2010

10.36 Amended and Restated Dealer Manager Agreement dated December 22 2009 by and

between Gladstone Commercial Corporation and Halcyon Capital Markets LLC

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 of the Annual Report on Form 10-K File No

001-33097 filed on February 24 2010

10.37 Amended and Restated Dealer Manager Agreement effective as of December 22 2009 by

and between Gladstone Commercial Corporation and Halcyon Capital Markets LLC
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 of the Annual Report on Form 10-K File No

001-33097 filed on February 24 2010

10.38 Credit Agreement dated as of December 28 2010 by and among Gladstone Commercial

Limited Partnership Gladstone Commercial Corporation each of the financial institutions

initially signatory thereto together with their successors and assignees under Section 12.6

thereof and Capital One NA incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Current

Report on Form 8-K filed December 30 2010

II Computation of Per Share Earnings from Operations included in the notes to the audited

financial statements contained in this Report

12 Statements re computation of ratios included in Selected Financial Data contained in this

Form 10-K

14 Gladstone Commercial Corporation Code of Business Conduct and Ethics dated October

2005 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K File No

000-50363 filed October 12 2005

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002 filed herewith

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of The Sarbanes-Oxicy Act

of 2002 filed herewith

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002 furnished herewith

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act

of 2002 furnished herewith



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant

has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

Gladstone Commercial Corporation

Date March 2011 By /sJ Danielle Jones

Danielle Jones

Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacity and on the dates indicated

Date March 2011 By Is David Gladstone

David Gladstone

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors

principal executive officer

Date March 2011 By Is Terry Lee Brubaker

Terry Lee Brubaker

Vice Chairman Chief Operating Officer and Director

Date March 2011 By Is George Stelijes III

George Stelljes Ill

President Chief Investment Officer and Director

Date March 2011 By Is Danielle Jones

Danielle Jones

Chief Financial Officer

principal financial and accounting officer

Date March 2011 By Is David A.R Dullum

David A.R Dullum

Director

Date March 2011 By Is Anthony Parker

Anthony Parker

Director

Date March 2011 By Is Michela English

Michela English

Director



Date March 2011 By Is Paul Adelgren

Paul Adeigren

Director

Date March 2011 By Is John Outland

John Outland

Director

Date March 2011 By /s lerard Mead

Gerard Mead

Director

Date March 2011 By Is John Reilly

John Reilly

Director
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--GLADSTONE COMMERCIAL

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Board of Directors and Gladstone Management Stock Exchange Listing

Executive Officers Team Members Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ
Global Select Market under the symbol GOOD

David Gladstone Michael Brown
Oür preferred stocks trade on the NASDAQ

Chairman of the Board and Managing Director

Global Select Market under the symbols
Chief Executive Officer

Arthur Buzz Cooper GOODP and GOODO

Terry Lee Brubaker Managing Director

Vice Chairman
of the Board

Transfer Agent
Chief Operating Officer and Secretary

Ben Emmons

Managing Director
The Bank of New York Mellon

George Chip Stelijes III Shareowner Services

Director President and Chief Investment
Officer

John Freal
Shareholder Relations Department

Managing Director
480 Washington Blvd

David A.R Dullum

Director and President of Gladstone Investment
Laura Gladstone Jersey City NJ 07310

Corporation
Managing Director

Stockholder Inquiries

Paul Adeigren
Lud Kimbaugh

Email shareowners@bankofny.com
Director and Pastor of Missionary Alliance Church Managing Director

Website www.stockbny.com

Michela English
Chris Massey Inside the US

Director President and Managing Director 800 524 4458 toll free

Chief Executive Officer of Fight for Children
David Meier

Outside the US

Gerard Mead Managing Director
16103827833 collect calls accepted

Director Founder and Chairman of the Board
of Robert Pierce

Financial InformationGerard Mead Capital Management
Managing Director

Stockholders may receive copy of our Annual
John Outland

John Sateri Report on Form 10-K and Quarterly Reports on

Director and Private Investor

Managing Director Form 10-Q by contacting us or going to our web-

Anthony Parker
Jennifer Simpson

site at www.gladstonecommercial.com the SECs

Director Founder and website at www.SEC.gov or by visiting the SEC
Managing Director

Chairman of Parker Tide Corp at 100 Street NE Washington DC 20549

Jack Dellafiora
Jack Reilly

Chief Compliance Officer Independent Registered Public
Director and President

of

Reilly Investment Corporation Accounting Firm

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Danielle Jones

Chief Financial Officer

Legal Counsel

Gary Gerson
Bass Berry Sims PLC

Treasurer Dickstein Shapiro LLP

Company Website

www.gladstonecommercial.com

This 2010 Annual Report contains forward-

looking statements Such forward-looking state

ments can generally be identfied by our use of

forward-looking terminology such as may
will expect intend anticipate esti

mate believe continue or other similar

words Readers
of

this 2010 Annual Report should

be aware that there are various
factors that could

cause actual results to
differ materially from any

forward-looking statements made in this report

Factors that could cause or contribute to such

differences include but are not limited to changes

in general economic and business conditions

industry trends changes in government rules and

regulations including changes in tax laws and

environmental rules and regulations Accordingly

readers are cautioned not to
place

undue reliance

on these forward-looking statements which speak

only as of the date
of

this 2010 Annual Report




